Accounting & Taxation

VOLUME 5

NUMBER 1

2013

CONTENTS

Employee Benefits and Stock Returns: A Look at Health Care Benefits Vichet Sum	1
The Relationship between Financial Communication and Firm Performance: Evidence from France Laetitia Pozniak, Melanie Croquet & Olivier Colot	9
Internal Control and Financial Quality: Evidence from Post-Sox Restatement Ya-Fang Wang	19
Stock Market and Tax Revenue Collection in Malaysia: Evidence from Cointegration and Causality Tests Roshaiza Taha	29
Share Repurchases Announcement Effect on Earnings: Evidence from South Africa L.W. Makasi & J. W. Kruger	41
The Impact of Ownership Structure on Voluntary Corporate Disclosure in Annual Reports: Evidence from Fiji Ifraz Khan, Priyashni Vandana Chand & Professor Arvind Patel	47
Managerial Ownership, Leverage and Audit Quality Impact on Firm Performance: Evidence from the Malaysian ACE Market Zunaidah Sulong, John C. Gardner, Amariah Hanum Hussin, Zuraidah Mohd Sanusi & Carl B. McGowan, Jr.	59
Generational Differences in Attitudes toward Deficit Reduction Policy Monique O. Durant & Mary McCarthy	71
Indirect Labor Costs and Implications for Overhead Allocation Bea Chiang	85
Flexible Working Arrangement and Stress Management Training in Mitigating Auditor's Burnout: An Experimental Study Intiyas Utami & Supriyadi	97

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS AND STOCK RETURNS: A LOOK AT HEALTH CARE BENEFITS

Vichet Sum, University of Maryland - Eastern Shore

ABSTRACT

This study finds firms that pay their employees' health-care premiums earn average positive risk premiums and positive risk-adjusted excess returns. The problem of the study is to analyze risk premiums and risk adjusted returns of an equal-weighted portfolio of firms that pay 100% of their employee's health-care premiums. The results show that the portfolio average risk premiums are positive and greater than the market risk premiums from 2007 to 2011 (except 2008). The portfolio average risk-adjusted excess returns are positive for the 3-year holding period intervals and statistically significant for the 5-year holding period. The implication of this study is that it is important for firms to invest in their people in the form of competitive compensation package, and this investment will pay off in the long run as evidenced from the capital market.

JEL: G11, G12, G14

KEYWORDS: Risk premiums, Risk adjusted excess returns, Health-care premiums

INTRODUCTION

People, the key strategic assets that are valuable, rare, imperfectly imitable and unsubstitutable, are sustainable source of competitiveness (Barney & Wright, 1998; Gorman, Nelson, & Glassman, 2004; Lopez-Cabrales, Valle, & Herrero, 2006; Shee & Pathak, 2005; Wright, McMahan, & McWilliams, 1994). In the knowledge-based economy, companies are energized more than ever by their human resources to compete and generate sustained competitive advantage in the rapidly and dynamically changing market place because success of the firms is directly determined by the quality of their human resources. To strategically attract and retain key talent, firms need to offer competitive benefits in order to reduce turnover rates and increase their people's satisfaction so their superior performance can take place. On average, employees working for companies that offer competitive benefits should be more satisfied with their jobs and are more likely to perform better than those working for firms that do not offer competitive compensation package. Judge, Bono, Thoresen, and Patton (2001) reveal a qualitative and quantitative linkage between employees' satisfaction and job performance.

The current study is to provide empirical evidence from the capital market that firms operating in the knowledge-based economy should be able to have superior benefits and performance in the long run by investing in their people in the form of competitive compensation package. The problem of the study is to analyze risk premiums and risk adjusted returns of an equal-weighted portfolio of firms that pay 100% of their employee's health-care premiums. This study is unique due to the fact that no prior study in the current literature investigates this issue before. This study is also relevant and important in the asset pricing and valuation fields, which are ones of the most popularly researched fields in financial economics. This study is that it is better off for firms to invest in their people in the form of competitive compensation package, and this investment will pay off in the long run as evidenced from the capital market. This study also provides important information and implications to the pricing and valuing of assets. In an attempt to challenge the efficient market hypothesis, many researchers have compared the performance of a specialized portfolio to the market index (Anderson & Smith, 2006; Clayman, 1987; Lovisceka & Jordan, 2000; O'Neal, 2000; Staman, 2000; Sum, 2012). The paper is organized as follows.

The second section provides a review of the literature. The third section provides information about the method and data. The results and conclusion are discussed in the fourth and fifth sections, respectively.

LITERATURE REVIEW

Theoretical and empirical establishment in the strategic human resource management literature has put a spotlight on the role of human resources in generating sustained competitive advantage. The resourcebased view of the firm (Barney, 1986) theorizes that firms can have sustained competitive advantage over their rivals by providing value-added products and services in a way that is rare and difficult to imitate. The resource-based view of the firm argues that other resources, except human resources, can be used by firms to generate sustained competitive advantage; however, these resources can be easily acquired by the competitors. In this case, it is important to create value by using resources that are rare and cannot be conveniently imitated by competitors are vital for firms. According to the resource-based view of firms, people (human resources) who are a repository of knowledge and skills can be utilized to create value in a way that is rare and hard for rivals to imitate (Barney, 1991). Human resources are the strategic assets for firms meaning that people are "difficult to trade and imitate, scarce, appropriable, and specialized resources and capabilities that bestow the firm's competitive advantage" (Amit & Shoemaker, 1993, p. 36). Finally, people a repository of knowledge and skills are the most valuable and key assets for any firm to compete and create sustained competitive advantage in the marketplace (Barney & Wright, 1998; Gorman, Nelson, & Glassman, 2004; Lopez-Cabrales, Valle, & Herrero, 2006; Shee & Pathak, 2005; Wright, McMahan, & McWilliams, 1994).

In the knowledge-based economy, firms depend more than ever on their people to compete and generate sustained competitive advantage in the market place with ever rapidly changing environment. Success of the firms is directly linked to and determined by the quality of their respective employees. To strategically attract and retain talented employees, firms need to have best work practices, policies and environment in place in order to improve their employees' attitudes and relations, lower turnover rates, and enhance their people's satisfaction. Firms that are successful in attracting and retaining their talented people should have superior benefits and performance, on average. Employee attitudes and relations are important factors for attracting, motivating, and retaining employees (Ostroff, 1992; Ostroff & Bowen, 2000). Judge, Bono, Thoresen, and Patton (2001) document a qualitative and quantitative association between employees' satisfaction and job performance. Fulmer, Gerhard, and Scott (2003) suggest that there is a relationship between firm performance and positive employee relations. Simon and DeVaro (2006) also show that the best companies to work for from 1994 to 2004 have higher customer satisfaction.

Many researchers have attempted to challenge the efficient market hypothesis by comparing the performance of a market portfolio to a specialized portfolio. For example, Lovisceka & Jordan (2000) show that the Morningstar's ten-year five-star general equity mutual funds outperform the S&P 500 in the 1990s. Clayman (1987) show 11 of the 29 companies ranked in the Search for Excellence beat to the S&P 500 index by 100 basis points per year from 1981 to 1985. In addition, a portfolio of the most admired companies in the United States significantly outgains the S&P 500 index from 1983 to 2004 (Anderson & Smith, 2006). O'Neal (2000) reveals that the intermediate-term top-performing sector funds outperform the S&P 500 index from 1989 to 1999. Staman (2000) also finds that a portfolio of socially responsible companies beats the S&P 500 index from 1990 to 1998.

DATA AND METHOD

A list of the best publicly traded companies in the United States that pay 100% of their employees' health premiums consecutively from 2007-2011 is obtained from the Fortune Magazine. The monthly return data are obtained from CRSP database maintained by the University of Chicago accessed through the Wharton

Research Data Services at the University of Pennsylvania. The monthly data related to risk-free rate, size, growth, and momentum factors are obtained from Kenneth R. French's data library located at http://mba.tuck.dartmouth.edu/pages/faculty/ken.french/data_library.html.

This study constructs an equal-weighted portfolio of publicly-traded companies in the United States that pay 100% of their employee's health-care premiums from 2007 to 2011. Table 1 shows the names of the companies in the portfolio. To compare the portfolio risk premiums to the market risk premiums, equation (1) is used. The single-index model (2) (Sharpe, 1966) and four-factor model (3) (Carhart, 1997) are used to calculate risk-adjusted excess returns on the portfolio.

$$R_{pt} - R_{ft} = R_{mt} - R_{ft} = R_{S\&Pt} - R_{ft}$$
(1)

$$R_{pt} - R_{ft} = \alpha_1 + \beta_m (R_{mt} - R_{ft}) + \varepsilon_{t1}$$
⁽²⁾

$$R_{pt} - R_{ft} = \alpha_4 + \beta_m (R_{mt} - R_{ft}) + \beta_{smb} SMB + \beta_{hml} HML + \beta_{mom} MOM + + \varepsilon_{t4}$$
(3)

Where:

 R_{nt} = the return on the equal-weighted portfolio in month t

- R_{ft} = the return on a thirty day T-bill in month t
- R_{mt} = the return on the CRSP value-weighted index in month t
- $R_{S\&Pt}$ = the return on the S&P 500 index in month t
- SMB = the difference between the return on a small-cap portfolio in month *t* and return on a large-cap portfolio in month *t*
- *HML*= the difference between return on a high book-to-market (value-stock) portfolio in month *t* and return on a low book-to-market (growth-stock) portfolio in month *t*
- *MOM* = the difference between return on portfolio with higher year (from month -12 to -2) return and return on portfolio with lower prior year (from month -12 to -2) return
- α_1 = The risk-adjusted excess return on the equal-weighted portfolio from the single-index model
- α_4 = The risk-adjusted excess return on the equal-weighted portfolio from the four-factor model
- β_m = the sensitivity of the excess return on the equal-weighted portfolio to the excess return on the CRSP value-weighted index
- β_{smb} = the sensitivity of the excess return on the equal-weighted portfolio to a size factor
- β_{hml} = the sensitivity of the excess return on the equal-weighted portfolio to a value factor
- β_{mom} = the sensitivity of the excess return on the equal-weighted portfolio to a momentum (hot-hand) factor
- e_{t1} = random error term: excess return on the equal-weighted portfolio in month *t* not explained by the single-index model
- e_{t4} = random error term: excess return on the equal-weighted portfolio in month *t* not explained by the four-factor model

RESULTS

Table 1 shows the list of publicly traded companies in the United States that paid 100% of their employees' health-care premiums from 2007-2011; the list is obtained from the Fortune Magazine. An equal-weighted portfolio of these companies is formed for the analysis of risk premiums and risk adjusted excess returns reported this this study. Various descriptive statistics of the variables are reported in Table 2. Table 3 and 4 show the arithmetic and geometric average risk premiums of the portfolio, CRSP value-weighted index and S&P 500 index. In order to compare portfolio risk premiums, CRSP value-weighted index and S&P 500 index risk premiums, monthly return data are calculated using equation (1). The

portfolio arithmetic and geometric average risk premiums, CRSP value-weighted index and S&P 500 index risk premiums are calculated for the 1-year holding, 3-year-holding (only 2 years of monthly data included in the calculation for the 2010-2011 period) and 5-year-holding period intervals. Respective arithmetic and geometric average risk premiums for the portfolio, CRSP value-weighted index and S&P 500 index are reported in column 3, 4, and 5 of Table 3 and 4. The differences in arithmetic and geometric average risk premiums for the portfolio, CRSP value-weighted index and S&P 500 index are reported in column 6 and 7. As shown in Table 3 and 4, the results show that the portfolio arithmetic and geometric average risk premiums are positive and greater than the market risk premiums from 2007 to 2011 (except 2008).

Table 1: Companies in the United States Paying 100% of Their Employees' Health-Care Premiums from 2007-2011

Name of the Companies	Ticker	Industry
EOG Resources	EOG	Oil and Gas Operations
Microsoft	MSFT	Software and Programming
Qualcomm	QCOM	Communications Equipment
Whole Foods Market	WFM	Retail (Grocery)

This list of publicly traded companies that pay 100% of their employees' health-care premium from 2007-2011 is obtain from the Fortune Magazine. An equal-weighted portfolio of these companies is formed for the analysis of risk premiums and risk adjusted excess returns reported this this study.

Table 2: Descriptive Statistics

Variables	Mean	Standard Deviation	# of Obs
Equal-Weighted Portfolio Excess Return	0.01012	0.06701	60
CSCR Value-Weighted Excess Return	0.00082	0.05747	60
Size Factor (SMB)	0.00267	0.02409	60
Growth Factor (HML)	-0.00312	0.02889	60
Moment Factor (MOM)	-0.00161	0.06388	60

This table provides descriptive statistics for the variables used in this study.

Table 5 shows the portfolio average risk adjusted excess returns (alphas). To obtain the portfolio average risk adjusted excess returns (alphas), monthly return data are calculated using equation (2) and (3). The portfolio average risk adjusted excess returns are calculated for the 1-year holding, 3-year-holding (only 2 years of monthly data included in the calculation for the 2010-2011 period), 5-year-holding period intervals. The portfolio average risk adjusted excess returns from the single-index model are reported in column 3. The portfolio average risk adjusted excess returns from the four-factor model are reported in column 4. As shown in Table 5, the portfolio average risk-adjusted excess returns from the single-index model are reported in the 5-year holding period.

CONCLUSION

In the knowledge-based economy, companies are energized more than ever by their human resources to compete and generate sustained competitive advantage in the rapidly and dynamically changing market place because success of the firms is directly determined by the quality of their human resources. Firms, competing and operating in the knowledge-based economy, should be able to have superior benefits and performance in the long run by investing in their people in the form of competitive compensation

package. The current study is to provide empirical evidence from the capital market that firms operating in the knowledge-based economy should be able to have superior benefits and performance in the long run by investing in their people in the form of competitive compensation package. This study constructs an equal-weighted portfolio of publicly-traded companies in the United States that pay 100% of their employee's health-care premiums from 2007 to 2011. In addition to comparing the portfolio risk premiums to the market risk premiums, the single-index model and four-factor model are used to calculate risk-adjusted excess returns on the portfolio. The results show the portfolio average risk premiums are positive and greater than the market risk premiums from 2007 to 2011 (except 2008). The portfolio average risk-adjusted excess returns are positive for the 3-year holding period intervals and statistically significant for the 5-year holding period.

Years	# of Months	$R_p - R_f$	$R_m - R_f$	$R_{S\&P} - R_f$	$(R_p - R_f) - (R_m - R_f)$	$(R_p - R_f) - (R_{S\&P} - R_f)$
2007	12	0.93%	0.25%	-0.06%	0.68%	0.99%
2008	12	-4.13%	-3.85%	-3.93%	-0.28%	-0.20%
2009	12	5.30%	2.49%	1.96%	2.81%	3.34%
2010	12	1.65%	0.05%	1.14%	1.60%	0.51%
2011	12	1.31%	0.02%	0.09%	1.29%	1.22%
2007-2009	36	0.70%	-0.37%	-0.67%	1.07%	1.37%
2010-2011	24	1.48%	0.77%	0.62%	0.72%	0.86%
2007-2011	60	1.10%	0.08%	-0.16%	1.02%	1.17%

This table shows arithmetic average and market risk premiums. To compare portfolio risk premiums, CRSP value-weighted index and S&P 500 index risk premiums, monthly return data are calculated using equation (1). The portfolio arithmetic average risk premiums, CRSP value-weighted index and S&P 500 index risk premiums are calculated for the 1, 3 and 5-year-holding intervals (only 2 years of monthly data included in the calculation for the 2010-2011 period. Respective average risk premiums for the portfolio, CRSP value-weighted index and S&P 500 index are reported in column 2, 3, and 4. The differences in arithmetic averages risk premiums for the portfolio, CRSP value-weighted index and S&P 500 index are reported in column 4 and 5. $R_i - R_f =$ average risk premiums of the equal-weighted portfolio of best companies to work for; $R_m - R_f = CRSP$ value-weighted index average risk premiums; $R_{S&P} - R_f = S&P$ 500 index average risk premiums.

Years	# of Months	$R_p - R_f$	$R_m - R_f$	$R_{S\&P} - R_f$	$(R_p - R_f) - (R_m - R_f)$	$(R_p - R_f) - (R_{S\&P} - R_f)$
2007	12	0.80%	0.21%	-0.09%	0.59%	0.89%
2008	12	-4.33%	-4.07%	-4.11%	-0.26%	-0.22%
2009	12	5.11%	2.29%	1.76%	2.82%	3.35%
2010	12	1.43%	1.37%	1.00%	0.06%	0.43%
2011	12	1.17%	-0.09%	0.00%	1.26%	1.17%
2007-2009	36	0.45%	-0.56%	-0.84%	1.01%	1.29%
2010-2011	24	1.30%	.64%	0.50%	0.66%	-0.80%
2007-2011	60	0.79%	-0.08%	-0.31%	0.87%	1.10%

Table 4: Portfolio	Geometric A	Average H	Risk Pr	emiums	and M	Market	Risk	Premiums
		<u> </u>						

This table shows arithmetic average and market risk premiums. To compare portfolio risk premiums, CRSP value-weighted index and S&P 500 index risk premiums, monthly return data are calculated using equation (1). The geometric average portfolio risk premiums, CRSP value-weighted index and S&P 500 index risk premiums are calculated for the 1-year holding, 3-year-holding (only 2 years of monthly data included in the calculation for the 2010-2011 period) and 5-year-holding period intervals. Respective average risk premiums for the portfolio, CRSP value-weighted index and S&P 500 index are reported in column 2, 3, and 4. The differences in geometric average risk premiums of the equal-weighted portfolio of best companies to work for; $R_m - R_f = CRSP$ value-weighted index average risk premiums; $R_{S\&P} - R_f = S\&P$ 500 index average risk premiums.

The implication of this study is that it is important for firms to invest in their people in the form of competitive compensation package. This investment will pay off in the long run as evidenced from the capital market. There are limitations in this paper. First, this study only uses 5 years of monthly data or 60 total observations. Another limitation is this study relies on the Fortune Magazine methodology to rank publicly traded companies that pay 100% of their employees' health insurance premiums consecutively from 2007 to 2011. Future research should replicate this study by using a richer dataset.

Years	# of Months	Average Risk Adjusted Excess Returns (α_1) from the Single-Index Model	Average Risk Adjusted Excess Returns (α_4) from the Four-Factor Model
2007	12	0.61%*	-1.35%
2008	12	-1.24%	0.10%
2009	12	3.33%**	2.84%
2010	12	-0.08%	-0.38%
2011	12	1.29%*	1.25%
2007-2009	36	1.05%	0.96%
2010-2011	24	0.58%	0.66%
2007-2011	60	0.93%**	0.92%*

Table 5: Average Portfolio Risk Adjusted Excess Returns

This table shows average portfolio risk adjusted returns. To obtain the portfolio average risk adjusted excess returns (alphas), monthly return data are calculated using equation (2) and (3). The portfolio average risk adjusted excess returns are calculated for the 1-year holding, 3-year-holding (only 2 years of monthly data included in the calculation for the 2010-2011 period), 5-year-holding period intervals. The portfolio average risk adjusted excess returns from the single-index model are reported in column 2. The portfolio average risk adjusted excess returns from the four-factor model are reported in column 3. * Significant at 10% level; ** Significant at 5% level.

REFERENCES

Amit, R., & Shoemaker, P. J. H. (1993). Strategic assets and organizational rent. *Strategic Management Journal*, 14(1), 33-46.

Anderson, J., & Smith, G. (2006). A great company can be a great investment. *Financial Analysts Journal*, 62(4), 86-93.

Barney, J. (1986). Organizational culture: Can it be a source of sustained competitive advantage? *Academy of Management Review*, 11(3), 656-665.

Barney, J. (1991). Firm resources and sustained competitive advantage. *Journal of Management*, 17(1), 99-120.

Barney, J., & Wright, P. M. (1998). On becoming a strategic partner: The role of human resources in gaining competitive advantage. *Human Resource Management*, 37(1), 31-47.

Carhart, M. (1997). On persistence in mutual fund performance. Journal of Finance, 52, 57-82.

Clayman, M. (1987). In search for excellence: The investor's viewpoint. *Financial Analysts Journal*, 43(3), 54-63.

Fulmer, I., Gerhart. B, & Scott K. (2003). Are the 100 best better? An empirical investigation of the relationship between being "a great place to work" and firm performance. *Personnel Psychology*, *56*, 965-993.

Gorman, P., Nelson, T., & Glassman, A. (2004). The millennial generation: A strategy opportunity. *Organizational Analysis, 12*(3), 255-270.

Judge, T.A., Bono, J.E., Thoresen, C.J., & Patton G.K. (2001). The job satisfaction-job performance relationship: A qualitative and quantitative review. *Psychological Bulletin*, *127*, 376-407.

Lopez-Cabrales, A., Valle, R., & Herrero, I. (2006). The contribution of core employees to organizational capabilities and efficiency. *Human Resource Management, 45*(1), 81-109.

Loviscek, A. L., & Jordan, J. W. (2000). Stock selection based on Morningstar's ten-year, five-star general equity mutual funds. *Financial Services Review*, *9*, 145–157.

O'Neal, E. S. (2000). Industry momentum and sector mutual funds. *Financial Analysts Journal*, 56(4), 37-49.

Ostroff, C. (1992). The relationship between satisfaction, attitudes, and performance: An organizational level analysis. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *77*, 963-974.

Ostroff, C, & Bowen, D. E. (2000). Moving HR to a higher level: HR practices and organizational effectiveness. In Klein K, Kozlowski S (Eds.), *Multilevel theory, research, and methods in organizations* (pp. 211-266). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

Sharpe, W. F. (1966). Mutual fund performance. Journal of Business, 39(1), 119-138.

Shee, H. K., & Pathak, R. D. (2005). Managing people and technology for enhancing competitiveness: Software industry perspective. *Journal of Transnational Management*, 11(1), 65-82.

Simon, D. H., & DeVaro, J. (2006). Do the best companies to work for provide better customer satisfaction? *Managerial and Decision Economics*, 27(8), 667–683.

Statman, M. (2000). Socially responsible mutual funds. Financial Analysts Journal, 56(3), 30-39.

Sum, V. (2012). Stock performance and the firm's training program. *International Research Journal of Applied Finance*, *3*(5), 554-559.

Wright, P. M., McMahan, G., & McWilliams, A. (1994). Human resources and sustained competitive advantage: A resource-based perspective. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 5(2), 301–326.

BIOGRAPHY

A native of Cambodia, Dr. Vichet Sum is currently an Assistant Professor of Management in the Department of Business, Management and Accounting; Dr. Sum is AACSB academically qualified. His areas of specialization include Financial Theories, Financial Economics and Econometrics, Financial Management, Managerial and Financial Accounting, Real Estate Finance, Strategic Human Resource Training & Development, Development Economics, Inferential Statistics, Industrial Management, and

Analytical Assessments and Evaluations of the Competitiveness of the Nations. Dr. Sum is a member of the American Economic Association and American Finance Association.

Dr. Sum completed his Post Doctorate in Finance and Accounting in the Hough Graduate School of Business, University of Florida, in July 2011, through which he obtained his AACSB academically qualified status. Dr. Sum holds a Ph.D. in Workforce Education and Development [this graduate program is ranked 6th in the United States by the US News and World Report as of 2/20/2012] with an emphasis in Human Resource Development and a secondary emphasis in Finance from Southern Illinois University. He also has a Master of Training and Development in Human Resource Training and Development from Idaho State University and a Master of Management Science in Industrial Management from National Cheng Kung University, Taiwan. Dr. Sum's first alma mater is the Royal University of Phnom Penh, Cambodia, where he completed his Bachelor of Education in English and Teaching English as a Foreign Language. When he is not teaching, doing research, or attending various committee meetings, Dr. Sum enjoys watching and attending sport events, traveling to different places, and sampling different dishes. Mailing Address: 2117-A Kiah Hall, Princess Anne, MD 21853 Phone: 410-651-6531; Fax: 410-651-6529 E-mail: vsum@umes.edu Personal Website: vichetsum.com SSRN: http://ssrn.com/author=1674223

THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN FINANCIAL COMMUNICATION AND FIRM PERFORMANCE: EVIDENCE FROM FRANCE

Laetitia Pozniak, University of Mons Melanie Croquet, University of Mons Olivier Colot, University of Mons

ABSTRACT

This research identifies potential links between performance and the level of financial communication on the web. This study examines 216 firms quoted in 2010 on the Free Market of Paris. We use a content analysis of websites and scoring technique, to compute a score of financial communication for each firm. Based on mean scores, two groups are constructed. We measure performance for these two groups. The Probit model shows a negative relation between financial performance and the probability of having a higher score for virtual financial communication.

JEL: M15, G10, C50

KEYWORDS: Communication, Internet, Performance, Web

INTRODUCTION

ompanies wishing to raise public money in France can choose between regulated and unregulated markets. Unregulated markets aim specifically at the small and medium-sized enterprises (SME), which, in most European countries, represent the major part of the economic landscape. There are 23 million SME in the EU representing 99% of businesses (http://ec.europa.eu/enterprise/policies/sme/). These unregulated markets include the Free market on which highly rated companies have only very few constraints, and no financial communication obligation. Any effort at financial communication on behalf of listed companies on the Free market is done voluntarily and not from a legal obligation.

This paper focus on 216 firms quoted on the Free Market of Paris in 2010. This market, to our knowledge, has not yet been the topic of such a research project. We want to identify the voluntary effort towards virtual financial communication on 216 websites of firms quoted on the French Free Market. The web site was chosen here as a privileged vector of financial communication between the listed company and its investors (and potential investors). This vector of communication is more and more widely used (Léger, 2008) and the Internet becomes a real management tool for investor relations within companies (Barredy and Darras, 2008; Almillia and Budisusetyo, 2008).

We also highlight the link between these communication efforts and firm performance. The performance is a recurrent determinant of on-line presentation by companies informing their investors (Xiao and al., 2004; Menses-da-Silva and Christensen, 2004; Debreceny and Rahman, 2005; Paturel and al, 2006; Arnone and al., 2010; Pozniak, 2010). The influence of performance on the level of disclosure of financial information on the web is still ambiguous. There is no consensus in the literature on this issue. This paper provides a unique perspective to this issue. The remainder of the paper is organized as follows. In the first section we provide a literature review. We will summarize the relation between performance and communication and we highlight the principles of financial communication on the web. These elements help us build our website analysis grid. The second section presents our methodology and data. The results are discussed in the third section. The paper closes with some concluding comments

LITERATURE REVIEW

The signal theory explains the influence of performance on financial information disclosure. Managers of successful companies are likely to reveal more financial information to the public with the aim of ensuring their position within the company (Wallace & al., 1994; Inchausti, 1997) and reducing the risk of a bad company valuation (Grossman & Hart, 1980). So this theory argues for a positive relation between the performance of the listed company and the intensity of financial information disclosure. However, this positive influence is not validated empirically (Xiao & al., on 2004; Mendès da silva & Christensen, 2004; etc.). Some studies show a negative influence of performance on the level of voluntary disclosure of information on the web (Paturel & al., 2006; Pozniak, 2010; Amal & Faten, 2010). The main argument explaining this negative relation is the protection of the company against its competitors. The link between performance and the voluntary disclosure of information on the web, are those of Ashbaugh & al. (1999) for the American market and Craven & Marston (1999) for the British market. Since the publication of these works, other authors have examined this problem and tried to identify determinants of voluntary financial information disclosure on the web. Debreceny & al. (2002) as well as Ettredge & al. (2002) are two pioneering studies in this field.

The literature continues to be enriched by works concerning the identification of determinants of voluntary financial information disclosure on the web (Pozniak, 2010; Amal & Faten, 2010; etc.). In these studies, performance is often used as a variable of control in explanatory models (Ettredge & al., 2002; Xiao & al., 2004; Andrikopoulos & al. 2009; etc.). However, results concerning the influence of performance on the effort of financial information voluntary disclosure on the web remain statistically insignificant (Debreceny & al., 2002). Xiao & al. (2004) demonstrate the statistical irrelevance of the performance variable ROA on the score of financial communication on the web for 300 large Chinese companies. The results are the same for Mendès-da-silva & Christensen (2004) who analyzed the determinants of voluntary disclosure of financial information on the web of 291 non-financial companies listed on the Sao Paulo stock exchange in 2002. These authors measure performance by means of the ROA. Andrikopoulos & al. (2009) found the same results in their study of 140 companies listed on the Cyprus stock exchange in March 2007. Their criteria of performance were the ROA and the after tax result. On the other hand, Debreceny & Rahman (2005) confirm the negative influence of the performance measure ROE on the frequency of information disclosure on the website of 334 companies on the Morgan Stanley Capital Index in 2002. This result was also highlighted by Pozniak (2010) who studied the impact of performance, measured by ROA and ROE, on the financial communication score on the website of 37 companies listed on the unregulated Belgian markets. This negative influence is also validated by the conclusions of Paturel & al. (2006) for the British companies quoted on the FTSE 100. Nevertheless, the conclusions show that performance measured by means of ROE has a positive impact on the score of web information disclosure for French companies on the SBF 120 Index.

To estimate the intensity of the voluntary effort of website financial communication by listed companies on the French Free Market, an analysis grid of web sites was constructed. This analysis grid is based on the most important principles of financial disclosure on the web identified by the literature. According to Almilia and Budisusetyo (2008), the company has to give investors a certain amount of financial information, such as the annual accounts, on its web site. The traditional paper reports are not sufficient anymore. The importance of the firm's official web site is identified by Léger (2008) as well as its appropriateness to the firm's global strategy of communication.

Some authors examine elements which must be on the web site of the company, such as the annual report (Léger, 2008; Dutta & Bose, 2007; Pervan, 2006; Euronext, 2006; Barredy & Darras, 2008), audit report and financial ratio (Dutta & Bose, 2007), mean key figures (Euronext 2006), history of share prices (Léger, 2008; Barredy & Darras, 2008; Dutta & Bose, 2007; Pervan, 2006), prospectus of IPO (Léger,

2008 ; Euronext, 2006), shareholder structure (Léger, 2008 ; Barredy & Darras, 2008 ; Dutta & Bose, 2007 ; Euronext, 2006) and the organization chart (Léger, 2008 ; Dutta & Bose, 2007 ; Pervan, 2006 ; Euronext, 2006). Previous studies show that a special space dedicated to investors on the company website facilitates a relation with them (Barredy & Darras, 2008; Pervan, 2006). This information includes an address, telephone and/or an email of a specific contact (Léger, 2008; Barredy & Darras, 2008; Dutta & Bose, 2007; Pervan, 2006; Euronext, 2006). It sometimes offers the possibility of subscribing to a newsletter (Dutta & Bose, 2007; Euronext, 2006), answering FAQ's (Léger, 2008; Dutta & Bose, 2007) as well as by giving the schedule of the shareholders meetings or the calendar of the financial communication (Léger, 2008; Barredy & Darras, 2008; Dutta & Bose, 2007; Euronext, 2006).

METHODOLOGY AND DATA

In this section we present the data and methodology used in the paper. First, based on the above literature we develop our analysis grid. The analysis grid appears in Table 1.

Table 1: The Analysis Grid of Web Sites

Financial Information	Corporate governance information
Summary of Financial data	Organization chart
Last quarterly report	Firm's history
Quarterly report of previous years	Board of directors
Last annual report	Staff
Annual report of previous years	Firm's activities
Forecast of future results	Shareholder structure
Current share prices	Website's ergonomics
History of share prices	Download annual reports in PDF, HTLM,
	Excel
Investors relations	Videos
Specific webpage for investors	Map of website
Download documents	Research engine
Prospectus of IPO	Explanation of special financial words
Specific telephone number for investors	Other languages
Specific email or address for investors	
FAQ	
Shareholders' schedule	
Specific contact for investors	
Newsletter	

This table shows the analysis grid of web sites. It was built thanks to the literature review and was used to analyze each web sites of our sample.

The aim of this study is to identify the link between performance and virtual financial score of firms quoted on the Free Market of Paris in 2010. Using the analysis grid presented above, we analyzed the websites of 216 firms. For each item present on the web site, we gave a point to the firm. In this way, we create a communication score for each firm. We present the items in relative values. The respective score for each of four categories was divided by the total number of items in the categories. The total score is divided by the total number of items presented in the analysis grid of contents.

The literature retains several variables of performance. Return on Assets (ROA) and the Return on Equity (ROE) are often used to measure the economic and financial performance of companies (Ettredge et al., 2002; Xiao et al., 2004; Mendès-da-Silva & Christensen, 2004; Andrikopoulos et al., 2009; Pozniak, 2010; etc.). We also use these two criteria to measure the performance of companies quoted on the Free Market of Paris. ROA is measured by the relation between net profit and total assets. ROE is measured by the relationship between EBITDA and total stockholders' equity. We also test the stock-exchange performance of companies, by means of the average market capitalization calculated over the year 2010. Because some information were not available for all 216 firms, the second part of the study concerns 100 firms quoted on the Free Market of Paris in 2010. Table 2 and Table 3 present some statistics about the 100 firms studied.

Table 2: Sample Statistics

	Mean	Std. Dev.	Min	Max
Size approached by number of workers	210	392	4	1999
Number of years since IPO	11.14	21.57	1	115
Number of shareholders	5	8.99	1	79
Solvability ratio	45.81	25.70	0	100

This table shows some statistics of our sample.

Table 3: Sample Activity Sector

Activity Sector	Number of Firms
Oil & Gas	2
Basic Materials	6
Industrials	25
Consumer Goods	11
Consumer Services	6
Health Care	14
Utilities	6
Financials	4
IT	26
(Technology + Telecommunication)	20
Total	100

This table shows the number of firms in each activity sector.

EMPIRICAL RESULTS

Table 4 indicates the distribution of the average score for financial communication obtained via the web sites for 216 listed companies on the Free Market of Paris, according to four categories of items on the analysis grid.

Table 4: Distribution of the Score of Financial Communication on the Web According to Four Categories

Categories	Average Score (Standard Error)
Financial Information	16.03% (21.36%)
Investors relations	30.45% (9.45%)
Corporate governance information	40.59% (13.01%)
Website's ergonomics	30.32% (14.10%)

This table shows the distribution of the score of financial communication on the web according to four categories.

We notice the highest average score occurs for the category "Corporate governance information." The lowest average score is obtained for the category "Financial Information ". The average score of the two other information categories seems relatively close. Table 4 also shows that the total average score is relatively low. Indeed, out of 29 items contained in the analysis grid, only 28.54 % of these items are on average available on the web sites of companies quoted on the Free Market of Paris.

To discover the possible link between performance and the score for internet financial communication, we used the DIANE and OSIRIS databases jointly. The joint use of these databases did not allow us to obtain the information relative to the performance for 36 of the 216 companies of the initial database. Besides, eighty companies with a lack of available data for our indicators were deleted from the database. Consequently, the database on which we made the empirical tests contains 100 companies. Table 5 presents the average scores obtained for these 100 companies for each of the four main categories represented in the analysis grid as well as the average performances of these companies.

	Average	Standard Error
Financial Communication Score	_	
Financial Information	20.88%	24.49%
Investor relations	32.22%	10.42%
Corporate governance information	40.83%	13.06%
Website ergonomics	32.17%	15.40%
Total Score	30.86%	13.07%
Performances		
Market capitalization 2010	28,746,381.22€	84,056,636.03€
ROE	-13.25%	69.05%
ROA	-2.50%	17.40%

Table 5: Average Score of Financial Communication and Average Performance

This table shows the average score of financial communication according to four categories and the average performance for our database of 100 companies.

The remarks formulated previously also remain valid when the analysis concerns only 100 companies. Indeed, the categories "Corporate governance information" and "Financial Information" respectively remain the most and the least represented categories of items on the web sites of the companies of our database. The average performance expressed in terms of financial profitability and economic profitability is negative. The standard deviation of financial profitability is very large, which implies a strong heterogeneousness in the financial performances of our companies.

In order to identify a possible link between the financial communication score of companies quoted on the Free Market of Paris and their level of performance; two groups of companies are established. The first represents companies, which, on average, communicate most on the Internet. The second represents companies, which on average, communicate least on the Internet. The results are presented in Table 6.

	Group 1 (48 Firms)		Group 2 (52 Firms)	
	Average	Standard Error	Average	Standard Error
Financial Communication Score				
Financial Information	41.15%	20.46%	2.22%	5.92%
Investor relations	39.35%	9.16%	25.64%	6.43%
Corporate Governance	46 18%	16 21%	35 00%	6.07%
Information	40.1870	10.2170	55.9070	0.0778
Website ergonomics	42.01%	14.58%	23.08%	9.42%
Total Score	41.81%	10.45%	20.75%	3.77%
Performance				
Market capitalization	32,321,184.20€	84,753,.497€	25,446,563.12€	84,098,258.47€
ROE	-24.35%	92.78%	-3.01%	33.14%
ROA	-2.084%	17.43%	-2.88%	17.54%

 Table 6: Average Score of Financial Communication and Average Performance

This table shows the average score of financial communication according to four categories and the average performance for the two groups of our sample.

The results presented in Table 6 are interesting. First, it seems that the companies, which inform more than other firms (i.e. those, which have an above average score), have it in each category of the analysis grid. There is thus a positive correlation between the total score of financial communication and each of the intermediate scores relative to the four categories of the analysis grid. Indeed, the average scores of financial communication of 48 companies of the group are higher than these same average scores calculated for 100 companies of the database (see Table 5). On the other hand, those of the companies of group 2 are lower than the average scores calculated for the hundred companies of the database.

It seems that the companies of group 1 emphasize the first category of the analysis grid more than the companies of group 2. So, on average, more than 45% of the items of the category " financial Information " are found on the web site of group 1 companies compared to only 2.22 % for group 2.

L. Pozniak et al | AT + Vol. 5 + No. 1 + 2013

The average market capitalization calculated over the year 2010 for the companies of group 1 is greater than the overall average of this criterion of performance (Table 6). On the other hand, the companies of group 2 present on average a lower market capitalization than the overall average. Companies separated into two groups present ratios rather close to the 2.50 % overall average. On the other hand, the companies of group 1 present an average financial level of performance considerably lower than the 13.25 % overall average. This average level of financial performance improves rather strongly in the case of the companies of group 2, even if it does remain negative. This implies that companies achieving less financial performances tend to inform more than the others do.

Next we develop an econometric plan to quantify the link of causality observed between performance and intensity of financial communication on the Internet. The "Total Score" variable was constructed to take the value 1(0) if the score of financial communication, expressed as a percentage of the total number of items, is higher (lower) than the average of this score calculated for all companies. By supposing a normal distribution of the residues, we used the Probit model. This model makes it possible to estimate the probability that the variable "Total Score" takes the value 1 according to a set of explanatory variables. The method of estimation of the parameters of the performance variables is maximum likelihood. The model takes the following shape:

$$\Pr(Y=1|X) = \Phi(X'\beta)$$

(1)

Y is the dependent variable, which takes the value 1 if the financial communication score is higher than the mean score of the sample and 0 in otherwise. Φ is the cumulative distribution function of the standard normal distribution. X is a vector of regressors, which represents the firm's performance (ROE, ROA and market capitalization)The best model considers only one of three explanatory variables integrated into the initial model. This variable is the measure of the financial performance of companies, the ROE. The results of this model are presented in Table 7.

Table 7: Results of the Probit Model

Dependent Variable : Total Score Method : Maximum Likelihood-Binary Probit (Quadratic hill climbing) Observations included : 100 Convergence achieved after 3 iterations OML (Huber/White) standard error & covariance							
Variables	Coefficient	Std.Error	z-Statistic				
С	-0.0873	0.1288	-0.6776				
ROE	-0.0034	0.0016	-2.042**				
Mean dependent variable	0.48	S.D. dependent variable	0.5021				
S.E of regression	0.4991	Akaike info criterion	1.398				
Sum squared resid	24.417	Schwarz criterion	1.450				
Log likelihood	-67.914	Hannan-Quinn criterion	1.419				
Rest.log likelihood	-69.235	Average log likelihood	-0.6791				
LR statistic	3.641***	McFadden R-squared	0.0191				

This table shows the results of the Probit model. ***, ** and * indicate the significance at the 1, 5 and 10 percent levels respectively.

The results show the model is statistically significant at the 10% level. The variable ROE is statistically significant at the 5% level. It is not the numerical value of the coefficient that imports as its sign (Thomas, 2000). Indeed, according to Thomas (2000), the sign indicates if the estimated parameters influence positively or negatively the probability the dependent variable takes the value 1.

The variable ROE appears with a negative coefficient. This means that the greater the financial profitability of companies, the lower the probability these companies will present a good score for financial communication via the web. On the other hand, the lower the financial profitability of companies, the greater the probability these companies will present a good score for financial communication on the web. Therefore, the results seem to indicate that financial performance influences

negatively the score of financial communication on the internet of the 100 companies of the Free Market of Paris. These results confirm those of Debreceny and Rahman (2005) and Pozniak (2010). So, the most profitable companies of the Free Market of Paris inform less than less successful firms. This goes against the signal theory, which says that the most successful companies would tend to try to protect themselves from competitors and communicate less (Paturel et al., 2006; Pozniak, 2010; Amal & Faten, 2010). On the other hand, companies which have a less good financial performance tend to communicate more on their websites. It seems these companies try to reassure investors regarding their financial health. The results of this study also prove the statistical irrelevance of economic and stock exchange performance on the voluntary effort at financial communication on the web, as the research of Xiao et al. (2004); Mendès da Silva and Christensen (2004), of Andrikopoulos et al. (2009) showed.

CONCLUSION

The approach proposed within the framework of this study is exploratory because the link between the performance of listed companies and their efforts at financial communication is ambiguous. Two theories are used to explain the influence of performance on the intensity of financial communication. The signal theory says that successful firms will attract notice by means of a greater financial communication. The second theory argues that successful companies communicate less to protect themselves from competitors. The approach of this study was to identify the possible influence of company performance on the level of disclosure of website financial information. We chose to study listed companies in 2010 on the unregulated market of Paris. These companies are not subjected to obligations of financial communication. To define the effort of financial communication, a content analysis of websites was completed and a scoring technique was used. Using a Probit model, we highlight the possible link between this score and the performance of the company.

The content analysis of websites shows the highest average score is obtained for the category "Corporate governance information" and that the lowest average score is obtained by the category "Financial Information ". The total average score is relatively low (28.54 % of these items are available on the web sites of companies quoted on the Free Market of Paris). The estimation of a Probit model does not seem to validate the signal theory. Indeed, the variable ROE appears to be statistically significant and has a negative coefficient. This means that a firm with a higher level of profitability will tend to present less financial information on its website. This search can be improved on several levels. Although the analysis grid of websites was constructed according to the recommendations of the literature, it could have contained other variables such as adiscussion forum for investors, links towards the social networks, and other measures. Furthermore, future research might provide a more detailed analysis of the link between performance and financial communication on the internet. For example, a sample of companies quoted on the Free Market of Paris could be compared to a sample of similar but unquoted companies. In this way, the impact of the quotation on the intensity of the financial communication could be verified. Finally, interviews with the managers of listed companies on the Free Market of Paris could highlight the reasons which push successful firms not to develop their virtual financial communication.

REFERENCES

Almillia L., Budisusetyo S. (2008), "Corporate Internet reporting of banking industry and LQ45 firms: an Indonesian example", *Proceeding of the first Parahyangan international Accounting and Business conference*, Bandung, February 13-15, p. 1-26.

Amal H., Faten L. (2010), "La transparence de l'entreprise et la structure de propriété: cas des enterprises françaises », Actes du 31^{ème} Congrès de l'Association Francophone de Comptabilité, p. 1-29.

Andrikopoulos A, Diakidis N., Samitas A. (2009), « The cross section of online accounting disclosure: the case of Cyprus », *International Journal of Electronic Finance*, volume 3, p. 297-310.

Arnone L., Colot O., Croquet M., Geerts A., Pozniak L. (2010), "Internet comme vecteur de communication financière: une analyse des entreprises du Marché Libre", *La Revue des Sciences de Gestion, Direction et Gestion*, 242, 49-56

Ashbaugh H., Johnstone K., Warfield T. (1999), "Corporate reporting on the Internet," *Accounting horizons*, volume 13, n° 3, September, p. 241-257.

Barredy C., Darras N. (2008), « L'utilisation d'Internet dans la communication auprès des actionnaires minoritaires dans les entreprises familiales cotées », *Journal des entreprises familiales*, volume 1, n°1, Hiver, p. 41-68.

Craven B.M., Marston C.L. (1999), "Financial reporting on the Internet by leading UK companies," *European Accounting Review*, volume 8, n° 2, pp. 321–333

Debreceny R., Gray G. L., Rahman A. (2002) « The Determinants Of Internet Financial Reporting », *Journal of Accounting and Public Policy, volume* 21, p.371-394

Debreceny R., Rahman A. (2005), "Firm-specific determinants of continuous corporate disclosures", The International Journal of Accounting, volume 40, p. 249-278.

Dutta P., Bose S. (2007), "Web-based corporate reporting in Bangladesh: an exploratory study", *The cost and management*, volume 35, n° 6, November-December, p. 29-45.

Ettredge M., Richardson V., Scholz S. (2002), "Dissemination of information for investors at corporate web sites", *Journal of Accounting and Public Policy*, volume 21, October, p. 357-369.

Euronext (2006). « Recommandations pour un parcours boursier réussi sur le Marché Libre », 15 décembre, 4p. http://www.euronext.com/fic/000/010/800/108002.pdf

Grossman S., Hart O. (1980), "Disclosure laws and takeover bids", *Journal of Finance*, volume 35, p. 323–334.

Inchausti B.G. (1997), "The influence of company characteristics and accounting regulation on Information disclosed by Spanish firms", *European Accounting Review*, volume 6, p. 45–68

Leger, J.Y., (2008). La communication Financière, Paris, DUNOD, 2^{ème} édition, 278p.

Mendes-da-Silva W., Christensen T., (2004). "Determinants of Voluntary Disclosure of Financial Information on the Internet by Brazilian Firms", August 30, Available at http://ssrn.com/abstract=638082

Paturel R., Matoussi H, Jouini S. (2006), « Les motivations de la communication financière des entreprises françaises et britanniques à travers le web », 5ème Colloque International de la recherche en sciences de gestion, Hammamet, Tunisie, Mars.

Pervan I. (2006), "Voluntary financial reporting on the Internet – Analysis of the practice of Croatian and Slovene listed joint stock companies", *Financial theory and practice*, volume 30, n°1, p. 1-27.

Pozniak L. (2010), "Financial Communication on the Web - Evidence from Belgium", *Accounting & Taxation*, volume 2, n°1, p.47-58.

Thomas A. (2000), "Econométrie des variables qualitatives", Dunod, Paris, 179 pages

Wallace R.S.O., Naser K., Mora A. (1994), "The relationship between the comprehensiveness of corporate annual reports and firm characteristics in Spain". *Accounting and Business Research*, volume 25, p. 41–53.

Xiao J.Z., Yang He, Chow C.W. (2004), "The determinants and characteristics of voluntary Internetbased disclosures by listed Chinese companies", *Journal of Accounting and Public Policy*, volume 23, p. 191-225.

BIOGRAPHY

Laetitia Pozniak is a PhD student and a Teaching Assistant at Warocqué School of Business and Economics (University of Mons). She works in the Finance Department. Her researches fields are financial communication, stock exchange, unregulated markets, internet communication and Small-Medium size enterprise. She can be contacted at University of Mons, 20 place Warocqué, 7000 Mons, Belgium. Email: laetitia.pozniak@umons.ac.be

Melanie Croquet is Professor of Finance at Warocqué School of Business and Economics (University of Mons - Belgium). Her research focuses on financial structure and performance. She is also in charge of the Quality Process in the faculty. She can be contacted at University of Mons, 20 place Warocqué, 7000 Mons, Belgium. Email: melanie.croquet@umons.ac.be

Olivier Colot (PhD in Business Administration) is Professor of Accounting and Entrepreneurship at Warocqué School of Business and Economics (University of Mons - Belgium). He is coordinator of the "UMONS Entrepreneur". His research focuses on entrepreneurial field, accountancy and family firms, particularly the use of management accounting information and performance measurement systems. He can be contacted at University of Mons, 20 place Warocqué, 7000 Mons, Belgium. Email: Olivier.colot@umons.ac.be

INTERNAL CONTROL AND FINANCIAL QUALITY: EVIDENCE FROM POST-SOX RESTATEMENT

Ya-Fang Wang, Providence University, Taiwan (R.O.C.)

ABSTRACT

Studies of post-SOX restatements have examined the cause of the increase and have documented the association with internal controls in a negative light. In general, restatements result from internal control problems because internal controls are the first line of defense for financial statement quality. However, prior research ignores internal controls have different quality levels and may make various impacts on restating companies. Thus, this study examines the association between restatements and internal controls by examining whether and how internal control quality affects degree of restatement severity. Empirical results show that restatement severity increases in degree of internal control deficiency under among three definitions of internal control quality.

JEL: M41, G32, G24, K20

KEYWORDS: Internal control, Financial quality, Restatement

INTRODUCTION

uditing Standard No. 2 points out that a restatement of previous financial statements to reflect error correction shows at least a significant deficiency and strongly indicates material weakness. Statement on Auditing Standards (SAS) No. 99 (AU 316) also points out that extent of auditing procedures must address identified risks of material misstatement resulting from fraud. In the post-Enron era, auditors face challenges identifying red flags because of the growing number of restatements, especially restatements have become much more common (Grothe, Pham and Saban, 2006 and Grothe, Saban, Plachecki, Lee and Post, 2007b). Previous research has suggested that restatements increase litigation risk (Palmrose and Scholz, 2004), and thus represent a higher risk to auditors because they make financial statement reliability questionable.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act (hereafter called the SOX) of 2002 requires management and independent auditors to comply with Section 404 in assessing the effectiveness of company internal controls and to report their findings to investors. However, Section 404 does not require companies to keep enough internal control quality. Section 404 only requires management and auditors to test internal controls to see whether they are effective, and afterwards to inform investors of their effectiveness. Thus, regulators and the public have devoted considerable attention to whether internal controls are sufficient to ensure the accuracy of company financial statements, following the sharp increase in the number of restatements following SOX (Baldwin and Yoo, 2005, GAO, 2006, Grothe, Pham and Saban, 2006, Grothe, Goodwin, Iandera, Laurion and Freeland, 2007a, Grothe, Saban, Plachecki, Lee and Post, 2007b, Audit Analytics, 2007, PCAOB, 2007). The causes of restatements vary significantly among cases (Plumlee and Yohn, 2010, Scholz, 2008). However, restatements result from internal control problems because internal controls are the first line of defense for financial statement quality. Thus, I first focus on whether and how internal control quality is associated with restatement severity/restatement characteristics, because I argue that internal controls have different quality levels and may cause various influences on restatements.

The internal control system is supposed to improve financial reporting reliability and therefore should reduce the number of restatements (Plumlee and Yohn, 2010), but a restatement could signal a company lacks proper internal controls. In this study, I use three measurement methods to proxy for internal control

quality: (1) occurrence of internal control weakness; (2) type of internal control problem; and (3) number of internal control weaknesses and provide evidence suggesting that different levels of internal control deficiency can cause various degrees of severity on financial restatements.

LITERATURE REVIEW

Section 404 claims that effective internal controls assure investors that materially misstated financial statements are unlikely. Simply put, if internal controls are effective, the likelihood of intentional or unintentional errors being committed should be significantly reduced (DeFond and Jiambalvo, 1991). Therefore, internal control systems that companies establish over financial reporting should be designed to prevent or detect financial reporting misstatements (PCAOB, 2004). Thus, company internal control systems are important in error prevention and detection. Given poor internal control quality, subsequent restatements are highly likely. Some studies have demonstrated a link between internal control quality and the likelihood of subsequent financial restatements (Hammersley, Myers and Shakespeare, 2008, Plumlee and Yohn, 2010). Ashbaugh-Skaife, Collins and Kinney (2007), Grothe, Goodwin, Iandera, Laurion and Freeland (2007a) and Grothe, Saban, Plachecki, Lee and Post (2007b) also indicate that companies with material weaknesses often find it necessary to restate earnings, and material weakness is often disclosed following restatement. This raises the question of whether and how weakness in material internal control affects company restatement severity.

This study focuses solely on restating companies as research samples to build on the earlier empirical findings, because restatements are of significant concern to investors, managers, regulators, issuers, auditors, boards of directors and academics, and their information content has not been fully explored. This study differs from previous studies, I attempt to examine the association between restatements and internal controls by examining whether and how internal control quality affects degree of restatement severity, because restatement severity matters to the market, and assessments of internal control quality can potentially provide useful and timely information to investors. For example, Li, Scholz and Wang (2006) indicates that investment reaction to restatements differs according to knowledge of company internal control quality. Following Grothe, Goodwin, Iandera, Laurion and Freeland (2007a) and Grothe, Saban, Plachecki, Lee and Post (2007b), this study considers three measurement methods as proxies for internal control quality: (1) occurrence of internal control weakness; (2) type of internal control problem; and (3) number of internal control weaknesses to examine whether a positive relationship exists between internal control weaknesses and restatement severity. Further, I examine how internal control quality affects restatement characteristics.

DATA AND METHODOLOGY

This study first uses Compliance Week database to identify internal control weaknesses. And then, I cross-check internal control weaknesses by searching each SEC filing (e.g., 10-K, 10-K/A, etc.) to ensure disclose of any material weakness in internal control. Prior studies mostly focus on the existence of control weakness. However, different types of weakness have different effects. Following Grothe, Goodwin, Iandera, Laurion and Freeland (2007a) and Grothe, Saban, Plachecki, Lee and Post (2007b), this study classifies various types of internal control weaknesse. This study hand-collects data on the dates of initial restatement announcements and restatement characteristics from the Lexis-Nexis News Library, which covers all interim and annual restatements announced from 2004 through 2005. Identifying precise announcement dates for restatements is challenging. This study thus only considers the first release of the restatement announcement of each company in a given year. Company-level accounting data are obtained from the Standard and Poor's Compustat Annual Industrial, Research, and Full Coverage files.

ACCOUNTING & TAXATION + Volume 5+ Number 1 + 2013

The sample consists of companies that announced restatements from 2004 to 2005. Table 1 explains the sample construction. As reported in Table 1, Panel A, companies are excluded from my sample for the following reasons. First, I exclude technical restatements for 33 companies. Second, I exclude 3 companies lacking identifying information, such as perm number, cusip, gvkey, or cnum. Third, I cannot find 8-K, 10-K/A, 10-Q/A or restatement data for 67 companies. Fourth, internal control data is missing for 199 companies and thus these companies are excluded. Fifth, 91 companies are excluded because of missing Compustat financial data. My final sample is composed of 403 restating companies.

Panel B provides the distribution of research samples by the year of announcement. The distribution shows a higher percentage of restatements announced in 2005, moreover, about 72.08% of the restatements in the internal control weakness subsample. Panel C details the industry composition of restatement companies. The industry that is most heavily represented (23.57% of sample companies) is retailing. Moreover, Panel C also shows that retailing and durable goods manufacturing industries have the highest percentages of restatements in the internal control weakness subsample (20.13% and 20.13%, respectively).

Table 1: Sample Selection

Panel A: Number of observations lost b	ecause of dat	ta requirements							
Total number of restatements announced	Total number of restatements announced from 2004 to 2005								
Less: Restatements of technical reasons									
Observations without perm number, cusip, gykey, cnum, etc. 3									
Observations with missing restatem	ient data					67			
Observations with missing internal	control data					199			
Observations not on Compustat or	with missing (Compustat data				91			
1	e	1				(393)			
Final Sample						403			
Panel B: Year of restatement announce	ement								
		2004	20	005	Total				
Year	Obs.	%	Obs.	%	Obs.	%			
ICW ^a	43	39.81%	111	37.63%	154	38.21%			
Non-ICW	65	60.19%	184	62.37%	249	61.79%			
Total	108	100%							
Panel C: Industry distribution of samp	Panel C: Industry distribution of sample companies								
]	ICW	N	lon-ICW	Tot	al			
Industry ^b	Obs.	%	Obs.	%	Obs.	%			
Mining & construction	3	1.95%	5	2.01%	8	1.99%			
Food	2	1.30%	1	0.40%	3	0.74%			
Textiles & printing / publishing	5	3.25%	10	4.02%	15	3.72%			
Chemicals	1	0.65%	2	0.80%	3	0.74%			
Pharmaceuticals	7	4.55%	7	2.81%	14	3.47%			
Extractive	1	0.65%	7	2.81%	8	1.99%			
Durable manufacturers	31	20.13%	24	9.64%	55	13.65%			
Transportation	8	5.19%	17	6.83%	25	6.20%			
Utilities	3 1.95% 17 6.83% 20					4.96%			
Retail	31	20.13%	64	25.70%	95	23.57%			
Financial services	18 11.69% 47 18.88% 65					16.13%			
Services	17	11.04%	24	9.64%	41	10.17%			
Computers	27	17.53%	24	9.64%	51	12.66%			
Total	154	100.00%	249	100.00%	403	100.00%			
^a ICW and Non-ICW divide samples bas	ed on wheth	er companies with	internal c	ontrol weaknesses	or without int	ernal control			

weaknesses.

weaknesses. ^b Industry membership is determined by SIC code as follows: mining and construction (1000-1999, excluding 1300-1399), food (2000-2111), textiles and printing/publishing (2200-2799), chemicals (2800-2824, 2840-2899), pharmaceuticals (2830-2836), extractive (1300-1399, 2900-2999), durable manufacturers (3000-3999, excluding 3570-3579 and 3670-3679), transportation (4000-4899), utilities (4900-4999), retail (5000-5999), financial services (6000-6999), services (7000-8999, excluding 7370-7379), and computers (3570-3579, 3670-3679, 7370-7379).

This study estimates equation (1) and equation (2) to test the relationship between restatement severity and internal control weakness. Specifically, this investigation not only includes four restatement characteristics (*CORE*, *AMOUNT*, *ACCOUNTS*, *RYEARS*), but also uses a composite measure (*SEVERITY*) that captures overall company restatement severity. Also, this study uses three measures of internal control weakness: (1) existence of internal control weakness; (2) type of internal control deficiencies; and (3) number of internal control deficiencies.

$$SEVERITY_{i,t} = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 ICQUALITY_{i,t} + \alpha_2 BIGN_{i,t} + \alpha_3 DEBT_{i,t} + \alpha_4 SALEGRW_{i,t} + \alpha_5 ROA_{i,t}$$
(1)
+ $\alpha_6 LOSS_{i,t} + \alpha_7 SIZE_{i,t} + \alpha_8 CEOTURN_{i,t} + \alpha_9 ATTAU_{i,t} + \alpha_{10} ATTSEC_{i,t} + \varepsilon_{i,t}$

$$RESTATEMENT CHARACTERISTICS_{i,t} = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 ICQUALITY_{i,t} + \alpha_2 BIGN_{i,t} + \alpha_3 DEBT_{i,t}$$
(2)

$$(CORE / AMOUNT / + \alpha_4 SALEGRW_{i,t} + \alpha_5 ROA_{i,t} + \alpha_6 LOSS_{i,t} + \alpha_7 SIZE_{i,t}$$

$$ACCOUNTS / RYEARS) + \alpha_8 CEOTURN_{i,t} + \alpha_9 ATTAU_{i,t} + \alpha_{10} ATTSEC_{i,t} + \varepsilon_{i,t}$$

where

SEVERITY	= Combines four characteristics of restatement severity (<i>CORE</i> , <i>AMOUNT</i> , <i>ACCOUNTS</i> , <i>RYEARS</i>) into a single comprehensive variable;
CORE	= 1 if a restatement involves revenue, cost of sales or on-going operating expenses, and 0 otherwise;
AMOUNT	= Restated income (loss) less originally reported income (loss) over the restated period, scaled by book value of assets reported at year end prior to the restatement announcement;
ACCOUNTS	= Number of account groups affected in a restatement. The seven account groups include revenue, cost of sales, operating expenses, one-time/special items, merger-related, non-operating expenses, and other items;
RYEARS	= Sum of years restated, where fiscal year = 1 and each additional quarter = 0.25 ;
ICQUALITY	= Uses three measurement methods to proxy for the weakness of internal control,
	(1) 1 if a company has weak internal control, and 0 otherwise;
	(2) type of internal control weaknesses;
	(3) number of internal control weaknesses;
BIGN	= 1 if the company's auditor is a Big N firm at announcement year, and 0 otherwise;
DEBT	= 1 if the company has notes payable, and 0 otherwise;
SALEGRW	= One-year percentage change in sales reported at announcement year;
ROA	= Net income divided by book value of total assets reported at announcement year;
LOSS	= 1 if operating income is less than zero reported at announcement year, and 0 otherwise;
SIZE	= Natural log of the book value of total assets reported at announcement year;
CEOTURN	= 1 if the CEO leaves the company within 24 months around (6 months before and 18 months after) the restatement announcement, and 0 otherwise;
ATTAU	= 1 if companies having restatements prompted by the auditor, and 0 otherwise;
ATTSEC	= 1 if companies having restatements prompted by SEC, and 0 otherwise;
ε	= the residual term.

The dependent variable of equation (1), *SEVERITY*, captures comprehensive restatement severity. The dependent variable of equation (2), *RESTATEMENT CHARACTERISTICS*, considers individual restatement characteristics (*CORE*, *AMOUNT*, *ACCOUNTS*, *RYEARS*). Meanwhile, the test variable, *ICQUALITY*, measures internal control quality. From a review of the literature (DeFond and Jiambalvo, 1991, Kinney and McDaniel, 1989, Palmrose, Richardson and Scholz, 2004), this study includes four control variables to control for company financial condition: *ROA*, *LOSS*, *DEBT*, and *SALEGRW*. Prior researches indicate that restatements prompted by external parties (SEC and auditors) are more severe (Palmrose, Richardson and Scholz, 2004, Desai, Hogan and Wilkins, 2006b), I control for external prompter effects (*ATTSEC*, *ATTAU*). Boards replace CEOs more often for financial reporting problems (Srinivasan, 2005), I control for CEO replace effect (denoted by *CEOTURN*). Consistent with Dechow, Sloan and Sweeney (1996), and Desai, Krishnamurthy and Venkataraman (2006a), this study controls for

the company size effect (denoted by *SIZE*). Additionally, Farber (2005) reports a smaller proportion of brand-name audit firms in fraud companies compared to control companies. This study thus includes Big N CPA firms (denoted by *BIGN*) to control for auditor industry leadership.

The variable, ICOUALITY, captures company internal control quality. This study uses three measurement methods to proxy for internal control quality: (1) occurrence of internal control weakness; (2) type of internal control problem; and (3) number of internal control weaknesses. Following Grothe, Goodwin, Iandera, Laurion and Freeland (2007a) and Grothe, Saban, Plachecki, Lee and Post (2007b), this study categorizes the disclosed internal control problems into two major deficiency types: account-specific and company-level. Account-specific material weaknesses relate to controls over specific account balances or transaction-level processes. Meanwhile, company-level material weaknesses relate to more macro-level controls such as control environment or overall financial reporting process. To understand degree of internal control deficiency, this study also considers number of internal control weaknesses disclosured in their Internal Control over Financial Reporting. The dependent variable, SEVERITY, captures overall corporate restatement severity by combining four characteristics (CORE, AMOUNT, ACCOUNTS, RYEARS) of restatement severity. The first restatement characteristic is an indicator variable for core-earnings (denoted by CORE), which equals one if a restatement involves core earnings and zero otherwise. According to Penman (2001), core earnings in an income statement include sales revenue, cost of sales, and on-going operating expenses. This study includes CORE as a restatement characteristic because previous investigations have demonstrated that market participants regard restatements of core earnings as more serious because of their potential litigations and react negatively (Palmrose and Scholz, 2004, Palmrose, Richardson and Scholz, 2004). The second restatement characteristic, AMOUNT, measures the size (magnitude) effect of a restatement on net income. Following Palmrose, Richardson and Scholz (2004), Srinivasan (2005) and Collins, Masli, Reitenga and Sanchez (2009), this study calculates AMOUNT as the restated income (loss) less originally reported income (loss), scaled by the book value of total assets at the end of the year immediately preceding the restatement announcement.

This study measures the number of account groups affected (denoted by *ACCOUNTS*) as the third restatement characteristic. This study follows Palmrose, Richardson and Scholz (2004) by focusing on seven account groups in the income statement (i.e., revenue, cost of sales, operating expenses, one-time/special items, merger-related, non-operating expenses, and other items) and expects *ACCOUNTS* (which can range from one to seven) to be positively associated with cost of debt capital. Additionally, *CORE* captures the overall impact of accounting numbers, whereas *ACCOUNTS* indicates whether market participants consider the detailed line items (within the income statement) involved in a restatement and reacts accordingly. The fourth restatement characteristic, *RYEARS*, is measured using the number of years financial statements that are restated in a single restatement (where a fiscal year = 1 and a quarter = 0.25). Therefore, *RYEARS* captures the "cumulative compromise" of financial reporting quality over a specific length of time.

RESULTS

Table 2 provides descriptive data on the sample companies, partitioned by two subsamples: restating companies with internal control weakness (n = 154), and restating companies without internal control weakness (n = 249). As such, comparing two subsamples provides evidence regarding whether internal control environment affects degree of restatement severity.

First, the mean (median) of *SEVERITY* reported in the ICW subsample is significantly larger than those reported in the non-ICW subsample at the 0.01 level for both tests. Second, with respect to restatement characteristics, the means (medians) of restatement characteristics (*CORE*, *AMOUNT*, *ACCOUNT*, and *RYEARS*) reported in the ICW subsample are significantly larger than those reported in the non-ICW subsample. Univariate comparisons indicate that ICW companies have higher restatement severity than

non-ICW companies. Additionally, ICW restating companies are more likely to involve core-earnings, greater overstatement values, more account groups restated, and longer duration. Third, the mean (median) of *AUFEE* reported in the ICW subsample is significantly larger than those reported in the non-ICW subsample at the 0.01 level for both tests. This finding reveals that ICW companies have higher audit fees than non-ICW companies. Finally, ICW companies have higher CEO turnover rate (*CEOTURN*), receive more going-concern opinions (*GC*), have more notes payable (*DEBT*), perform worse (*ROA*) and suffer more losses (*LOSS*).

	ICW ^b	(n=154)	Non-ICW (n=249)		Differe	nces °
Variable ^a	Mean	Median	Mean	Median	t test	z test
SEVERITY	2.10	2.00	1.52	1.00	-4.92***	-4.69***
CORE	0.70	1.00	0.57	1.00	-2.78***	-2.71***
AMOUNT	-0.01	-0.00	-0.01	-0.00	1.59	4.05***
ACCOUNTS	1.20	1.00	1.12	1.00	-1.83*	-2.10**
RYEARS	2.15	1.75	1.55	1.00	-3.97***	-3.79***
BIGN	0.88	1.00	0.89	1.00	0.33	0.33
DEBT	0.38	0.00	0.29	0.00	-1.84*	-1.87*
SALEGRW	0.12	0.08	0.15	0.11	1.00	1.99**
ROA	-0.03	0.01	0.03	0.03	4.20***	6.07***
LOSS	0.42	0.00	0.18	0.00	-4.93***	-5.05***
SIZE	7.04	6.68	7.35	7.18	1.62	1.95*
CEOTURN	0.38	0.00	0.28	0.00	-2.10**	-2.13**
ATTAU	0.05	0.00	0.04	0.00	-0.56	-0.56
ATTSEC	0.03	0.00	0.04	0.00	0.20	0.20
AUFEE	14.72	14.56	14.33	14.14	-3.34***	-3.52***
TENURE	8.45	7.00	7.82	6.00	-1.06	-0.95
GC	0.56	1.00	0.34	0.00	-4.33***	-4.28***

^a The definitions of the variables reported in this table are: SEVERITY = Combines four restatement characteristics (CORE, AMOUNT, ACCOUNTS, RYEARS) into a single comprehensive variable; CORE = 1 if a restatement involves revenue, cost of sales or on-going operating expenses, and 0 otherwise; AMOUNT = Restated income (loss) less originally reported income (loss) over the restated period, scaled by book value of assets reported at year end prior to the restatement announcement; ACCOUNTS = Number of account groups affected in a restatement. The seven account groups are revenue, cost of sales, operating expenses, and other items; RYEARS = Sum of years restated, where a fiscal year = 1 and each additional quarter = 0.25; BIGN = 1 if the company's auditor is a Big N firm at announcement year, and 0 otherwise; DEBT = 1 if the company has notes payable, and 0 otherwise; SALEGRW = One-year percentage change in sales reported at announcement year; ROA = Net income divided by book value of total assets reported at announcement year; SIZE = Natural log of book value of total assets reported at announcement year, and 0 otherwise; SIZE = Natural log of book value of total assets reported at announcement year; ATTAU = 1 if company within 24 months around (6 months before and 18 months after) the restatement announcement, and 0 otherwise; ATTSEC = 1 if companies having restatements prompted by the auditor, and 0 otherwise; ATTSEC = 1 if companies having restatements prompted by SEC, and 0 in the vise; ATTSEC = 1 if companies having restatements prompted by SEC, and 0 in the restatement announcement year; and 0 otherwise; ATTAU = 1 if the company has retained the auditor; GC = 1 if companies having restatements prompted by the auditor; and 0 otherwise.

^b ICW and Non-ICW divide samples based on whether companies with internal control weaknesses or without internal control weaknesses.

^c Asterisks *, **, *** indicate two-tailed significance at the 0.10, 0.05, and 0.01 levels, respectively.

Table 3 reports the Pearson correlations for the dependent and test variables to be used in the research models. In my analyses, most explanatory variables are not significantly correlated with each other, suggesting that multicollinearity is not a problem. As depicted in this Table, correlations between restatement information (*SEVERITY, CORE, AMOUNT, ACCOUNTS, RYEARS*) and internal control weaknesses (*ICQUALITY(1), ICQUALITY(2), ICQUALITY(3)*) are in the predicted direction.

Table 3: Pearson Correlation Coefficients

Variable ^{ab}	SEVERITY	CORE	AMOUNT	ACCOUNTS	RYEARS	ICQUALITY(1)	ICQUALITY(2)
SEVERITY	**						
CORE	0.71						
AMOUNT	-0.16	-0.05	**				
ACCOUNTS	0.51	0.29	-0.15	0.00			
RYEARS	0.53	0.16	-0.00	0.09	0.00**		
ICQUALITY(1)	0.24	0.14	-0.08	0.09	0.20	0.04**	
ICOUALITY(2)	0.22	0.11	-0.10	0.10	0.22	0.94	0.00**
ICQUALITY(3)	0.18	0.05	-0.1/	0.19	0.1/	0.01	0.09

^a Please refer to table 2 for variable definitions.

^b Asterisks ** indicate two-tailed significance at the 0.05.

To examine the association between restatement severity and internal control guality. I estimate equation (1) using a composite index that combines four restatement characteristics into a single comprehensive variable (SEVERITY) that captures the company's overall restatement severity. I regress internal control variables and control variables on restatement severity using the ordered probit model. Table 4 presents estimates from the regression of equation (1).

Variable ^a	Model 1 °	Model 2	Model 3	
ICQUALITY ^b	0.54***	0.29***	0.09***	
$BI\overline{G}N$	0.14	0.17	0.17	
DEBT	-0.15	-0.14	-0.14	
SALEGRW	-0.40*	-0.42**	-0.44**	
ROA	0.59	0.61	0.63	
LOSS	-0.05	-0.03	-0.04	
SIZE	-0.09***	-0.09***	-0.09***	
CEOTURN	0.17	0.17	0.16	
ATTAU	0.07	0.04	-0.08	
ATTSEC	0.71**	0.66**	0.73**	
Pseudo-R ²	3.98%	3.70%	3.56%	
n	403	403	403	

^a Please refer to table 2 for variable definitions.

^b Model 1 measures ICQUALITY by (1) 1 if a company has weak internal control, and 0 otherwise, model 2 measures ICQUALITY by (2) type of internal control weaknesses, and model 3 measures ICQUALITY by (3) number of internal control weaknesses.

^c Asterisks *, **, *** indicate two-tailed significance at the 0.10, 0.05, and 0.01 levels, respectively.

Consistent with my prediction, in Model (1), the coefficient on *ICQUALITY* is 0.54 (significant at p < 0. 01), suggesting that restating companies with internal control weaknesses may suffer higher restatement severity. In Model (2), the coefficient on *ICOUALITY* is 0.29 (significant at p < 0.01), suggesting that restating companies involve company-level material weaknesses may have higher restatement severity. In Model (3), the coefficient on *ICQUALITY* is 0.09 (significant at p < 0.01), suggesting that restatement severity increases in number of internal control weaknesses. Also, among the control variables, performance (SALEGRW), company size (SIZE), and SEC-prompted restatements (ATTSEC) are significantly correlated with restatement severity.

To further examine the association between restatement characteristics and internal control quality. I consider four restatement characteristics (CORE, AMOUNT, ACCOUNTS, RYEARS), and then estimate equation (2). As shown in Table 5, restating companies with internal control weaknesses are more likely to involve core-earnings accounts (CORE), downward restatements (AMOUNT), more account groups (ACCOUNTS), and longer duration (RYEARS) than restating companies without internal control weaknesses.

Overall, results suggest that different levels of internal control deficiency can cause various degrees of restatement severity. Specifically, companies with company-level material weaknesses are more likely to suffer higher restatement severity than those companies with account-specific material weaknesses.

This section examines the sensitivity of the reported empirical results by exploring whether the evidence persists for a series of variables, sample re-specifications and alternate estimation techniques. First, following Hribar and Jenkins (2004), I re-define CORE as equal to one if the restatement is categorized as affecting revenue recognition, cost of sales, operating expenses, or loan-loss provisions, and zero otherwise. The results and conclusions remain unchanged. Second, I exclude companies in the financial services industry because their financial ratios differ from other companies, and their corporate governance is subject to different regulatory oversight. The empirical results are similar to those reported in previous sections.

		CORE			AMOUNT	
Variable ^a	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3
Intercept ^b	1.06***	1.07***	1.16***	-0.02	-0.01	-0.02
ICQUÂLITY	0.45***	0.20**	0.04	-0.01*	-0.01**	-0.01***
BIĞN	0.14	0.16	0.16	-0.00	-0.00	-0.00
DEBT	-0.38**	-0.36**	-0.34**	0.01	0.01	0.01
SALEGRW	-0.87***	-0.88***	-0.87***	-0.02*	-0.02*	-0.01*
ROA	0.45	0.46	0.43	-0.00	-0.00	-0.01
LOSS	-0.20	-0.17	-0.15	0.00	0.00	0.00
SIZE	-0.11***	-0.11***	-0.11***	0.00	0.00	0.00
CEOTURN	0.06	0.07	0.07	0.01	0.01	0.01
ATTAU	-0.04	-0.05	-0.10	0.01	0.01	0.02
ATTSEC	0.73*	0.71*	0.76*	0.00	0.00	0.00
Pseudo-R ²	8.07%	7.39%	6.68%	2.82%	3.29%	3.31%
n	403	403	403	403	403	403
		ACCOUNTS			RYEARS	
Variable	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3
Intercept ^b	1.20***	1.19***	1.20***	1.07***	1.02***	1.23***
ICQUALITY	0.07*	0.04*	0.03***	0.68***	0.42***	0.11***
BIĞN	-0.00	0.00	0.00	0.03	0.07	0.07
DEBT	-0.02	-0.02	-0.03	-0.14	-0.14	-0.12
SALEGRW	-0.05	-0.05	-0.06	-0.17	-0.19	-0.22
ROA	-0.03	-0.02	0.02	0.77	0.84	0.82
LOSS	0.00	0.00	-0.01	-0.17	-0.16	-0.14
SIZE	-0.01	-0.01	-0.01	0.05	0.06	0.05
CEOTURN	0.01	0.01	-0.00	0.34**	0.33**	0.33**
ATTAU	-0.05	-0.05	-0.11	0.04	-0.00	-0.13
ATTSEC	0.06	0.06	0.07	0.39	0.32	0.44
Pseudo-R ²	1.52%	1.59%	1.96%	5.42%	6.15%	4.03%
n	403	403	403	403	403	403

Table 5: Restatement Characteristics and Internal Control

^a Please refer to table 2 for variable definitions.

^b Model 1 measures ICQUALITY by (1) 1 if a company has weak internal control, and 0 otherwise, model 2 measures ICQUALITY by (2) type of internal control weaknesses, and model 3 measures ICQUALITY by (3) number of internal control weaknesses. ^c Asterisks *, ***, *** indicate two-tailed significance at the 0.10, 0.05, and 0.01 levels, respectively.

CONCLUDING COMMENTS

In this study, I examine whether and how internal control quality is associated with restatement severity/restatement characteristics, because I argue that internal controls have different quality levels and may cause various influences on restatements. By using 403 restating companies during 2004-2005, I employed an ordered probit model and found that restatement severity increases for companies with improper internal controls, moreover, companies with company-level material weaknesses are more likely to suffer higher restatement severity than those companies with account-specific material weaknesses. One major limitation of my study is that my sample includes data for two year. A potentially interesting line of future research is whether post-SOX restating companies improve their earnings quality or internal control quality in the post-restatement era. From a positive thinking perspective, this raises an important question of whether post-SOX restating companies I believe that after SOX restating companies to improve the future quality of their financial reporting. I believe that after SOX restating companies may have stronger incentives than non-restating companies to improve financial reporting quality and restore market confidence, because restatements incur higher costs and considerable public criticism.

REFERENCES

Ashbaugh-Skaife, H., Collins, D., and Kinney, W. (2007), The Discovery and Reporting of Internal Control Deficiencies prior to SOX-mandated Audits. *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, 44, 166-192.

Audit Analytics. (2007), Financial Restatements and Market Reactions. Ives Group Inc.

Baldwin, T., and Yoo, D. (2005), Traversing Shaky Ground: An Analysis for Investors. *Yellow Card Trend Alert*, Glass Lewis & Co., LLC.

ACCOUNTING & TAXATION + Volume 5+ Number 1 + 2013

Collins, D., Masli, A., Reitenga, A.L., and Sanchez, J.M. (2009), Earnings Restatements, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the Disciplining of Chief Financial Officers. *Journal of Accounting, Auditing & Finance*, 24, 1-34.

Dechow, P.M., Sloan, R.G., and Sweeney, A. (1996), Causes and Consequences of Earnings Manipulation: An Analysis of Firms Subject to Enforcement Actions by the SEC. *Contemporary Accounting Research*, 13, 1-36.

DeFond, M.L., and Jiambalvo, J. (1991), Incidence and Circumstances of Accounting Errors. *The Accounting Review*, 66, 643-655.

Desai, H., Krishnamurthy, S., and Venkataraman, K. (2006a), Do Short Sellers Target Firms with Poor Earnings Quality? Evidence from Earnings Restatements. *Review of Accounting Studies*, 11, 71-90.

Desai, H., Hogan, C., and Wilkins, M.S. (2006b), The Reputational Penalty for Aggressive Accounting: Earnings Restatements and Management Turnover. *The Accounting Review*, 81, 83-112.

Doyle, J., Ge, W. and Mcvay, S. (2007a), Determinants of Weaknesses in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, 44, 193-223.

Doyle, J., Ge, W., and Mcvay, S. (2007b), Accruals Quality and Internal Control over Financial Reporting. *The Accounting Review*, 85, 1141-1170.

Farber, D., (2005), Restoring Trust after Fraud: Does Corporate Governance matter? *The Accounting Review*, 80, 539-561.

Government Accountability Office. (2006), Financial Statement Restatements: Updates of Public Company Trends, Market Impacts, and Regulatory Enforcement Actions. GAO-06-678.

Grothe, M., Pham, A., and Saban, J. (2006), Getting It Wrong the First Time. *Yellow Card Trend Alert*, Glass Lewis & Co., LLC.

Grothe, M., Goodwin, J., Iandera, O., Laurion, H., and Freeland, J. (2007a), The Materially Weak. *Yellow Card Trend Alert*, Glass Lewis & Co., LLC.

Grothe, M., Saban, J., Plachecki, M., Lee, R., and Post, B. (2007b), The errors of their ways. *Yellow Card Trend Alert*, Glass Lewis & Co., LLC.

Hammersley, J., Myers, L., and Shakespeare, C. (2008), Market Reactions to the Disclosure of Internal Control Weaknesses and to the Characteristics of those Weaknesses under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. *Review of Accounting Studies*, 13, 141-165.

Hribar, P., and Jenkins, N. (2004), The Effect of Accounting Restatements on Earnings Revisions and the Estimated Cost of Capital. *Review of Accounting Studies*, 9, 337-356.

Kinney, W.R., and McDaniel, L.S. (1989), Characteristics of Firms Correcting Previously Reported Quarterly Earnings. *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, 11, 71-93.

Li, C., Scholz, S., and Wang, Q. (2006), Internal control over financial reporting: Does the market really not care? *Working Paper*, University of Kansas.

YF. Wang | AT • Vol. 5 • No. 1 • 2013

Palmrose, Z-V., V.J. Richardson, and S. Scholz. (2004) 'Determinants of markets reactions to restatement announcements', *Journal of Accounting and Economics* 37: 58-89.

Palmrose, Z-V., and Scholz, S. (2004), The Circumstances and Legal Consequences of Non-GAAP Reporting: Evidence from Restatements. *Contemporary Accounting Research*, 21, 139-180.

Penman, S., (2001), Financial Statement Analysis and Security Valuation. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill Ryerson.

Plumlee, M.A., and Yohn, T.L. (2010), An Analysis of the Underlying Causes Attributed to Restatements. *Accounting Horizons*, 24, 41-64.

Public Company Accounting Oversight Board. (2004), An Audit of Internal Control over Financial Reporting Performed in Conjunction with An Audit of Financial Statements. Auditing Standard No. 2. Washington, DC, PCAOB.

Public Company Accounting Oversight Board. (2007), Changes in Market Responses to Financial Statement Restatement Announcements in the Sarbanes-Oxley Era. Washington, DC, PCAOB.

Scholz, S., (2008), The Changing Nature and Consequences of Public Company Financial Restatements 1997-2006. Washington, DC, PCAOB.

Srinivasan, S., (2005), Consequences of Financial Reporting Failure for Outside Directors: Evidence from Accounting Restatements and Audit Committee Members. *Journal of Accounting Research*, 43, 291-334.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I would like to thank the journal editors and two anonymous referees for their insightful comments. I gratefully acknowledge the financial support from National Science Council (NSC99-2410-H-126-009).

BIOGRAPHY

Ya-Fang Wang is an Assistant Professor of Accounting at Providence University. She can be contacted at: Department of Accounting, College of Management, 200 Chung Chi Rd., Taichung 43301, Taiwan (R.O.C.). Phone: 886-4-26328001. E-mail: yfwang2@pu.edu.tw.

STOCK MARKET AND TAX REVENUE COLLECTION IN MALAYSIA: EVIDENCE FROM COINTEGRATION AND CAUSALITY TESTS

Roshaiza Taha, Universiti Malaysia Terengganu

ABSTRACT

This study empirically examined the relationship between stock market performance and taxation in Malaysia over the period 1980 to 2008. The Gregory Hansen methodology was utilized to examine which tax collected by Malaysia's Government most impacted stock market performance in Malaysia. The results show that stock market performance contributes most to the changes in company tax revenue as compared to personal taxes and real property gain taxes. In addition, the analysis detects a significance break, which impacts the nature of the relationship between variables. This finding indicates that stock market performance in Malaysia was influenced by strong growth of company tax revenue collection. Thus, fiscal policy authorities in Malaysia should enhance efforts to promote stock market activities, which will subsequently increase the tax revenue collection.

JEL: F3, G1, H2, O2

KEYWORDS: Company tax, Personal tax, Stock market, Structural break

INTRODUCTION

Taxes have an important role in the economic and social policy of any government. Tax policies in Malaysia normally contribute to the overall economic development in two major ways :i) ensuring stable growth in revenue to finance the annual budget; and ii) providing incentives within the tax system to promote growth, especially in the private sector (Singh, 2005). Therefore, the efficiency and effectiveness of the tax system formulation are crucial to ensure that the government is able to collect the sources for development purposes. Such development, in return, will help to encourage more investment flow in the country. Thus, taxation in terms of policies is well known as being able to promote economic activities, such as investment, manufacturing, tourism and agriculture by offering incentives, which, in return, contribute towards a more balanced growth. Therefore, this paper presents the existence of the relationship between tax revenue and the stock market in Malaysia for the period of 1980 to 2008.

In Malaysia, capital market activities have shown tremendous growth following the Government's efforts to improve the facilities and infrastructure for the investment activities. However, the booming of Malaysia's stock market began after the Asian financial crisis in 1997. This crisis has led to a fundamental change in the Malaysian financial system from bank lending to non-bank market orientation (Zhang, 2009). This created rapid growth in the stock and corporate bond markets in Malaysia, which opened an opportunity for investment, specifically in the capital market activities. As a result, the capital market in Malaysia has increased significantly, where, in 1999, the funds raised in the capital market amounted to RM17.2 billion compared to RM7.5 billion per annum for the 30 year period from 1962-1992. The remarkable growth of Malaysia's capital market has directly and indirectly impacted the trend of tax revenue collection. Year-to-year the tax revenue collection from the Official Assessment System to the Self Assessment System in 2001 and 2004 for companies and individuals, respectively, has contributed to an increase in the tax revenue collection (Malaysia, 2004) . In addition, the government also encouraged investment activities through the announcement of incentives granted to the taxpayer to reduce their tax burden. This will further help to promote the investment activities.

Therefore, a combination of strong financial system development and solid fiscal policy is also a prominent tool to spur growth. Despite the importance of these measures, understanding of the relationship between the fiscal policy and financial system are far from complete. Although previous studies (Darrat, 1988, Darrat, 1990, Ardagna, 2009, Laopodis, 2009) have documented the relationship between the financial market and fiscal policy, no insights on particular fiscal policy tools, such as taxation instruments, which could cause a negative or positive market response, are offered in the literature devoted to developing countries. In developed country studies, the relationship is mainly analyzed using cross-sectional(Arin et al., 2009, Aarle et al., 2003) and panel analysis(Akitoby and Stratmann, 2008, Ardagna, 2009, Hung and Lee, 2010).

The earlier studies mentioned broadly document the relationship between fiscal policy and financial markets. However, none of these studies focused on analyzing the impact of financial market activities on generating tax revenue, which is also important in analyzing the economic performance of the country. Boyd (2009) discussed the situation when the state runs out of money, which affects the budget allocation. In addition, he emphasized the significant impact of recession (specifically on the downturn in an investment on capital market) on tax revenue collection. Therefore, as fiscal policy has a pivotal role in influencing the investment performance, so does the role of investment in determining the trend of revenue collection. Realizing this, Taha et al. (2010) analyzed the role of the financial market on generating tax revenue in Malaysia. The results show that while direct tax revenue has a significant effect on the stock market and bond market activities, both financial market instruments play a pivotal role in determining the revenue collection. However, in this study the relation has been analyzed at an aggregate level, and there is no identification on which particular tax instruments are most impacted from financial market activities. Therefore, the actual causal effect of financial market activities on specific tax revenue is largely unresolved. In addition, this study did not consider the occurrence of a potential break, which might change the nature of the relationship existing between variables.

Therefore, the purpose of this paper is to examine the relationship between the stock market and tax return in Malaysia by focusing on personal tax and company tax revenue considering the pivotal role of such revenue in Malaysia's economy. In addition, this issue is of interest due to recent gyrations of the stock market due to global economic imbalance. Plummeting stock prices can cast a dark cloud over the financial position of all parties – individuals, companies and the government. However, there is a lack of discussion devoted to the effect of increasing stock market activities on the tax revenue collection. Most of the studies focused on analyzing the nexus between tax and the stock market with the aim of analyzing the effect of changes in tax burden on stock market activities. Furthermore, previous studies also aim to investigate the impact of tax on investment activities while neglecting other important components of the financial system. Based on the results, it can be concluded that a long-term relationship exists between company tax revenue and the stock market implying that taxation plays an important role in encouraging investment activities. This result is of particular importance as it offers the important determinants of capital market activities, specifically in Malaysia.

The contribution of this study is two-fold. First, this paper studies the impact of the stock market on both personal tax and company tax in Malaysia. Second, the recent analyses that cater for the existence of a break, which take into consideration all the economic events occurring during the study period were utilized. The results suggest that the stock market contributes to the strong growth in company tax revenue collection. However, there is no significant impact of stock market on personal tax revenue.

The structure of this paper is as follows: Section 2 surveys the literature, Section 3 presents the data used and the discussion of the empirical methodology. Section 4 presents the results of this study. The paper concludes with a brief summary and a discussion of the implications of the findings in Section 5.

LITERATURE REVIEW

As we are aware, the financial system and taxation are linked in many ways. Consider, for example, that a government's choice of tax instruments may have a significant influence on financial system activities. The effect of fiscal policy is transmitted in several ways, one of which is through the financial market (Arin et al., 2009). As it is clear that a significant link does exist between the financial system and taxation, the question to be addressed is whether taxation has an impact on financial system activities, or, whether financial system activities contribute to the changes in taxation, or, if the impact is mutual. In theory, "a high (low) effective tax rate on domestic source income could be expected to discourage (encourage) domestic investment by resident investors, as well as inbound foreign investment" (Clark, 2007 pp. 247). Assuming that financial system activities have the same impact as investment activities, where any increase in tax rate will distort the financial system development, the question remains as to whether the same result occurs in the relationship between the financial system and tax revenue.

A selective review of the literature on the financial system and taxation suggests that a relationship indeed exists; however, the results vary according to the measurement of the variables examined, different countries' characteristics, and different methodologies used. The earlier wave of research in this area focuses on the discussion of the implications between tax policy and investment. In this context, researchers used investment variables as a proxy for the non-banking financial system, and the tax rate as taxation variables and support that the increase (decrease) in tax rate will decrease (increase) the investment activities. The research examining the effect of tax policy on investment is large and diverse, with notable studies including Summers (1981), Desai and Goolsbee (2004), Hsieh and Parker (2007), and Clark (2007).

Summers (1981) discusses the relationship between tax policy and corporate investment and emphasizes the issue of how tax can affect investment. This study suggests that the decline in investment in the United States in the period 1951-1979 was caused by an increase in corporate tax rate. An announcement of changes in tax policy will impact on investment in the short-run, while the long-term effect of taxation on investment is based on the immediate changes in taxation policy that affect the investment activities (Summers, 1981). It is most likely that any increase in tax rate will reduce the investment due to the price impact on the market. Therefore, policymakers should consider the impact of any tax changes on the financial market to ensure the stability of the market. The results found by Hsieh and Parker (2007) , and Clark (2007) emphasize the significant role of tax in determining the investment performance. They point out the importance of having an appropriate tax strategy since tax policy may negatively or positively influence economic growth as well as revenue collection regardless of individual or cross-country analysis. Kirkbride (2008) , who examined the growth of private equity, supported these findings inasmuch as the increase in tax rate negatively affects financial market development by driving investors out of the market. This further reduces the competitiveness and attractiveness of the private equity business.

Furthermore, Mannaro, Marchesi and Setzu (2008), while studying the relationship between tax and the financial market, used foreign exchange and stock market variables as financial marketproxies. Their study examined the market conditions with and without tax using an artificial stock market. They found that the increase in tax rate heavily impacts on market behavior because it increases price volatility and reduces trading volumes. They also established the relationship between these two variables by focusing on the impact of taxation in determining the price of financial market less volatile as speculators leave the market due to the changes taking place. Thus, the levy of a small tax on financial system activities, specifically, stock exchange activities, could contribute to the reduction of instability in the domestic stock market.

As the majority of studies support the pivotal role of tax rate on investment performance, Desai and Goolsbee (2004) questioned the failure of tax cuts to boost investments employing the Tobin's Q (1969) model. This model studies the ratio between two valuations of the market value of a company's stock relative to the value of a company's equity book value. The results of the model suggest the low impact of changes (either increase or decrease) in tax policy on the desired increase in investment. They argue that the effectiveness of tax policy to stimulate investment depends on the type of tax changes and incentives provided to the taxpayer. Their study rules out the impact of tax rate on the investment market. However, this argument is questionable due to the lack of empirical evidence to support it.

As Laopodis (2009) explains, past budget deficits also affect current stock returns in a negative and significant manner. However, one might argue that budget deficits are not a fiscal policy issue. The argument made by Laopodis is that budget deficits influence the decisions in future policy. Therefore, the negative effect reported in the study by Laopodis suggests that the market is inefficient with respect to the available information about future fiscal policy action, but what the market considers most is important news about monetary policy.

While a massive amount of research in this area has been conducted in the developed country context, one ponders the lack of interest in the developing country context given the economic growth rates of several developing countries over the past decade. It is believed that the non-availability of long time-series data has been a common problem for empirical research for developing countries. Although time-series data have become available on most macroeconomic variables, at least since the early 1970s, for the developing countries this is not always the case. Meticulous searching in most databases provide the macroeconomic variables data backdated for the past ten years, which means it is possible to investigate the key economic relations using modern statistical techniques, specifically, the time series method. Trying to fill the gap, a study by Hsieh and Parker (2007) represents the developing country context. In line with the theory, Hsieh and Parker show how corporate tax cuts in Chile led to an investment boom and strong economic performance. One general point they make in the case of Chile's tax reform is that in countries with poorly developed financial markets, taxation of profits from investment activities may have a significant effect on corporate savings, and, therefore, can be particularly harmful for growth.

A second body of literature relating to the impact of tax policy on financial market variables, other than investments, advocated the use of tax revenue as a proxy for tax policy. This is because, in reality, frequent changes of tax policy are not feasible, specifically, to the studies that utilize time series analysis. The work of Bohn (1990) suggests a positive relationship between tax revenue and financial market, which contradicts the theoretical arguments that taxation will distort financial market activities. This difference might be due to the use of tax revenue as a proxy for tax rate as compared to other studies. The accuracy of the result can be argued, since Alesina, Ardagna, Perotti and Schiantarelli (2002) used the same measurement and also identified a result that contradicted the theory. In addition, Alesina et al. (2002) also explored the role of tax in motivating the growth of financial markets, as measured by changes in securities, including Treasury bill yields, Treasury bonds, nominal stock returns, foreign exchange rate, money market yields, and long-term government bond yields. This implies that a government could improve the taxation system to foster more growth in the financial market. The study, however, only focused on the role of the government in economic development, ignoring the role of the private sector. They argue that fiscal expansion slows down economic activity. This is in line with the non-Keynesian effects where fiscal policy contraction in government income (tax revenue) has been associated with higher growth even in the short-run. Specifically, one can expect that fiscal policy expansion will impede innovative activity and slow economic growth.

In reality, the impact of tax rates or tax revenues on financial activities varies. In focusing on the nexus of financial system and various types of taxation, the discussion now stresses that the impact of taxation on the financial market depends on the different taxes imposed on each financial system activity. For

instance, the policy changes relating to the income tax does not have a direct influence on the business activities. Prominent studies by Arin and Koray (2006), and Arin et al. (2009) show that different fiscal shocks have different offsetting effects on the economy, and using different tax revenue measurements may conceal the effects of fiscal policy. Consistent results are reported for a panel of G3 countries and analysis of Canada where different tax policy changes produce different financial responses. It is proven that the financial system is affected by tax changes. However, in relation to tax revenue, the question is whether the level of performance of financial market activities will influence revenue collection. Focusing on this, Taha et al. (2010) examined whether tax revenue had a major effect on financial activities in Malaysia. The results support that the financial system, as proxied by monthly Malaysian data on direct taxation, the Kuala Lumpur Composite Index, loans from investment banks to the private sector, loans from Commercial Bank to the private sector and the bond market, positively influences the tax revenue collection, while in the case of tax revenue, it only has a significant impact on the stock market and investment bank activity.

DATA AND METHODOLOGY

Monthly figures for tax variable revenue, including company tax (total company tax revenue collection) and personal tax (total personal tax revenue collection) were gathered from the Inland Revenue Board (Malaysia). Data for the stock market (Kuala Lumpur Composite Index) was obtained from DataStream. All data was converted into natural logs prior to the analysis. The data period under study, between January 1980 and December 2008, covers a few recession periods, of which the most significant is the 1997 Asian Financial Crisis. The summary statistics of the data are as per Table 1. All taxation variables were found to be negatively skewed. Since the sign of the kurtosis statistic is positive, the distribution of all variables is leptokurtic.

Variables	Company tax	Personal tax	Stock market
Mean	8.64	9.06	4.16
Median	8.58	8.92	4.13
Min	7.74	7.60	3.58
Max	9.25	9.77	4.52
Standard Deviation	8.50	9.01	3.83
Skewness	0.03	0.16	-0.36
Kurtosis	0.09	0.27	0.03

Table 1: Descriptive Analysis of Data

This table shows the summary statistic of company tax, personal tax and stock market for the period of 1980 to 2008. All data are in natural logarithm form.

The problem with the models containing non-stationary variables is that they will often lead to a problem of spurious regressions. In other words, the results show that there are statistically significant relationship exists between the examined variables. To avoid this problem this study used the augmented Dickey-Fuller (1981) test (ADF) and Kwiatkowski, Phillips, Schmidt, and Shin (1992) test (KPSS) to determine whether series or residuals of the regressions are stationary. In determining the optimal lag structure in ADF and KPSS testing procedure this study relies on the model selection criterions of Akaike Information Criterion (AIC) and Newey-West Bandwidth, respectively.

As mentioned earlier, the data period under study covers a few recession periods, which might have a significant effect on the direction of the relationship. In his seminal paper, Perron (1989) argues that failing to account for at least one structural break may lead the researcher not to reject the null hypothesis of unit root, when, in fact, the series are stationary around a one-time structural break. The conventional approach of the unit root test (ADF and KPSS) used above favors the null of unit root when a structural break exists, which, in other words, means it failed to capture the existence of the break. Therefore, in order to capture the effect of any possible structural shift over the estimation period, the unit root test (ZA

test) of Zivot and Andrews (1992) is employed. The test treats the presence of any structural break in the series under observation as endogenous. The proposed test utilizes the following equations.

$$\Delta y_t = c + \alpha y_{t-1} + \beta_t + \gamma D U_t + \sum_{j=1}^k d_j \Delta y_{t-j} + \varepsilon_t$$
(Model A)

$$\Delta y_t = c + \alpha y_{t-1} + \beta_t + \theta DT_t + \sum_{j=1}^{k} d_j \Delta y_{t-j} + \varepsilon_t$$
(Model B)

$$\Delta y_t = c + \alpha y_{t-1} + \beta_t + \theta D U_t + \gamma D T_t + \sum_{j=1}^k d_j \Delta y_{t-j} + \varepsilon_t$$
(Model C)

Model A allows for a one-time change in the level of the series, Model B permits for a one-time change in the slope of the trend function, and Model C combines one-time changes in the level and the slope of the trend function of the series. In the model DU_t is an indicator dummy variable for a mean shift occurring at each possible break-date (TB) while DT_t is a corresponding trend shift variable. Formally,

$$DU_{t} = \begin{cases} 1....if t > TB \\ and \\ 0....otherwise \end{cases}$$
$$DT_{t} = \begin{cases} t-TB....if t > TB \\ 0....otherwise \end{cases}$$

The null hypothesis in all three models is $\alpha=0$, thereby implying that the series y_t contains a unit root with a drift that excludes any potential structural break, while the alternative hypothesis $\alpha<0$, implying that the series is a trend-stationary process with a one-time break occurring at an unknown point in time. The break years are the years corresponding to the minimum *t*-statistics. If the *t*-statistics are higher than the critical values (in absolute values) of Zivot and Andrews (1992), one can reject the null hypothesis of non-stationary.

The standard cointegration test may not, however, be appropriate in the presence of structural breaks. Thus, the Gregory and Hansen (1996) (GH tests) will be used. However, prior to this test the potential break that might exist needs to be identified. To capture the timing of unknown structural breaks the Quandt-Andrews breakpoint test is employed. This approach tests for one or more unknown structural breakpoints in the sample for a specified equation, where a single Chow breakpoint test, two statistics are retained, namely, the Likelihood Ratio *F*-statistic and the Wald *F*-statistic. The Likelihood Ratio *F*-statistic is based on the comparison of the restricted and unrestricted sums of squared residuals. The Wald *F*-statistic is computed from a standard Wald test of the restriction that the coefficients on the equation parameters are the same in all sub-samples. The individual test statistics can be summarized into three different statistics, namely, the Sup or Maximum statistic, the Exp Statistic and the Ave Statistic (Andrews, 1993, Andrews and Ploberger, 1994), as follows:

$$MaxF = \max_{\tau_1 \le \tau \le \tau_2} (F(\tau)); \quad ExpF = \ln\left(\frac{1}{k} \sum_{\tau_1}^{\tau_2} exp\left[\frac{1}{2}F(\tau)\right]\right); \quad AveF = \frac{1}{k} \sum_{\tau_1}^{\tau_2} F(\tau)$$
(2)

where τ is a potential breakpoint test that should be considered for the structural break, and τ_1 and τ_2 are
the starting and ending time points that should be considered for the structural break. k is the number of breaks compared. Assigning a specific interval for the test determines the number of structural breaks that the test examines.

As mentioned earlier after determining the integration level of variables, the analysis will continue with the cointegration test, which, in this study, is the Gregory and Hansen (1996) (GH tests) in the presence of structural break. The GH test was utilized instead of the conventional approach since the conventional approach assumes that the cointegration relation is constant during the period of study. However, in the case of a sample period that is long with few economic events taking place, the results from conventional cointegration can be misleading, as such an approach neglects the potential break, which may exist during the period of study. The GH test has a null hypothesis of no cointegration and its alternative hypothesis suggests cointegration with one structural break. The cointegration between variables exists when the null hypothesis is rejected by the GH test. In this test, three models are created as follows:

Level shift: $y_t = \delta_0 + \delta_1(\Phi_t) + \alpha(x_t) + v_t$ Level Shift with trend: $y_t = \delta_0 + \delta_1(\Phi_t) + \beta(t) + \alpha(x_t) + w_t$ Regime Shift: $y_t = \delta_0 + \delta_1(\Phi_t) + \alpha_1(x_t) + \alpha_2(x_t\Phi_t) + z_t$

where the structural shift in each equation is shown by a dummy variable ϕ and defined as:

$$\Phi_t = \begin{cases} 1:...if:t > \tau \\ 0:...otherwise \end{cases}$$

with τ denoting the point in the sample at which a break occurs.

RESULTS

As mentioned earlier the analysis began by examining the order of integration of variables to identify the time series characteristics of the data set. The results of the ADF and KPSS unit root test are reported in Table 2. The null hypothesis tested is that the variable under investigation has a unit root against the stationary alternative. Based on the unit root result the null hypothesis that each variable is integrated of order oneI(1) except for personal tax revenue was maintained.

		ADF Test	KPSS Test		
Variables	Level	1 st Differences	Level	1 st Differences	
Company tax	-2.41	-6.54***	0.15	0.08***	
Personal tax	-2.43	-10.91***	0.30	0.31	
Stock market	-2.88	-5.76***	0.18	0.06***	

Table 2: Stationary Tests

Note: Asterisks () and (**) denote statistically significant at 1% and 5% significance levels, respectively.*

However, since the data set used in this study covers the recession period the conventional unit root test above may produce spurious results. Therefore, the analysis proceeded with the ZA test as explained, in as much as this test is used to determine whether any possible break point in the series changes the stationary results or not. In this paper, the models of ZA are estimated over the period from 1980 to 2008. The results of unit root test together with the break-date for each series are presented in Table 2. These results suggest that the null of the unit root for company tax and personal tax can be rejected at the 1% significance level, while the result failed to reject the unit root hypothesis for stock market.

This result clearly contradicts the results obtained from the unit root test without structural break for these series. The result shows that the year 1992 emerges as the most significant break-year for company tax.

This can be associated with the introduction of tax incentives for research and development activities as well as the improvement of Bursa Malaysia trading for that particular year. With the introduction of such incentives it can help to woo the investors since the investment in these activities received incentives, which can reduce the burden in terms of paying tax. In addition the improvement of Bursa Malaysia's system also increase the company tax revenue collection, as the investors are more confident of making the investment. The break year for personal tax in 2002 resulted from the introduction of the self-assessment system (SAS) in 2001 for personal taxpayers. With the introduction of SAS the burden of assessing tax liability has shifted from the shoulders of tax assessors to the taxpayers. Thus, the taxpayers are more aware of how to comply with the tax system to avoid the penalty imposed.

Table 3: Results of Zivot and Andrews One-break Test

Variables	K	t-statistic	Break year
Company tax	4	-12.68****	1992 M01
Personal tax	4	-9.65***	2002 M01
Stock market	4	-3.91	1997 M08

Note: Asterisks (*) *and* (**) *denote statistically significant at 1% and 5% significance levels, respectively.*

For identifying this specific break Quandt Andrew Breakpoint Test were employed. As reported in Table 4, the breakpoint identified is for 1997M08 for both relationships between company tax – stock market and personal tax – stock market, respectively. This breakpoint is consistent with the 1997 Asian Financial Crisis that impacted the whole Asia.

Table 4: Quandt Andrew Breakpoint Test

	CT – SM	IT – SM
DATE	1997M08	1997M08
		1

This data show the result for Quant Andrew Test, which is the test to identify the potential from the time series data utilized in this study.

Based on the breakpoint identified from the Quandt Andrew Breakpoint test the GH test for both relationshipsis conducted. The results are as reported in Table 5.

 Table 5: Gregory Hansen Results

	CT - SM	IT - SM
	Constant	Constant
GH1	-4.94**	-3.26
GH2	-3.05	-3.56
GH3	-5.00**	-3.26
	Constant + trend	Constant + trend
GH1	-4.97**	-3.28
GH2	-3.05	-3.56
GH3	-5.04**	-3.27
	None	None
GH1	-4.94**	-3.26
GH2	-3.06	-3.56
GH3	-5.00**	-3.26

Note: (1) Asterisks (*) and (**) denote statistically significant at 1% and 5% significance levels, respectively. (2)Gregory Hansen Models: [GH1: break for the model with an intercept], [GH2: break for the model with a trend] and [GH3: break for the model with regime shift]. (3)The critical values are taken fromGregory and Hansen (1996). The critical values for 1%, 5% and 10%: GH1: -5.13, -4.61, and -4.34; GH2: -5.45, -4.99, and -4.72; and GH3: -5.47, -4.95 and -4.68, respectively.

The results suggest that company tax and stock market are cointegrated in the presence of a structural break in the data. In other words the results suggest a long-run equilibrium relation. However, the results failed to identify any relationship between personal tax revenue and stock market. Therefore, there is no evidence of a long-run relationship between individual tax and economic growth. These results imply that

the performance of the stock market does not affect individual tax revenue collection in the long-run. What can be concluded from such results is that the stock market is more crucial for determining the increase in the company tax revenue collection rather than individual tax. This might be because the major contributor of the investment activities, specifically in the stock market, is coming from a corporate source.

CONCLUDING COMMENTS

This paper uses monthly data to determine endogenously the most important years when structural breaks occurred, and, simultaneously, test for the unit root hypothesis in the presence of these breaks in company tax revenue, personal tax revenue and stock market in Malaysia. To show the difference between the conventional approach, which, according to Perron(1989), normally neglects the existence of the potential break, the ADF and KPSS unit root tests were utilized for which the results show that the series contains unit root at first difference.

Furthermore, this study utilized the test developed by Zivot and Andrews in which the results show contradictory results to the conventional approach, which has been utilized previously. The results show the potential break of 1992 and 2001 for company tax revenue and personal tax revenue, respectively. Having identified the potential breaks that exist from ZA, the unit root test and the analysis for cointegration is conducted by utilizing the Gregory Hansen approach. By employing the Gregory Hansen test this study also reveals that there exists a cointegrating relationship between company tax and stock market after allowing for structural breaks but not for the personal tax and stock market. However, of the three possible structural breaks, the one with an intercept shift and regime yields meaningful cointegrating coefficients. These results imply that there exists a long run relationship between company tax and the stock market in Malaysia. This result is consistent with Malaysia's economic situation as well as the trend of tax revenue collection in which the major contributions of the economic development come from the private sector. Therefore, the government should focus on formulating the policy, which can woo investment in the stock market as well in other financial market activities to increase the revenue collection, which can help to encourage the development of the country. In addition, even though this study failed to identify the existence of any significant relationship between personal tax revenue, the government should still put full effort in promoting investment activities among individuals to support economic development.

However, there is limitation in the analysis. The data coverage in this chapter was only from 1980 to 2008, and, hence, it would have been worthwhile if the data being examined could utilize data up to 2010. However, to date there is no official data available from the Inland Revenue Board. Thus, this study can be extended in several directions. First, a natural extension of this study would include other types of tax revenue data. Another possible extension of this study would be the analysis of the full impact of fiscal policy on the stock markets. To do that, research should include the expenditure variables in the analysis.

REFERENCES

Aarle, B. V., Garretsen, H. and Gobbin, N. (2003) "Monetary and Fiscal Policy Transmission in the Euro-Area: Evidence from a Structural Var Analysis," *Journal of Economics & Business*, vol. 55 (5/6) p.609

Akitoby, B. and Stratmann, T. (2008) "Fiscal Policy and Financial Markets," *Economic Journal*, vol. 118 (533) p.1971-1985

Alesina, A., Ardagna, S., Perotti, R. and Schiantarelli, F. (2002) "Fiscal Policy, Profits, and Investment," *The American Economic Review*, vol. 92 (3) p.571-589

Andrews, D. W. K. (1993) "Tests for Parameter Instability and Structural Change with Unknown Change Point," *Econometrica*, vol. 61 (4) p.821

Andrews, D. W. K. and Ploberger, W. (1994) "Optimal Tests When a Nuisance Parameter Is Present Only under the Alternative," *Econometrica*, vol. 62 (6) p.1383

Ardagna, S. (2009) "Financial Markets' Behavior around Episodes of Large Changes in the Fiscal Stance," *European Economic Review*, vol. 53 (1) p.37-55

Arin, K. P. and Koray, F. (2006) "Are Some Taxes Different Than Others? An Empirical Investigation of the Effects of Tax Policy in Canada," *Empirical Economics*, vol. 31 (1) p.183-193

Arin, K. P., Mamun, A. and Purushothman, N. (2009) "The Effects of Tax Policy on Financial Markets: G3 Evidence," *Review of Financial Economics*, vol. 18 (1) p.33-46

Bohn, H. (1990) "Tax Smoothing with Financial Instruments," *The American Economic Review*, vol. 80 (5) p.1217-1230

Boyd, D. J. 2009. What Will Happen to State Budgets When the Money Runs Out? *Fiscal Features*. The Nelson A. Rockefeller Institute of Government, Independent Research on America's State and Local Governments

Clark, W. S. (2007) "Tax Policy for Investment," *eJournal of Tax Research*, vol. 5 (2 (Michigan Issue)) p.244-265

Darrat, A. F. (1988) "On Fiscal Policy and the Stock Market," *Journal of Money, Credit and Banking,* vol. 20 (3) p.353-363

Darrat, A. F. (1990) "Stock Returns, Money, and Fiscal Deficits," *The Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis*, vol. 25 (3) p.387-398

Desai, M. A. and Goolsbee, A. D. (2004) "Investment, Overhang, and Tax Policy," *Brookings Papers on Economic Activity*, vol. 2004 (2) p.285-338

Dickey, D. A. and Fuller, W. A. (1981) "Likelihood Ratio Statistics for Autoregressive Time Series with a Unit Root," *Econometrica*, vol. 49 (4) p.1057

Gregory, A. W. and Hansen, B. E. (1996) "Residual-Based Tests for Cointegration in Models with Regime Shifts," *Journal of Econometrics*, vol. 70 (1) p.99-126

Hsieh, C.-T. and Parker, J. A. (2007) "Taxes and Growth in a Financially Underdeveloped Country: Evidence from the Chilean Investment Boom," *Economia: Journal of the Latin American and Caribbean Economic Association*, vol. 8 (1) p.1-40

Hung, F.-S. and Lee, C.-C. (2010) "Asymmetric Information, Government Fiscal Policies, and Financial Development," *Economic Development Quarterly*, vol. 24 (1) p.60-73

Kirkbride, J. (2008) "Private Equity and the Uk Market: Some "Real" Concerns," *International Journal of Law and Management*, vol. 50 (2) p.93-96

Kwiatkowski, D., Phillips, P. C. B., Schmidt, P. and Shin, Y. (1992) "Testing the Null Hypothesis of

Stationarity against the Alternative of a Unit Root," Journal of Econometrics, vol. 54 (1/2/3) p.159-178

Laopodis, N. T. (2009) "Fiscal Policy and Stock Market Efficiency: Evidence for the United States," *The Quarterly Review of Economics and Finance*, vol. 49 (2) p.633-650

Malaysia (2004) . Inland Revenue Board Malaysia: Annual Report 2002, Kuala Lumpur.

Mannaro, K., Marchesi, M. and Setzu, A. (2008) "Using an Artificial Financial Market for Assessing the Impact of Tobin-Like Transaction Taxes," *Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization*, vol. 67 (2) p.445-462

Perron, P. (1989) "The Great Crash, the Oil Price Shock, and the Unit Root Hypothesis," *Econometrica*, vol. 57 (6) p.1361-1401

Singh, V. (2005) . *Malaysia Taxation: Administrative and Technical Aspects, Selangor Pearson Malaysia Sdn Bhd.*

Summers, L. H. (1981) "Tax Policy and Corporate Investment," *NBER Working Paper Series*, vol. p.115-148

Taha, R., Colombage, S. R. N. and Maslyuk, S. (2010) "The Financial System and Revenue Collection in Malaysia: An Empirical Analysis," *The Empirical Economics Letters*, vol. 9 (11) p.1027-1032

Tobin, J. (1969) "A General Equilibrium Approach to Monetary Theory," *Journal of Money Credit and Banking*, vol. 1 (1) p.15-29

Zhang, X. (2009) "From Banks to Markets: Malaysian and Taiwanese Finance in Transition," *Review of International Political Economy*, vol. 16 (3) p.382-408

Zivot, E. and Andrews, D. W. K. (1992) "Further Evidence on the Great Crash, the Oil-Price Shock, and the Unit-Root Hypothesis," *Journal of Business & Economic Statistics*, vol. 10 (3) p.251-270

BIOGRAPHY

Taha, Roshaiza, received her PhD from Monash University, Australia in 2012. She is currently lecturing at Universiti Malaysia Terengganu (UMT). Courses that she taught at the undergraduate level include Taxation and Accounting Information System. Her areas of research interest include taxation and information system. She has published few research papers for either proceedings or publication. She can be contacted at Universiti Malaysia Terengganu, Department of Accounting and Finance, Faculty of Management and Economics, Mengabang Telipot, 21030 Kuala Terengganu, Terengganu, Malaysia.Email: roshaiza@umt.edu.my.

SHARE REPURCHASES ANNOUNCEMENT EFFECT ON EARNINGS: EVIDENCE FROM SOUTH AFRICA

L.W. Makasi, UNISA Graduate School for Business Leadership J. W. Kruger, UNISA Graduate School for Business Leadership

ABSTRACT

This study investigates the effect share repurchases announcements have on earnings of companies listed on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange over a period of 8 years from 2001 to 2008. The study investigates 27 companies listed in the middle capitalization and large capitalization stocks of the Johannesburg Stock Exchange. The study measured earnings by 1) earnings per share percentage change, 2) dividend per share percentage change and 3) cash flow per share percentage change. These variables were investigated over a period of 6 years, 3 years pre- and 3 years post-announcement of share repurchase. The data was analyzed and tested using the T-test and the Wilcoxon parametric paired test.

JEL: G14

KEYWORDS: Stock buy-back, share repurchases, repurchase announcement, earnings

INTRODUCTION

Since 1 July 1999, South African companies have been allowed by law to repurchase their own shares. This was enacted by the amendment of the Companies Act, Act 61 of 1973 (RSA, 1973) to make provision for companies to acquire their own shares. The Act imposes various restrictive regulations on repurchase activities, mainly to guard against liquidity and solvency being compromised. According to Bester et al (2010), the repurchase of shares has been limited. The uncertainty about tax laws and the inconsistency between the Companies Act and the Johannesburg Stock Exchange (JSE) listing requirements were the main reasons for the slow pace. Once these were clarified, the number of companies in June 2007, making 312 repurchase announcements (Bester, 2008). Unlike the American markets, that have extensive databases to use for repurchase research, South Africa is faced by a lack of comprehensive share repurchase databases. Share buyback is a decision taken by management to repurchase the company shares in the market place, reducing its number of issued shares.

Many public listed companies in different markets have started using share repurchases as an additional form of cash distribution to shareholders. Companies are faced with strategic decision of allocating surplus capital, either through investing in line with business objectives or to return cash to debt holders and shareholders. An investigation of the open market share repurchases by Ikenberry, Lakonishok, and Vermealen (1995) found that stocks of companies making repurchases experience an immediate 3.5% average abnormal return, as well as a 12% average abnormal return during the longer term period of four years following the announcement date. In South Africa, Daly (2002) and Bhana (2007) have gone to great length in proving the immediate and long-term impact of share repurchase on company share prices. If future earnings of the company were to become negatively affected by the repurchase of its shares, then the firm's ability to make other distributions could become negatively impacted. This could lead to the reduction or elimination of other distributions to owners, such as dividends on various classes of shares issued by companies. The primary objective of our study was to test whether companies that announced buybacks of their own common stocks had an observable difference in earnings returns following such an announcement. Share buybacks have implications for affordability. If companies announce their intention to complete the repurchase with internal funds, this implies that earnings will not be negatively affected by the repurchase irrespective of the number of shares targeted for the repurchase.

L. W. Makasi & J. W. Kruger | AT + Vol. 5 + No. 1 + 2013

The remainder of this paper is organized as follows: A section on literature review giving the background to the study, then a methodology section, followed by results and a concluding section.

LITERATURE REVIEW

There is no limit to the number of shares that can be bought back under specific authority in terms of the JSE Listing requirements; however, companies are required to repurchase a maximum of 20% of their issued shares in a financial year (JSE, 2008). In South Africa share repurchase intentions are announced through the JSE SENS. Once companies have acquired accumulative 3% of their initial number of issued shares and any other 3% thereafter, the announcement must be made to the SENS (RSA, 1999). Company's management communicates their intentions with investors and general public through the announcement of repurchase plans. Although disclosure of share repurchase is required by the JSE, these are conducted quietly and at the sole discretion of the company, without further announcements, as long as the repurchase is within the required limits. It is for the reason of flexibility that most literature studied on share repurchases covers announcement rather than actual repurchase transactions; therefore this study treated announcements as a proxy for an actual repurchase on earnings and common stocks return. She used six years data, three years pre-announcement and three post-announcement. Four variables were used to measure earnings. This study revealed a significant relationship between pre-announcement means of these variables and the post-announcement means.

Managers of companies would often signal to investors that their shares are undervalued. Investors would believe the announcement and buy the share as they believe management has inside information or they could ignore the announcement due to a belief that management is too optimistic. Numerous studies on share repurchase have shown that repurchases happen more often among value shares than growth shares. Grullon (2000) shows two forms of signaling explanation on share repurchase: Repurchases convey management's optimism about the company's future earnings and cash flow. In this form, the company uses repurchases to correct its inability to communicate convincingly its prospects to the market.

Management expresses its disagreement with how the market is pricing their company's shares. In this form, the market fails to reflect publicly available information in the price of the share, resulting in market inefficiency.Because of information asymmetry, management's belief that the share trades at a discount to its intrinsic value results in a decision to repurchase, benefiting long-term shareholders when the price recovers. There is extensive literature demonstrating that the company's decision to repurchase is influenced by a perceived undervaluation. Dittmar (2008) found that about 86% of CFOs agreed an undervalued stock was the most dominant reason for share repurchases. The Barth and Kasznik (1999) study suggested that the intangible assets were significantly positively related to share repurchases. The findings on asymmetric information are also supported by Sanders and Carpenter (2003).

Literature reveals that many empirical studies report that open market repurchases are associated with significant negative performance prior to the announcement and followed consistently by positive stock market reactions associated with the signal of a company's intent to repurchase its own shares (Ikenberry et al (1995); Bhana, 2007; Lin et al (2011). An investigation of the open market share repurchases by Ikenberry et al (1995) found that stocks of companies making repurchases experience an immediate 3.5% average abnormal return, as well as a 12% average abnormal return during the longer period of 4 years following the announcement date. Lin et al (2011) found that different industries in the Taiwan market responded differently to announcements; some were more sensitive than others.

Bhana (2007) noted an abnormal return of 4.38%, which is an initial market reaction to repurchases on the JSE. Using a buy and hold strategy, the three year abnormal performance following the announcement was 14.35%. Bhana further looked at companies in the JSE that showed a high book to

value (undervalued), and in a three year period these companies showed a 32.78% abnormal return. Bens et al (2003) are of the view that share repurchases are used strategically to increase reported EPS. There is however, very little evidence that repurchases are used to boost reported EPS.

SAMPLE SELECTION, DATA SOUCE AND METHODOLOGY

The study's sample consisted of companies that made share repurchase announcements in the years 2001 through 2008. A sample of 27 companies was selected from the Top 40 and mid cap stocks. The following criteria were used to select the 27 stocks:Each company was a designated middle capitalization or large capitalization ranked firm at the time of the study (not time of announcement). These companies must have at least made one repurchase announcement between 2001 and 2008.Small capitalization companies are excluded purely because of poor data availability; they could be repurchasing their shares as a major shareholding transaction. Companies that do not have a 3 year data pre-announcement year and 3 year data post-announcement year were excluded.The average proportion of shares to be repurchase target of 7% (Stephens & Weisbach, 1998).This study did not examine the determinants of alternative distributions, as it only focused on the effect on earnings from a repurchase announcement, with the announcement a proxy for the actual repurchase of shares. The data on announcements for this study was obtained from the JSE SENS, the company's website (or the companies' websites) and Standard Bank online trading.

Research Question: Do companies that announce a repurchase of their own shares demonstrate a postannouncement change on earnings? Earnings returns were measured by the following financial instruments:Percentage change in cash flow per share from the prior year (CFPSP), Percentage change in earnings per share from the prior year (EPSP), Percentage change in dividend per share from the prior year (DPSP)

Hypotheses To Be Tested: The research hypotheses: There is a significant difference between pre- and post-announcement values for earnings when earnings are measured by CFPSP, EPSP, and DPSP.

Statistical Procedures And Limitations: This study utilized the Wilcoxon signed-rank test as a supplement to the t-test. The Wilcoxon test can be useful when the distribution may not be normal, but the sample is believed to be symmetrical with the same mean and median. The statistical tests were conducted using Microsoft Excel

ANALYSIS AND PRESENTATION OF RESULTS

The study focused on investigating the effect an announcement has on earnings of a company in a three year period after the announcement. The financial characteristics of each firm were examined for a period of six fiscal year ends, with 3 years occurring in the pre-announcement period and 3 years occurring in the post- announcement period.

Table 1: Summary Statistics of the Data Sample over an 8 Year Period from 2001 to 2008

Financial Metrics f and Earnings	or Target Repurchase	Minimum Metric	of	Maximum Metric	of	Mean Metrics	of	Standard Metrics	Deviation	of
Target shares %		0.02		16.76		4.57		5.00		
EPŠP	Pre	-2960.00		2442.11		42.74		326.24		
	Post	-96.81		3130.00		62.82		201.43		
DPSP	Pre	-100.00		718.18		47.85		57.78		
	Post	-100.00		640.74		13.41		48.67		
CFPSP	Pre	-1100.00		397.13		23.24		103.72		
	Post	-1428.57		1181.82		10.12		155.96		

Table 1 gives a summary of the main statistic values for target shares, EPSP, DPSP and CFPSP; the latter three variables are used to measure earnings. Both the pre-announcement values and the post-announcement values of the earnings variables are summarized into minimum, maximum, mean and standard deviation values. This table shows "targeted shares" as the first metrics, which gives the proportion of shares target. This variable had a range of 0.02% to 16.76% for the sample size of 27 announcements. The sample had an average repurchase target of 4.57% and a median of 2.83%.

It was expected that the means of the three financial variables would show a significant difference between the pre- and post-announcement values. As shown in Table 1, there seemed to be a bigger difference between the pre-announcement mean values and post-announcement mean values for all three metrics. The post-announcement mean for the EPSP was larger than the pre-announcement mean value, while for both DPSP and CFPSP the post-announcement mean was smaller than the pre-announcement, which suggests a smaller degree of change in earnings after a repurchase announcement was made than before an announcement.

Table 2: Mean Comparison of the Pre-announcement and Post-announcement on the Variables Using the t-Test

Metrics Earnings	for	Mean Difference	Std. Deviation	Std. Error	t-Test	df	Sign Test (2-tailed)
EPSP		20.08	481.75	92.71	0.22	26.00	0.83
DPSP		-34.44	79.01	15.20	-2.27**	26.00	0.03**
CFPSP		-13.12	153.77	29.59	-0.44	26.00	0.66

Table 2 shows the estimated results from a difference in means of pre- announcement and post announcement. The study looked at the standard deviation, standard error of all three metrics for earnings (EPSP, DPSP and CFPSP) and calculates the t-test and identifies its level of significance. The t-test refers to the t-value of the standardized-residual cross-section. Sign test refers to the nonparametric test. ***, ** and * indicate significance at the 1, 5 and 10 percent levels, respectively.

The differences in the means were not significant for two of the three metrics; this implies that there was no statistically significant difference between pre and post announcement financial figures for EPSP and CFPSP. Only the DPSP showed a significant difference at 95% confidence level. Two of the values in the last column of Table 2 are larger than 0.10, indicating that the differences in means for pre- and post-announcement values were not significant for these variables at a minimum acceptable confidence level of 90%. The findings of this study using a t-test were contrary to the expectations of the study. The study expected the earnings to change significantly once a company announces a share buyback plan or strategy. It is very possible that the sample of 27 firms was very small and not normally distributed, hence no insignificant difference for some of the variables between pre- and post-announcement means. The significant change in divided could be an indication that these companies are starting to use both dividend and repurchase as a payout strategy to shareholders instead of only using dividend. The Wilcoxon test was conducted to address this shortfall and its findings are presented in Table 3 below.

Table 3: Mean Comparison of the Pre-announcement and Post-announcement on the Variables using the Wilcoxon test

Financial Metric for Earnings	Z-score	Sign Test (2-tailed)
EPSP	-1.16	0.25
DPSP	-2.34	0.02**
CFPSP	-1.80	0.07*

This table shows the z-score from calculating the mean differences between the pre-announcement and post-announcement values using the Wilcoxon format. The z-score is then calculated from the standard deviation of the difference and the difference sample mean. The corresponding significance level to the z-score is identified from the normal distribution table. Sign test refers to the nonparametric test. These tests examine the significant levels of mean differences. ***, ** and * indicate significance at the 1, 5 and 10 percent levels, respectively.

The Wilcoxon test can be useful if the sample size is considered small and/or if the distribution of values is far from normal. The results in Table 3 show the observed significance values for two of the three variables, DPSP and CFPSP, which are less than 0.05 and 0.1 respectively. A significant difference between the means of pre- and post-announcement on DPSP (p=.02) and CFPSP (p=.07) was found. Therefore the announcement to repurchase shares had a significant effect on earnings change after the announcement date. The results from the Wilcoxon test are not consistent with the null hypothesis for two of the three variables. This test supports the hypothesis that announcing a share buy-back has an effect on the company's earnings in the three years after the announcement. The findings in Table 3 indicate that earnings can change in either a favorable or unfavorable direction after a repurchase announcement, but

the study did not predict the direction. Looking at Table 1, it is obvious that the repurchase announcement led to a reduction in the mean of DPSP and CFPSP post the announcement.

CONCLUSION

The primary objective of our study was to test whether companies that announced buybacks of their own common stocks had an observable difference in earnings returns following such an announcement. This study attempts to investigate the effect share repurchases announcements have on earnings of companies listed on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange (JSE) in South Africa. Over a period of 8 years from 2001 to 2008, the study explores the statistical significance of the impact the shares targeted for buyback have on earnings. These earnings are examined through the use of three financial metrics. 1) Percentage change in cash flow per share from the prior year (CFPSP), 2) Percentage change in earnings per share from the prior year (DPSP). Share buyback announcement was used a proxy for actual repurchase and the financial characteristics of each company were examined for a period of six fiscal year ends, with 3 years occurring in the pre-announcement period, and 3 years occurring in the post- announcement period. The null hypothesis of this study was that, there is no significant difference between the pre- and post-announcement values for earnings when earnings are measured by CFPSP, EPSP, and DPSP.

The first set of results showed a contrary output to predictions of this study. The t-tests revealed that only DPDP showed a significant difference between pre- and post-announcement earnings as measured by the matrices described above. Some reasons for results contrary to predictions may be that certain characteristics of the sample influenced these findings. The study did not distinguish a firm that makes repeated announcements from a firm making its first repurchase announcement nor did the study consider the market risk factors of a firm and any effect this may have on a repurchase target.

A non-parametric Wilcoxon test was then used. Considering that the number of companies investigated was only 27 which is a small sample, the Wilcoxon test is usually more effective with small samples and also useful if the distribution of values is not normal. The results indicated that there exist significant differences between the means of pre- and post- announcement of these two financial metrics DPSP (p=0.02) and CFPSP (p=0.7), which suggest that the announcement to repurchase shares had a significant effect on earnings change after the announcement date.

Consistent with expectations were findings that post-announcement earnings differed significantly from pre-announcement earnings for two of the three metrics with the Wilcoxon test. This finding led to the rejection of the null hypothesis. Some limitations of the study included the exclusion of companies that started making repurchase announcement in 2008. These companies were excluded as they lack three years post announcement financial information. Their three year financial information will only be realized at the end of 2011 which is the year of this research. Metropolitan which has been one of the companies that actively used share repurchase as a distributing strategy to shareholders was also excluded. This is because it was difficult to get information due to its recent merger with momentum to form MMI. This study provides some evidence that South African business leaders are becoming more receptive to the use of share repurchases as and additional form to dividend of distributing earnings. The positive impact repurchase announcement has had over share prices with the impact they have on earnings post the announcement is an evidence of a paradigm shift. Further research may reveal the extent to which companies in South Africa substitute share repurchases for dividend. Further work in this area can also include looking at the significant impact the proportion of shares repurchased has on earnings.

REFERENCES

Barth, M.E. & R. Kasznik (1999) "Share repurchases and intangible assets. *Journal of Economics and Accounting*, 28(2), p. 211-241.

L. W. Makasi & J. W. Kruger | AT + Vol. 5 + No. 1 + 2013

Bester, P.G. (2008). Shareholder distribution choices for industrial companies listed on the JSE: Share buybacks vs. dividends. Unpublished MBA research report. Bellville: University of Stellenbosch.

Bester, P.G., N. Wesson & W.D. Hamman (2010) "Share Buy-backs for a Selection of JSE Listed Companies: An Exploratory Study," *South African Journal of Business Management*, 41(4), p. 47 - 58

Bens, D. A., V. Nagar, D.J. Skinner & M.F.H. Wong (2003) "Employee stock options, EPS dilution, and stock repurchases," *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, 36(1-3), p. 51-90.

Bhana, N. (2007). "The market reaction to open market share repurchases announcement: The South African experience," *Investment Analysts Journal*, 65, p. 25-36.

Daly, K.J. (2002) Share returns of companies announcing share repurchases under a general authority. Unpublished MBA research report. Johannesburg: University of the Witwatersrand.

Dittmar, A. (2000) "Why do firms repurchase stock?" The Journal of Business 73(3), p. 331-355.

Grullon, G. (2000) The Information Content of Share Repurchase Programs. *Working Paper*. Rice University.

Ikenberry, D., J. Lakonishok & T. Vermaelen (1995) "Market Underreaction To Open Market Share Repurchases," *Journal of Financial Economics*, 39, p. 181-208.

Kelly M.H. (2008) "Post-Announcement Effects on Earnings from Share Repurchases: An Empirical Study." School of Business and Entrepreneurship, Nova Southeastern University

Lin L., S. Lin & Y.A. Liu (2011) "Stock Repurchase Announcements and Stock Prices: Evidence from Taiwan," *The International Journal of Business and Finance Research*, 5(1), p. 1-12

Sanders, W. and M. Carpenter (2003) "Strategic Satisficing? A Behavioral-Agency Theory Perspective on Stock Repurchase Program Announcements," *Academy of Management Journal*, 46, p. 160-178.

Stephens, C. & M. Weisbach (1998) "Actual Share Reacquisitions In Open-Market Repurchase Programs," *Journal of Finance*, LIII(1), p. 313-333.

BIOGRAPHY

Lulamile Wiseman Makasi work for Novare Actuaries and Consultant (NAC) as head of business development. He has been instrumental in starting Novare's office in Johannesburg and has helped NAC win mandates worth over R 4 billion. Lulamile is married with three kids. He holds a B.Sc (Mathematics and Chemistry) B.Com (honors) in business administration and Masters in Business Leadership (MBL). e-mail: loza.makasi@gmail.com and phone: +27 11 447 9605 cell 0824157601

Dr. Jan Kruger is a senior lecturer in Corporate Finance. Dr. Kruger has been a professional investor and equity analyst for many years. He is also a non-executive director at a listed exploration company. Jan did his PhD "Finding the causal structure from the correlation matrix" in Computer Science at Wits. He holds the following qualifications: BSc(US), HonsBSc(Unisa), MSc(Wits), PhD(Wits), HOD(US) and is a member of the following professional societies: IODSA, IAS, SASA, CSSA, SAICSIT, ISBA, ORSSA. More information can be seen at : <u>http://za.linkedin.com/pub/jan-kruger/10/368/677</u> e-mail jkruger2000@yaho.com and phone +27 84 548 0747

THE IMPACT OF OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE ON VOLUNTARY CORPORATE DISCLOSURE IN ANNUAL REPORTS: EVIDENCE FROM FIJI

Ifraz Khan, University of the South Pacific Priyashni Vandana Chand, University of the South Pacific Professor Arvind Patel, University of the South Pacific

ABSTRACT

The extent of voluntary corporate disclosure by companies in annual reports in recent years has increased due to various factors. A number of prior studies examined the relationship between ownership concentration and voluntary corporate disclosure. Their findings suggest there is less voluntary corporate disclosure in family owned and high shareholder concentrated firms. On the other hand, companies with low shareholder concentration are likely to have more voluntary corporate disclosure because of the principal to agent relationship. Though studies have examined the impact of ownership structure on the extent of voluntary disclosure, there is still a need to investigate the issue in the Pacific Island countries, such as Fiji. The ownership structure of the companies in Fiji is highly concentrated. This paper examines the relationship between ownership structure and the extent of voluntary corporate disclosure in annual reports of listed companies in Fiji. A content analysis approach suggests how the ownership structure affects the extent of voluntary corporate disclosure in Fiji.

JEL: M14, M41

KEYWORDS: Ownership Structure, Voluntary Corporate Disclosure

INTRODUCTION

Voluntary corporate disclosures have received considerable attention following the recent corporate collapses, business scandals and emerging issue concerning the protection of minority shareholders. Annual reports are a primary medium various stakeholders rely on for making decisions. Thus management, responsible for preparing the annual reports, is accountable to all the stakeholders. As a result, they should disclose all relevant information in the annual reports for stakeholders to make efficient economic decisions. In addition, increased disclosures of information, apart from the ones required by the standards and the regulators are important. These additional disclosures protect the interest of minority shareholders and ensure transparency of company's information to its interested parties. Meek, et al. (1995) define voluntary corporate disclosure as "disclosures in excess of requirements in annual reports and other media as deemed relevant by the company management for an effective decision-making by the users of the financial reports." However, due to the separation of ownership and control the incentive for the management to provide additional disclosures decreases.

Prior studies have examined the impact of ownership structure on voluntary corporate disclosures in countries such as US, UK, Continental European countries, Australia, New Zealand and in the Asian markets (see, Cooke ,1991; Frost & Pownall,1994; Gray, et al.,1995; Meek, et al.,1995; Turpin & Dezoort ,1998; Hossain, et al., 1994; and Chau & Gray, 2002). Two of these studies found that in concentrated companies there were less voluntary corporate disclosures compared to dispersed companies (Chau and Gray, 2002; Hossain, et al., 1994). These studies found a positive association between wider share ownership and voluntary corporate disclosures by firms.

In a more recent study, Samaha and Dahawy (2011), note that few studies examine the disclosure practices of companies in developing economies. The current paper examines the level of voluntary corporate disclosures done by listed firms in Fiji. The South Pacific Stock Exchange (SPSE), currently highly inactive with only 16 firms listed on the exchange, is responsible for monitoring these listed firms in Fiji. These listed firms have high shareholder concentration that could have a considerable influence on the level of voluntary corporate disclosures the firms make.

The controlling shareholders in these concentrated companies mostly maximize their self-interest rather than that of the minority shareholders. Thus, there is increased emphasis on the need to ensure the protection of the interests of minority shareholders. Minority shareholders are entitled to receive all relevant information to make an informed judgment on the performance of the company. Disclosure of less voluntary information to the minority shareholders is one way controlling shareholders expropriate minority shareholders.

A major contribution of this paper to the existing literature is an examination of the extent of voluntary corporate disclosures in an economy where listed firms mainly have a highly concentrated ownership structure. The paper provides insight on the differences that exist in voluntary corporate disclosures among the shareholder concentrated companies. Overall, we find in highly concentrated companies listed on the SPSE, the level of voluntary corporate disclosures is low.

The sections that follow discuss the literature and the research methodology. The fourth section sheds light on the results and discussions. The final section concludes the paper, with the limitations of the current study and provides recommendations for future research.

LITERATURE REVIEW

Agency theory assumes a separation of ownership from control would lead to agency problems, as the agents, managers, will not always maximize the shareholder value. Agency problems theoretically arise due to divergence of interest and asymmetric information (Chrisman et al., 2004). Managers have incentives to pursue their own self-interests at the shareholder's expense (Agrawal & Knoeber, 1996). Thus, a complete contract could avert any moral hazard problems, if costless perfect information flow had existed. In that case, violation of the contract due to opportunistic behavior, would lead to severe consequences for the agent. Since a perfect complete contract is not feasible, the principal uses various incentives, punishments, bonding and the managerial processes to align the interest and the actions of management (Chrisman et al., 2004).

Consequently, to minimize the agency problems, firms incur agency costs. Fama & Jensen (1983) define agency costs as the costs of all the activities and operating systems designed to align the interests or actions of the managers with the interest of the owners. It includes the costs of structuring, monitoring and bonding a set of contracts among agents with conflicting interests (Fama & Jensen, 1983). The shareholders incur agency costs if the manager owns less than 100 percent of the equity due to management shirking and perquisite consumption (Ang et al., 2000). The managers have incentives to use the finance and other assets of the firm for their own benefit.

Monitoring costs are expenditures incurred by the principal to measure, observe and control the agent's behavior. Examples are mandatory audit costs, costs to establish management compensation plans, budget restrictions and operating rules. However, these costs are not borne by the principal and are accounted in the agent's remunerations. Poor or uncertain managers will face higher levels of monitoring compared to managers with a good reputation. Thus, as the cost of monitoring increases, the manager's remunerations decrease. Bonding also controls the agency problem. Since the agents ultimately bear the

monitoring costs associated with the contracts, they will establish mechanisms to assure that they behave in the interest of the principal. Jensen & Meckling (1976) define bonding costs as the costs of establishing and complying with these mechanisms, which includes the costs of preparation of financial reports.

Consequently, agency problems can also be rooted from differences in shareholder concentration. The concentrated shareholders provide extensive monitoring over the management, as their benefits outweigh the costs of monitoring, allowing these shareholders to recoup their investment (Gillian & Starks, 2000; Shleifer & Vishny, 1986). Large controlling shareholders in companies with concentrated ownership have more voting rights and larger incentives to monitor management than the shareholders in firms with disperse ownership. Thus, monitoring efforts by the firms with concentrated ownership would reduce the principal–agent problem between the shareholders and managers (Shleifer & Vishny, 1997). Since effective monitoring activities lead to lower levels of accountability to provide various disclosures to these shareholders, less voluntary corporate disclosure is expected.

Conversely, the cost of monitoring compared to the benefits of monitoring is high for the shareholders in dispersedly owned firms. Shleifer & Vishny (1986) state that dispersed shareholders lack incentives to monitor management due to free rider problem. Thus, voluntary corporate disclosure would be higher in firms with dispersed ownership so that the principals can ensure optimization of their economic interests by effectively monitoring the agent's behavior (Chau & Gray, 2002). Hence, as dispersed shareholders do not extensively monitor the agents behavior it is expected that the managers would hold greater accountability to shareholders and would therefore provide more voluntary disclosures on the performance of the management and the business.

A number of studies show that agency costs decrease when the owner is actively involved in the daily activities. See, for example, Chrisman et al., (2004); Young et al., (2008); Hu et al., (2009); Jensen & Meckling (1976); Fama & Jensen (1983); Ang, et al., (2000).

Ownership structure is defined by block holder ownership, managerial ownership, state ownership, legalperson ownership and foreign listing/shares ownership (Huafang & Jianguo, 2007). The two types of ownership structure are shareholder concentration and dispersed ownership. Shareholder concentration occurs when a single largest shareholder owns majority of the shares while many dispersed investors own the rest. This structure is common in Continental European and emerging and developing economies such as China (Xu & Wang, 1999; Chen et al., 2005), India (Selarka, E., 2005) and Fiji (Naidu & Patel, 2009; Dharwadkar et al., 2000). On the other hand, dispersed ownership relates to many shareholders holding small proportion of shares (La Porta et al., 1999). Dispersed ownership structure is common in organizations in developed economies such as United States and United Kingdom.

Ownership structure influences the extent of voluntary corporate disclosure. The ownership structure of an organization determines the level of monitoring and thus affects the extent of voluntary disclosures (Samaha & Dahawy, 2011). To measure ownership structure, this study uses 'block holder ownership', which is the percentage of ordinary shares held by substantial shareholders. Atmaja (2009) categorized firms as closely held (concentrated) or widely held (dispersed) based on whether a single shareholder controls more than 20% of the equity in a company. Twenty percent of shareholding is sufficient for effective control and decision-making. Prior studies such as Faccio et al., (2001) and La Porta et al., (1999) also used this definition. Hence, for the current study a company is considered concentrated company if the controlling shareholder in the company holds more than twenty percent of the shares.

Managerial ownership, measured by the percentage of ordinary shares held by the CEO and Executive Directors, also influences the level of voluntary disclosure (Samaha and Dahawy, 2011). According to the entrenchment theory, higher managerial ownership would lead to lower voluntary disclosure (Fan and

Wong, 2002; Morck et al., 2005). On the other hand, greater agency problems exist when managerial ownership is low simply because the executives have higher incentives to consume the bonuses and less incentive to maximize job performance (Samaha and Dahawy, 2011). Hence, voluntary disclosure by management might increase to reduce the firm's cost of monitoring by the controlling shareholders. Samaha and Dahawy (2011) suggest that the level of voluntary disclosure will increase with the decrease in managerial ownership

Previous studies have indicated there is a negative relationship between block-holder ownership and the level of voluntary disclosure (McKinnon & Dalimunthe, 1993; Mitchell et al., 1995). Firms with concentrated ownership structure may have less voluntary corporate disclosure for various reasons. Firstly, the controlling shareholders are able to monitor the behavior of management and have access to all the relevant information and thus do not necessitate additional disclosures. Secondly, the major shareholders in concentrated firms have greater incentives to monitor the behavior of management, implying less principal to agent problem, and consequently less need for voluntary corporate disclosures. In addition, controlling shareholders can effectively decide on the accounting reporting policies adopted by the business (Fan & Wong, 2002). This implies lower voluntary disclosure because the controlling shareholders do not have incentives to act in the interest of minority shareholders.

The type of controlling shareholders also influences the voluntary disclosures. Concentrated family owned firms would have less voluntary disclosures to ensure that the outside stakeholders do not have access to company information. In addition, firms having institutions as the controlling shareholders, have less incentive for voluntary disclosure. Institutions, as major financiers, are able to access the relevant information, while the other stakeholders are unable to demand additional information. However, we expect that voluntary disclosures will be higher in institutionally owned firms when compared to family owned firms, as institutions are not directly involved in the daily operations.

Board independence also has an impact on the level of voluntary corporate disclosure. Gul & Leung (2004) found a significant positive association between voluntary segment disclosure and board independence for firms with less than 25 percent director ownership. This implies that greater board independence would lead to higher voluntary disclosures. A number of prior studies have also examined the association between corporate governance attributes and voluntary disclosures. Studies that examined the impact of corporate governance attributes on voluntary disclosures in developing countries include the work of Barako et al., (2006), Cheng & Courtenay (2006), Chau & Gray (2002), Eng & Mak (2003), Haniffa & Cooke (2002) and Ho and Wong (2001). This paper, therefore, specifically considers one key corporate governance attribute, the shareholder concentration and its association with voluntary corporate disclosure.

Another type of ownership structure is government ownership. Firms owned by governments are likely to have less voluntary disclosure because of the presence of extensive government monitoring. On the other hand, government owned corporations might have more voluntary disclosures to attract more potential investors.

It follows from the above discussions that low levels of voluntary corporate disclosure occurs in a country where the listed companies are highly concentrated. As all the companies in the South Pacific Stock Exchange are highly concentrated, this study provides insight into how the controlling shareholders in concentrated firms are able to influence the level of voluntary corporate disclosure in annual reports. The unique ownership structure in Fiji itself gives us a motivation to investigate this issue by considering the disclosures in the annual reports. Thus, the research question that the current study addresses is:

"How is the level of voluntary corporate disclosure influenced in highly concentrated firms?"

RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

This study aims to investigate the level of voluntary corporate disclosures done by the firms listed on the South Pacific Stock Exchange (SPSE), by taking a content analysis approach. Content Analysis provides an opportunity to gauge better and detailed information about the types of disclosures provided in annual reports. While previous studies examined the level of voluntary disclosures empirically, this method would not be appropriate in this study due to the small sample of listed firms in Fiji.

The Capital Markets Development Authority (CMDA) Corporate Governance Code introduced in Fiji, in the year 2008, requires all the listed companies and financial intermediaries to adhere to the principles and recommendations provided in the code on a 'if not, why not' approach. The reporting requirement in this code applies to firms with the first financial year commencing after 1st January, 2009. Hence, to carry out the content analysis we focused on 2009 and 2010 annual reports, years subsequent to the implementation of the code. The two-year period analysis would also provide insight on whether the code has any impact on the level of voluntary corporate disclosure.

This study adopts a two-tier analysis. In the first analysis, we consider 14 out of the 16 companies listed on the SPSE with the exclusion of the two international companies. The results of this study provide an overview of the companies that provide voluntary corporate disclosures in their annual reports. We classified corporate disclosures under four categories, namely, Strategic Information, Corporate Social Responsibility, other Non-Financial Information and Financial Information. In the second analysis, we examine the impact of ownership type on the level of voluntary corporate disclosures by selecting three family owned firms and three institutional owned firms. This study uses the 'number of sentences disclosed' as a measure to determine the level of voluntary corporate disclosure under each category.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Table 1 below shows that the voluntary corporate disclosure by the listed firms in Fiji is very low. The analysis shows that only 6 out of 14 companies provide disclosures on strategic information and corporate social reporting (CSR). Specifically, the results indicate that only 46% of the listed companies provide strategic information and only 15% of the listed companies disclose CSR information in their annual reports. This implies that the companies do not consider it necessary to disclose information concerning the company's goals and objectives and the social and environmental practices. The companies that disclose CSR information mainly consists of institutionally owned companies. In addition, the table reveals that while companies do provide some general information about the board of directors, very few (maximum of 8) companies disclose information on the different aspects such Board of Directors (BOD) qualifications, other corporate governance practices, board committees and key executives. Moreover, the results indicate that comparatively, from the year 2009 to year 2010, the number of companies that provided voluntary corporate disclosure had increased. This increase may be due to the introduction of the CMDA code of corporate governance in 2008.

Companies do not find it necessary to disclose additional financial information in their annual reports. As shown in the table, approximately 60% of the companies disclose financial performance history and only a maximum of 46% of the companies provide financial analysis with the use of graphs and tables. Finally, the results also reveal that most of the companies that provide voluntary corporate disclosures are institutional owned. Since most listed companies in Fiji are family and institutional owned, the results in Table 1, provides the basis to analyze and compare the actual level of voluntary corporate disclosures in the annual reports of the family and institutional owned firms.

	2	2009	2010		
Information Type	Number of Companies	Percentage of Companies	Number of Companies	Percentage of Companies	
STDATECIC INFORMATION					
Constral comparate information	2	22	4	21	
General corporate information	3	23	4	51	
Corporate strategy	5	38	4	31	
Future prospects	6	46	4	31	
CORPORATE SOCIAL REPORTING	_			• •	
Environmental Information	2	15	3	20	
Charitable/ Community programs	1	8	1	8	
Marketplace	1	8	1	8	
OTHER NON - FINANCIAL INFORMATION					
General information about BOD	14	100	14	100	
BOD Qualification	2	15	2	15	
Board Committees	3	23	8	62	
Other Corporate governance practices	1	8	7	54	
Key Executive/employee information	7	54	5	38	
Key Executive/employee mornation	1	54	5	50	
FINANCIAL INFORMATION					
Financial history	5	38	8	62	
Financial analysis (graphs/tables)	6	46	6	46	

Table 1: Voluntary Corporate Disclosure in Annual Reports by Listed Firms in Fiji

This table shows the voluntary corporate disclosure by the 14 listed firms in Fiji, under the four categories. It shows the number of companies, which provide disclosures under the respective category and sub-categories for the two years, with the respective percentages of companies disclosing under each sub-categories.

Type of Ownership and Number of Sentences Disclosed

Tables 2-5 consider the impact of ownership type on the level of voluntary corporate disclosure classified in four categories namely strategic information, corporate social reporting, other non-financial information such as board of directors and corporate governance mechanisms and the voluntary financial information. The results from Table 2 show that the selected companies provide few sentences about their strategic information. This information is important for existing and potential shareholders to determine the company's goals, objectives and future prospects. The result could provide suggestions that the companies do not want to disclose their corporate objectives and future goals to minority stakeholders.

Table 2: Strategic Information

Firms	Number of Sentences					
	General Co	rporate Information	Corporat	e Strategy	Future P	rospects
	2009	2010	2009	2010	2009	2010
FAMILY OWNERSHIP						
1	0	0	0	0	0	0
2	0	0	0	0	1	0
3	0	0	9	9	0	0
INSTITUTIONAL OWNERSHIP						
1	2	2	4	0	0	0
2	0	0	0	0	0	0
3	0	0	0	0	3	3

This table shows the level of strategic information disclosed by the selected companies is low irrespective of the ownership type. From the firms selected for analysis two family-owned and two institutional-owned firms had provided some strategic information particularly focusing on the corporate strategy. Firms disclosed a maximum of nine sentences with respect to the strategic information.

The results on corporate social responsibility in Table 3 show that the companies place less emphasis on the CSR reporting. The companies only disclosed positive CSR information. The result implies that the companies do not consider that CSR reporting is important for the stakeholders.

Firms	Number of Sentences of Voluntary Information Disclosed								
	Social/Co	nmunity Program	Envir	ronment					
	2009	2010	2009	2010					
FAMILY OWNERSHIP									
1	0	0	0	0					
2	0	0	0	0					
3	3	1	2	2					
INSTITUTIONAL OWNERSHIP									
1	0	0	0	0					
2	0	0	0	0					
3	0	0	0	0					

Table 3: Corporate Social Reporting

This table shows the number of sentences disclosed by each firm with respect to the corporate social reporting. The level of CSR information in the annual reports is extremely low, as only one out of the six firms selected had disclosed two sentences regarding CSR. The firm that had disclosed this information was family owned.

Table 4, shows the institutional owned firms disclose more sentences regarding corporate governance than the family owned firms. The first column shows the firms that disclosed the highest number of sentences regarding the board of director's composition, responsibilities and duties. However, the institutional owned firms provided more information as evidenced by more sentences disclosed with respect to the board of directors, other sub committees and other corporate governance mechanisms. The number of sentences disclosed were higher in the year 2010 compared to year 2009. This shows that introduction of the code influenced the companies to provide higher level of disclosure to ensure compliance with the code. Furthermore, there is a lack of information regarding the board of director qualification, board committees and other corporate governance mechanisms. This raises the question about the effectiveness of the corporate governance in these firms.

Table 4: Other Non-Financial Information

Firms		Numb	er of Sente	ences of V	/oluntary	/ Informa	tion Discl	losed				
	BC)D	BC	DD	Bo	ard	Othe	r CG	Emp	loyees	Total Numb	oer of
	Gen	eral	Qualif	ication	Comm	nittees	Mecha	anisms			Sentences Dis	sclosed
	2009	2010	2009	2010	2009	2010	2009	2010	2009	2010	2009	2010
FAMILY	OWNERSHIP											
1		13	0	0	0	0	0	18	0	0	28	22
1	1	15	0	0	0	9	0	10	0	0	20	22
2	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	3	1
3	2	4	0	0	2	2	0	0	4	3	8	9
INSTITUT	TIONAL OWN	ERSHIP										
1	23	23	36	0	12	13	0	15	5	0	76	54
2	11	12	0	0	0	20	0	26	0	0	11	58
3	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	17	0	0	1	18

This table shows the number of sentences of voluntary information disclosed in the annual reports with respect to the board of directors and the other corporate governance mechanisms.

Moreover, the listed companies also disclose very limited voluntary financial information in their annual reports as indicated in Table 5. This may imply that the companies do not want the minority shareholders and other stakeholders to know the financial performance of the company over the years.

Table 5: Financial Information

Firms	Number of Pages of Voluntary Information Disclosed							
	Financia	al History	Financial Analysis	(Graphs and Tables)				
	2009	2010	2009	2010				
FAMILY OWNERSHIP								
1	0	2	0	0				
2	0	0	0	0				
3	1	1	1	1				
INSTITUTIONAL OWNERSHIP								
1	1	2	2	2				
2	0	0	0	0				
3	1	1	1	1				

This table shows that the selected companies mainly provided information on financial history over a ten-year period and financial analysis of the year with the use of graphs and tables. Two of the family owned firms and two of the institutional owned firms had provided the voluntary financial information for a maximum of two pages.

Finally, Table 6 shows the level of voluntary corporate disclosures had slightly increased from 2009 to 2010. On average family owned firms disclosed nine sentences of non-financial information in 2009 and about ³/₄ page of voluntary financial information. In 2010 it increased to 21 sentences and 1.3 pages respectively. On the other hand, institutional owned firms had disclosed 33 sentences of non-financial information and 1.7 pages of voluntary financial information while it increased to 45 sentences and 2 pages respectively.

Firm Type	Number of Sentences of Non-Financial Information (Strategic, CSR, & Other Non- Financial)		Number of Pages of Voluntary Financial Information (Financial History & Analysis)		
	2009	2010	2009	2010	
FAMILY OWNERSHIP					
1	1	40	0	2	
2	4	1	0	0	
3	22	21	2	2	
Average Sentences	9	21	0.7	1.3	
INSTITUTIONAL OWNERSHIP					
1	82	56	3	4	
2	11	58	0	0	
3	4	21	2	2	
Average sentences	33	45	1.7	2	

Table 6: Number of Sentences and Pages of all the Categories of Voluntary Disclosures

This table shows that institutional owned firms disclosed higher level of voluntary information compared to family owned firms.

DISCUSSION

Voluntary corporate information serves as an important basis for the various stakeholders to make decisions. For example, shareholders rely on the additional information to make future investment decisions. Voluntary corporate information is also important for minority shareholders in highly concentrated firms. The availability of voluntary corporate information about the company leads to less expropriation of the minority shareholders by the controlling shareholders.

The level of voluntary corporate information in the annual reports is low as shown by the results in this study. The companies place more emphasis on providing information related to the board of director's roles and responsibilities as recommended by the CMDA code of conduct. Furthermore, firms provide less information regarding their CSR practices. The firms that that do provide CSR information only provide positive information. The reason for the firms to provide only positive information is to gain and maintain legitimacy of their operations.

The level of voluntary information increased from year 2009 to 2010. This may have been due to the implementation of the CMDA code of conduct that became effective for annual reports after 2009.

CONCLUSION AND FUTURE RESEARCH

This study examined the impact of high shareholder concentration on the level of voluntary corporate disclosure. The introduction of the corporate governance code served as the basis for selecting two years of annual reports for analysis. The results of the paper support the prior evidence that there will be lower voluntary corporate disclosure in highly concentrated firms. In addition, we found that institutional owned concentrated firms provided increased voluntary disclosures compared to family owned firms. The results also indicate companies that disclosed the highest number of sentences regarding the board of directors and other corporate governance attributes.

This study provides a major contribution to the literature by providing insights on disclosure practices when there are differences in ownership structure of listed firms. The results of this paper provide implications on management's stewardship, responsibility and accountability held towards all stakeholders. There needs to be information transparency between firms and stakeholders to ensure that minority shareholders are being informed and protected. This is an emerging issue especially in concentrated firms as revealed in the ADB report (1999). Thus, the prevalence of high shareholder concentration in Fiji, calls for enhancing the transparency of information between the principal and agent. Moreover, the results show that the introduction of the CMDA Corporate Governance Code slightly increased their level of voluntary disclosures made by these listed firms in Fiji.

This study has limitations as it only examines annual reports. Future research could incorporate other mediums of reporting to substantiate the results obtained in this study on the link between ownership structure and voluntary disclosures. An interview or questionnaire approach would provide greater insight. Since this paper was only based on the content analysis of the annual reports, future studies can consider an interview and questionnaire approach to get the response of the prepares of the annual reports. In addition, an interview of the controlling shareholders and minority shareholders would also provide their perceptions regarding voluntary disclosure practices. Future researchers could also consider the level of voluntary corporate disclosure in state owned enterprises and private enterprises. Studies can also consider voluntary corporate disclosure in other media such as the company's web sites.

REFERENCES

Agrawal, A. & Knoeber, C (1996) "Firm Performance and Mechanisms to Control Agency Problems between Managers and Shareholders," *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis*, Vol. 31, p. 377-397.

Anderson, R. C. & Reeb, D. M (2004) "Board Composition: Balancing Family Influence in S & P 500 Firms," *Administrative Science Quarterly*, Vol. 49, p. 209-237.

Ang, J., Cole, R., & Lin, J (2000) "Agency Costs and Ownership Structure," *The Journal of Finance*, Vol. 55(1), p. 81-106.

Atmaja, L (2009) "Governance Mechanisms and Firm Value: The Impact of Ownership Concentration and Dividends," *Corporate Governance: an International Review*, Vol. 17(6), p. 694-709.

Barako, D. G., Hancock, P. & Izan, H. Y (2006) "Factors Influencing Voluntary Corporate Disclosure by Kenyan Companies," *Corporate Governance*, Vol. 14, p. 107-125.

Belal, A. & Momin, M (2009) "Corporate Social Reporting (CSR) in Emerging Economies: A Review and Future Direction," *Accounting in Emerging Economies*, Vol. 9, p. 119-143.

Berle, A. A & Means, G. C (1932) "The Modern Corporation and Private Property. New York," *Macmillan*.

Bolton, B. & Bhagat, S (2008) "Corporate Governance & Firm Performance," *Journal of Corporate Finance*, Vol. 14, p. 257-273.

Bowen, R., Rajgopal, S. & Venkatachalam, M (2008) "Accounting Discretion, Corporate Governance & Firm Performance," *Contemporary Accounting Research*, Vol. 25(2), p. 351-405.

Chau, G. & Gray, S (2002) "Ownership Structure and Corporate Voluntary Disclosure in Hong Kong and Singapore," The International Journal of Accounting, Vol. 37, p. 247-265.

Chen, G., Firth, M., Gao, D. & Rui, O (2005) "Ownership Structure, Corporate Governance & Fraud: Evidence from China," *Journal of Corporate Finance*, Vol. 12(3), p. 424-448.

Cheng, C. M. & Courtenay, S. M (2006) "Board Composition, Regulatory Regime and Voluntary Disclosure," *The International Journal of Accounting*, Vol. 41, p. 262-289.

Christman, J., Chua, J. & Litz, R (2004) "Comparing the Agency Costs of Family and Non-Family Firms: Conceptual Issues and Exploratory Evidence," *Entrepreneurship Theory & Practice*.

Cooke, T. E (1989) "Voluntary Disclosure Swedish Companies," *Journal of International Financial Management and accounting*, Vol. 1, p. 171-195.

Cooke, (1991) "An Assessment of Voluntary Disclosure in Annual Reports of Japanese Corporations," *International Journal of Accounting*, Vol. 26, p. 174-189.

Dharwadkar, R., George, G. & Brandes, P (2000) "Privatisation in Emerging Economies: an Agency Theory Perspective," Academy of Management Review, Vol. 25, p. 650-669.

Eng, L. L. & Mak, Y. T (2003) "Corporate Governance and Voluntary Disclosure," *Journal of Accounting and Public Policy*, Vol. 22, p. 325-345.

Faccio, M., Lang, L.H.P. & Young, L (2001) "Dividends and Expropriation," *American Economic Review*, Vol. 91, p. 54-78.

Fama, E. F. & Jensen, M. C (1983) "Separation of Ownership and Control," *Journal of Law and Economics*, Vol. 25, p. 301-325.

Fan, J. P. H. & Wong, T. J (2002) "Corporate Ownership Structure and the Informativeness of Accounting Earnings in East Asia," *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, Vol. 33, p. 401-425.

Frost, C. & Pownall, G (1994) "Accounting Disclosure Practices in the United States and the United Kingdom," *Journal of Accounting Research*, Vol. 32, p. 75-102.

Gillan, Stuart L. & Laura T, Starks (2000) "Corporate Governance Proposals and Shareholder Activism: The Role of Institutional Investors," *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 57, p. 275-305.

Gul, F. & Leung, S (2004) "Board Leadership, Outside Directors' Expertise and Voluntary Corporate Disclosures," *Journal of Accounting and Public Policy*, Vol. 23, p. 351-379

Haniffa, R. M. & Cooke, T. E (2002) "Culture, Corporate Governance and Disclosure in Malaysian Corporations," Vol. 38, p. 317-349.

Ho, S, S, M. & Wong, K. S (2001) "A Study of the Relationship between Corporate Governance Structures and the Extent of Voluntary Disclosure," *Journal of International Accounting, Auditing, & Taxation*, Vol. 10, p. 139-156.

Hossain, M., Tan, L. M. & Adams, M (1994) "Voluntary Disclosure in an Emerging Capital Market: Some Empirical Evidence from Companies Listed on the Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange," *International Journal of Accounting*, Vol. 29, p. 334-351.

Hu, H., Tam, O. & Tan, M (2009) "Internal Governance Mechanisms and Firm Performance in China," *Asia Pacific Journal of Management*.

Huafang, X., & Jianguo, Y (2007) "Ownership Structure, Board Composition and Corporate Voluntary Disclosure: Evidence from Listed Companies in China," *Managerial Auditing Journal*, Vol. 22(6), p. 604-619

Jensen, M., & Meckling, W (1976) "Theory of the Firm: Managerial Behavior, Agency Costs and Ownership Structure," *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 3, p. 305-360.

La Porta, R., Lopez-de-Silanes, F. & Shleifer, A (1999) "Corporate Ownership Around the World," *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 54, P. 471-517.

McKinnon, J. & Dalimunthe, L (1993) "Voluntary Disclosure of Segment Information by Australian Diversified Companies," *Accounting and Finance,* Vol. 33(1), P. 33-50.

Meek., Gray, M., Roberts., Clare, B. & Sidney, J (1995) "Facts Influencing Voluntary Annual Report Disclosures by US, UK and Continental European Multinational Corporations," *Journal of International Business Studies*, Vol. 96, p. 555-572.

Mitchell, J., Chia, C. & Loh, A (1995) "Voluntary Disclosure of Segment Information: Further Australian Evidence," *Accounting and Finance*, Vol. 35 (2), p. 1-16.

Morck, R., Wolfenzon, D. & Bernard, Y. (2005) "Corporate Governance, Economic Entrenchment, and Growth," *Journal of Economic Literature*, Vol. 43(3).

Morck, R., Masao, N. & Anil, S (2000) "Banks, Ownership Structure and Firm Value in Japan," *Journal of Business*, Vol. 73(4), p. 539-568.

Patel, A (2002) "Corporate Governance and the Role of Auditors," Fiji Institute of Accountants Journal

Rediker, K. J. & Seth, A (1995) "Boards of Directors and Substitution Effects of Alternative Governance Mechanisms", *Strategic Management Journal*, Vol. 16, p. 85–99.

Salteh, H., Nikoomaram, H. & Yaghoobnezhad, A (2011) "The Investigation of the Relationship between Corporate Governance and Earnings Management," *International Journal of Academic Research*, Vol. 3 (2).

Samaha, K. & Dahawy, K (2011) "An Empirical Analysis of Corporate Governance Structures and Voluntary Corporate Disclosure in Volatile Capital Markets: The Egyptian Experience," *International Journal of Accounting, Auditing and Performance Evaluation*, Vol. 7, p. 61-93.

Selarka, E (2005) "Ownership Concentration & Firm Value," Emerging Markets Finance & Trade, Vol. 41(6), p. 83-108.

Shleifer, A. & Vishny, R (1986) "Large Shareholders and Corporate Control," *Journal of Political Economy*, Vol. 94, p. 461-488.

Sheifer, A. & Vishny, R (1997) "A Survey of Corporate Governance," *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 52, p. 737-783.

Xu, X. & Wang, Y (1999) "Ownership Structure and Corporate Governance in Chinese Stock Companies," *China Economic Review*, Vol. 10, p. 75-98.

Young, M., Peng, M., Ahlstrom, D., Bruton, G. & Jiang, Y (2008) "Corporate Governance in Emerging Economies: A Review of the Principal – Principal Perspective," *Journal of Management Studies*, Vol. 45(1).

Yermack, D (1996) "Higher Market Valuation of Companies with Small Board of Directors," *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 40(2), p. 185-211.

BIOGRAPHY

Ifraz Khan is a Teaching Assistant at the University of the South Pacific. His research interest includes Corporate Governance. He can be contacted at the University of the South Pacific, Laucala campus, Suva, Fiji. Email: khan_i@usp.ac.fj

Priyashni Chand is a Teaching Assistant at the University of the South Pacific. Her research interest includes Corporate Governance and Financial Reporting. She can be contacted at the University of the South Pacific, Laucala campus, Suva, Fiji. Email: <u>chand pi@usp.ac.fi</u>.

Arvind Patel is an Accounting Professor at the University of the South Pacific. His research interest includes Auditing. He can be contacted at the University of the South Pacific, Laucala campus, Suva, Fiji. Email: patel_a@usp.ac.fj

MANAGERIAL OWNERSHIP, LEVERAGE AND AUDIT QUALITY IMPACT ON FIRM PERFORMANCE: EVIDENCE FROM THE MALAYSIAN ACE MARKET

Zunaidah Sulong, Universiti Sultan Zainal Abidin John C. Gardner, University of New Orleans Amariah Hanum Hussin, UiTM Kampus Negeri Sembilan Zuraidah Mohd Sanusi, Universiti Teknologi MARA Carl B. McGowan, Jr., Norfolk State University

ABSTRACT

This paper extends the agency cost literature by examining whether managerial ownership, leverage and audit quality are associated with higher performance of companies traded on the Malaysian ACE (Access, Certainty, Efficiency) Market. The sample consists of 82 companies listed on the Malaysian ACE Market for the period from 2007 to 2009. Analyses of descriptive statistics, correlation analysis, and multiple regressions are used to address the research hypotheses. The descriptive statistics analysis reveals that ACE Market companies do not perform better for the three year test period. This result may explain why the number of listed stocks on the ACE Market decreased from 2006 to 2009. Contrary to the proposed hypotheses, this study finds that audit quality has a statistically significant negative effect on firm performance. The empirical results suggest that higher audit fees received by auditors may create bonding between client and auditors.

JEL: G15, G32, M41

KEYWORDS: Managerial ownership; Leverage; Audit quality; Governance mechanisms; ACE market

INTRODUCTION

firm's performance represents how effectively managers operate a company and thereby enhance the value of the firm to their shareholders. The relationship between managers and shareholders has raised the issue of a conflict of interest when managers use discretionary power to act in their personal best interest (Jensen & Meckling 1976). To safeguard against such behavior by managers firms need to have control mechanisms to ensure that shareholders' funds are not misappropriated or used for unprofitable activities. That is, firms need to insure that agency costs are minimized.

The relationship between managerial ownership and firm performance proposes that management's ownership in the company would motivate them to act in the best interest of shareholders and thereby reduce agency costs. Leverage can also reduce agency costs since debt holders monitor managers' actions to encourage optimal financial performance. In addition, higher audit fees paid to auditors can either strengthen the economic bond between management and auditors and impair auditor independence resulting in sub-optimal firm performance or increase the level and quality of corporate governance which can enhance the quality of financial statements and increase the efficacy of internal control systems.

A number of studies have examined the relationship between managerial ownership and firm performance, as well as leverage and audit quality and firm performance. These studies have generally focused on firms listed on established exchanges and have found positive relationships exist between managerial ownership, leverage and audit quality with firm performance. In this study we investigate the relationship of managerial ownership, leverage and audit quality on firm performance for firms in the

relatively new and substantially smaller ACE exchange located in Malaysia. The remainder of the paper is organized as follows. Section 2 provides a review of the relevant literature. In section 3 a description of data and methodology are presented. Section 4 provides the results and a discussion of the analysis and Section 5 contains concluding comments.

LITERATURE REVIEW

According to Jensen and Meckling (1976) and Demsetz and Lehn (1985) a high level of managerial ownership may motivate managers to act in the best interest of shareholders and may serve as a positive monitoring substitute to reduce agency conflicts and costs. O'Sullivan and Diacon (2003) looked at board composition and ownership on audit quality for British insurance companies and found the proportion of non-executives directors has a positive impact on audit quality while no relationship was found between Board Chairmen and CEOs ownership and audit quality. Other studies have suggested additional factors that can help explain the relationship between managerial ownership and firm performance including Cui and Mak (2002) who find that industry effects are a factor in the relationship for high R & D firms. In Malaysia, owner-managed companies are common among publicly listed companies.

According to Claessens, et al. (2000), at the 20% cut-off of control, about 85% of Malaysian listed companies have owner managers. Leverage is one of the external mechanisms which decision makers believe to be a useful tool to reduce agency costs. Debt holders such as financial institutions and banks will monitor managers' actions to encourage that managers' optimize the financial performance of the firm, Sanda, et al. (2005). This external monitoring will allow debt holders to evaluate the eligibility of the firm to receive loans and honor any debt agreements and covenants. In particular, financial leverage will reduce agency costs to shareholders and other stakeholders by having a large creditor monitor managers' performance. Large creditors are normally financial institutions which are stakeholders of the firm in that they have a vested interest in the ability of the firm to continue to make interest payments and repay the loan principal. Financial leverage providers will have an incentive to see that managers take performance-improving measures, Sanda, et al. (2005). Thus, as suggested by Jensen (1986) it can be argued that high financial leverage reduces agency costs and improves a firm's financial performance. Several empirical studies support Jensen's assertion. Jensen (1986) highlights the importance of debt in limiting managerial discretion over the use of free cash flow. Sanda, et al. (2005) finds that financial leverage has a significant positive influence on overall firm performance in Nigeria, indicating the tendency for firms with higher levels of debt as a proportion of equity to perform better.

Prior studies that looked at the relationship between audit fees and firm performance have shown that higher fees paid to auditors will strengthen the economic bond between management and auditors and impair auditor independence [Ashbaugh, et al. (2003), Boylan (2004), and Steven (2007)]. Frankel, et al. (2002) provides evidence that the non-audit fees to total fees is positively associated with small earnings surprises and with the magnitude of discretionary accruals while Johnson, Khurana and Reynolds (2002) find that short audit firm tenures are associated with lower quality financial reports. On the other hand, Kinney and Libby (2002) argue that total fees paid to an auditor may increase the economic bond to a client and reduce earnings management by managers. Griffin, et al. (2008) examine the audit feeincreasing relationship since auditing services provide one means to increase the level and quality of corporate governance. The authors find that there is a positive relationship between audit fees and the level and quality of corporate governance. This is consistent with the Sarbanes-Oxley (SOX) legislation, which imposed incentives on many companies to strengthen corporate governance, including increased auditing and internal control spending. Hence, even though better corporate governance, including auditing is costly, increased corporate governance may enhance the quality of financial statements and increase the efficacy of internal control systems. This will eventually result in better financial performance of the firm.

DATA AND METHODOLOGY

In this paper we extend the literature by examining whether managerial ownership and audit quality are associated with higher performance of companies traded on the Malaysian ACE (Access, Certainty, Efficiency) market. The establishment of the MESDAQ Market, which changed to the ACE Market in 2009, was to encourage the development of technology based and high growth companies in Malaysia. Companies listed on the ACE Market grew through 2006 but have decreased in 2007 and 2008. Wan Mahmood, *et al.* (2008) suggest that this decrease in listings may be due to investors' perception of the inability of ACE market to perform in the long run which would make it difficult to attract more potential investors Wan Mahmood, *et al.* (2008) find that some ACE firms are under investigation for non-compliance with rules and procedures imposed by Securities Commission. Table 1 presents the total number of listed companies in the Main Market (formerly known as Second and Main Board of Bursa Malaysia) and the ACE Market from years 2002 to 2008. Listings on the Main Board and in the ACE Market rose to a peak in 2006 and fell each subsequent year.

Table 1:	Total	Number	of Listed	Companies	in Ma	laysian	Markets
				1		2	

Year	Main Board	Second Board	ACE Market	Total
2008	634	221	122	977
2007	636	227	124	987
2006	649	250	128	1027
2005	646	268	107	1021
2004	622	278	63	963
2003	598	276	32	906
2002	562	294	12	868

The table displays the number of companies listed on the Main Board, Second Board and Ace Market through the years 2002 to 2008. Data was obtained from Bursa Malaysia (As of 21 July 2009).

Table 2 shows the listing requirement changes for the MESDAQ Market and the ACE Market. Listing requirements for the ACE Market are more liberal to attract a broader array of companies. Others reasons forwarded to explain investors leaving the ACE Market include (1.) the belief that the volatile trend of the ACE Market will remain for a period of time unless there are some new regulations by the government to alter the market environment and (2.) the nature of stocks in ACE Market is deemed to be too speculative and high risk. Companies listed on the ACE Market have a higher percentage of civil suits and financial fraud cases compared to companies listed on the Main Market. Clearly this is an indication of poor governance practiced by companies listed on the ACE Market. Motivated by this situation, the current study investigates the relationship between established control mechanisms and performance of companies listed on the ACE Market. This study will focus on established governing mechanisms: managerial ownership, financial leverage, and audit quality, as tools to mitigate agency conflicts.

Table 2: Comparison of the MESDAQ and ACE Markets

Comparing the Old and the New Market					
MESDAQ Market	ACE Market				
Confined to high-growth or technology-based companies	Allows eligible corporations from all economic sectors				
Disallowed if offered for sale	No minimum requirements on operating history, size and track-record				
Minimum issue price of 50 cents	No minimum issue price				
Other listings – structured warrants allowed	Other listings - structured warrants, SPACS or incubators are not allowed				
The stable discolory the menuiness of for former listed on the MECDA	O and A - Manhate The new incoments on the in- d from Down Malancia (A				

The table displays the requirements for firms listed on the MESDAQ and Ace Markets. The requirements were obtained from Bursa Malaysia (As of 22^{nd} July 2009). Note: SPACs – Special Purpose Acquisition Companies

The objective of this paper is to examine the relationship between managerial ownership, leverage, and audit quality on firm performance for companies listed on the ACE Market. This study is expected to provide empirical results that will be useful to for regulators such as the Securities Commission, the Bursa Malaysia, and other professional bodies. Regulators and professional bodies may highlight some areas for

improvement and appropriate action should be taken to enhance the quality of governance among the ACE Market companies. Managerial ownership is one of internal mechanisms that govern firm performance. A high level of managerial ownership may motivate managers to act in the best interest of shareholders and may serve as a positive monitoring substitute to reduce agency conflicts and costs, Jensen and Meckling (1976) and Demsetz and Lehn (1985).

Consistent with the above arguments, it is expected that higher managerial ownership levels are associated with better firm performance. Therefore, the following hypothesis will be tested:

H_{1:} There is positive relationship between managerial (insider) ownership and firm performance

Consistent with Jensen (1986), it can be argued that high financial leverage reduces agency costs and improves a firm's financial performance Therefore; the following hypothesis will be tested:

H₂: There is positive relationship between financial leverage and firm performance.

Consistent with the literature on audit quality and firm performance the following hypothesis is tested:

H₃: There is positive relationship between audit quality and firm performance.

Initially, the sample for this study was comprised of all companies listed on the ACE Market of Bursa Malaysia from January 2006 to December 2009. A list of companies listed on the ACE Market was obtained from Bursa Malaysia website (<u>http://www.bursamalaysia.com</u>). Of the 122 companies listed on the ACE Market, 83 companies were initially included in the sample. The remaining listed companies did not provide all of the financial information required for the study. In addition, after the normality of the data had been tested, one company was excluded due to outliers. Therefore, only 82 companies were included in the final sample. This study used two data sources for information. First, the Datastream database was used to provide all types of financial data, assets, and liabilities. Second, data on managerial ownership structure, types of auditor, and audit fees were retrieved from individual company annual reports available through the Bursa Malaysia website. All the annual reports are downloaded through (<u>http://announcements.bursamalaysia.com</u>). Finally, all the necessary data was analyzed using correlation and regression analysis to determine the efficacy of the proposed hypotheses

The analysis uses Tobin's Q (Q-Ratio) as a measure of firm performance. Tobin's Q for the combined market value of all the companies on the stock market should be about equal to their replacement costs, Lindenberg and Ross (1981). In other words, Tobin's Q measures firm performance based on marketvalue. Following Zunaidah and Fauzias (2008), this study has uses the modified version of Tobin's q ratio as a measure of firm value, calculated as the ratio of sum of market value of equity plus total debt to book value of total assets. In measuring managerial ownership, past research has addressed the agency theory problem concerning the use of managerial (insider) shareholdings [McConnell and Servaes (1990, Yeboah-Duah (1993), Loderer and Martin (1997), Chen, et al. (2003), and Florackis, et al. (2007)]. However, the empirical results are mixed. In particular, McConnell and Servaes (1990) find a significant curvilinear relationship between insider ownership and firm performance. Loderer and Martin (1997) find no statistically significant relationship between insider ownership and performance. Florackis, et al. (2007) report a non-linear relationship between managerial ownership and corporate performance by using a semi-parametric estimation approach, drawing conclusions contrary to those of Yeboah-Duah (1993). In this study, managerial ownership is measured as the total percentage of shares directly held by non-independent executive directors in the company. Following Nazli and Weetman (2006) and Zunaidah and Fauzias (2008), this study does not include shares held by independent non-executive

(outside) directors because the outside directors are expected to play a monitoring role and limit managerial opportunism. Leverage is defined as debt owed to large creditors such as financial institutions.

Leverage has been shown to be a useful tool for mitigating the agency problem. Jensen and Meckling (1976) have identified that financial leverage has a significant impact on financial performance. Financial leverage influences firm performance through monitoring activities by debt holders. Problems of agency theory arise when there is a conflict between the interests of shareholders and the interests of debt holders. Such problems start when the company needs to honor the loan agreement with the debt holder even when the company is not performing well. However, if the company is performing very well, then the shareholders will reap the incremental benefits. Thus, shareholders receive greater benefits than debt holders during period of good financial performance. This study uses total debt divided by total assets to measure financial leverage. The demand for auditing arises as a result from the auditor's monitoring role in the principal-agent relationship, Eilifsen and Messier (2000). Financial reporting or disclosure quality had been measured as one of the mechanism in assessing the corporate governance of a firm, Mitton (2002) and Coles, et al. (2001). Auditing is necessary to ensure the financial transparency that provides depositors, creditors and shareholders with credible assurances that the corporate managers will not engage in fraudulent activities. On the other hand, the role of statutory auditors and the demand for audit quality are influenced by corporate governance characteristics and the legal system of investor protection, Piot (2001). As summarized in De Fond (1992), past studies have shown that the demand for audit quality is a function of the agency conflict caused by the disparity between management and ownership incentives. Thus, this study will use audit fees as a proxy for audit quality.

Audit fees are defined as the sum of all fees including audit fees and non-audit fees paid to the auditor, Hoistash, *et al.* (2007). Fees include costs for professional audit services as well as non-audit fees charged by the auditor to the client. This approach to measuring audit fees is in accordance with the standards published by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board, which states that fees for professional services are necessary to perform an audit or review including services rendered for the audit of the company's annual financial statements. This clause extends to the services incurred with rendering an opinion under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and with the review of quarterly financial statements. In addition to the amendments of Corporate Governance, the Securities Commission of Malaysia issues new regulations to all listed companies to disclose audit fees in their annual reports.

In this paper firm size is used as a control variable because empirical studies have shown that firm size is a determinant of firm financial performance. Normally, larger firms are perceived differently by shareholders. For example, there is an assumption that larger firms may pay higher dividends and may have larger boards. This hypothesis supported by Short and Keasey (1999), who report that firm size has a statistically significantly positive effect on financial performance, since larger firms have the potential to access funds with greater ease, both internally and externally. Larger companies also may have better growth opportunities and access to additional financing opportunities. Larger companies are also likely to have greater analyst following, have more information available which reduces information asymmetry, and have wider share ownership and a more extensive ownership profile. Given this, the natural logarithm of the firm's total assets is used to indicate firm size. This measure is consistent with studies which have used total assets to measure firm size, Abdussalam (2006).

Profitability is also used as a control variable. In this study earnings per share (EPS) is used as a measure of a firm's profitability which is consistent with Kumar and Sopariwala (1992), Ahmed and Khababa (1999), Kaufmann, *et al.* (2000), and Al-Malkawi (2005). EPS is considered to be "the market's preeminent measure of firm performance," Kaufmann, *et al.* (2000, page 219). Table 3 summarizes the variables used in this study.

Variable	Measurement	Predicted direction
Dependent Variable • Tobin Q (Q-ratio)	$Q_{\text{ratio}} = \frac{\text{MVE} + \text{TDEBT}}{\text{TOTAL ASSETS}}$	
Independent Variable		
Governance Mechanisms Managerial ownership (MO) 	Total percentage of shares directly held by non- independent directors of the company	+
• Leverage (Lev)	Total Debt / Total Assets	+
• Audit Quality (AQ)	The sum of all audit fees paid to the auditor	+
<u>Control Variables</u>Firm size	Natural log of total assets ln(Total Assets)	
• Profitability	Earnings per share (EPS)	

Table 3: Summary of Variables and Their Predicted Direction in Relation to Firm Performance

This table shows the dependent and independent variables and how they were measured. The table also displays the predicted direction of the independent variable in relation to the dependent variable.

Consistent with Coakes, Steed and Ong (2009) some variables were transformed to achieve normality. Transformed variables included the Q-ratio, managerial ownership, leverage, total audit fees, and firm size. The remaining variable, profitability, did not need to be transformed.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Table 4 shows the descriptive statistics of the sample selected for the three consecutive years, 2006 to 2008. The sample data were collected for 82 companies listed on the ACE Market. The outliers' consist of data where the log Tobin-Q Ratio is more than 1.2. All of the other variables are in the range of 0.2 to 0.9. Finally, the total number of datum (N) is 246 which are 82 companies over three year.

Table 4: Descriptive Statistics

Statistic	Tobin-Q Ratio	Managerial Ownership	Leverage	Audit Quality	Firm Size	Profitability
Min	0.050	0.000	0.000	0.700	3.420	-0.290
Max	0.880	0.830	0.710	3.110	5.750	0.529
Mean	0.380	0.438	0.252	1.668	4.610	0.005
Median	0.363	0.451	0.248	1.623	4.620	0.007
SD	0.152	0.234	0.189	0.361	0.369	0.066
Skewness	0.513	-0.237	0.318	0.645	0.119	1.433
Kurtosis	0.251	-1.144	-0.903	1.203	1.509	21.083
Number	=	246				

The table shows the descriptive statistics for variables used in this study.

Table 5 shows the correlation coefficients between all of the independent variables and dependent variable and Table 6 summarizes the correlation analysis. Managerial ownership, leverage, total audit fees, and firm size are positively correlated with Q-ratio at significant level of 0.05 for managerial ownership and the rest has significant level of 0.01. On the other hand, there is no significant correlation between the profitability and Q-ratio.

Table 5: Correlation Coefficients

N=246	O-Ratio	Managerial Ownership	Lev	Tot Audit Fees	Firm Size	Profitability
Q-Ratio	-	0.122*	0.170**	0.268**	0.162**	-0.061
Managerial Ownership		-	0.035	-0.128*	-0.032	-0.045
Leverage			-	0.167**	0.248**	-0.040
Total Audit Fees				-	0.521**	0.109*
Firm Size					-	0.279**
Profitability						-

The table displays the correlation analysis between variables used in this study and shows a significant relationship between managerial ownership, leverage, audit fees and firm size with Tobin-Q. The asterisks in the table, ** and *, denotes correlation is significant at 0.01 and 0.05 levels (1-tailed), respectively.

Table 6: Summary Results of Correlation Analysis for Tobin-Q Measurement

Research Hypotheses	Prediction	Result	Hypotheses
There is positive relationship between managerial (insider)	Positive	Significant	Supported
ownership and firm performance		(Positive)	
There is positive relationship between leverage and firm	Positive	Significant	Supported
performance		(Positive)	
There is positive relationship between audit quality and	Positive	Significant	Supported
firm performance		(Positive)	

The table lists the research hypotheses, the prediction of the dependent variable, the results of the correlation and whether the hypotheses were supported.

Multiple regression analysis is one of the parametric techniques that can be applied if the data is assumed to be normally distributed. However, regression analysis is fairly robust for validity against nonnormality. Pallant (2007) argues that with a sample size greater than 30, the violation of the normality assumption should not cause any major problems. Based on this argument, a multiple regression analysis as an extension of the correlation is conducted. The main difference between correlation analysis and regression analysis is that, in bivariate correlation, the relationship is only tested between one independent variable and one dependent variable whereas, in multiple regression analysis, more than two independent variables will be tested for their explanatory power against one dependent variable. The regression model is estimated based on three (2) models as follow:

Model 1: Regression analysis of internal governance (managerial ownership)

Firm Performance =
$$\alpha + \beta 1$$
 Managerial ownership + \in

Where: α = intercept term, β_1 = regression coefficient, \in = standard error

Model 2: Regression analysis between internal governance and external governance (managerial ownership, leverage, and audit quality)

Firm Performance =
$$\alpha + \beta_1$$
 Managerial ownership + β_2 Leverage + β_3 Audit Quality + \in (2)

Where: α = intercept term, β_1 until β_3 = regression coefficient, \in = standard error

For Model (1), the equation indicates the contribution that internal governance measured by managerial ownership has on firm performance, measured by the Q-ratio. Model (2) measures the contribution that the internal governance variables measured by managerial ownership and external governance measured by financial leverage and audit quality make to the prediction of firm financial performance measured by the Q-ratio. Table 7 reports the hierarchical regression results for managerial ownership, leverage, and audit quality on firm financial performance (Q-ratio) after controlling for the effect of firm size and profitability. Model (1) shows the impact of the internal control mechanism, which is managerial

(1)

ownership on firm financial performance. The regression coefficient for firm size is statistically significant at the 1% level and is negative. The regression coefficient for profitability and managerial ownership are not statistically significant. The adjusted in R^2 for the regression is 4.68% and the F-statistic is 4.951 and is statistically significant at the 5% level. This means that 4.68% of the variation in firm's performance is explained by the variation of managerial ownership after controlling for the effect of firm size and profitability, taking into account the sample size and the number of independent variables. Meanwhile, for Model (2), the adjusted in R^2 is 8.1% meaning that 8.1% of the variation of firm financial performance is explained by the internal mechanism, i.e. managerial ownership, and the two external mechanisms, i.e. financial leverage and audit quality, after controlling the effect of firm size and profitability, taking into account the sample size and the number of independent variables.

Table 7: Results of Hierarchical Regression Analyses Examining the Impact of Managerial Ownership, Leverage and Audit Quality on Firm Performance

	DV: O-Ratio			
Independent Variables		Model 1		Model 2
	β	S.E	β	S.E
Intercept	1.198***	0.108	1.129***	0.109
<u>Control variable:</u>				
Firm Size	-0.075***	0.023	-0.026	0.027
Profitability	0.196	0.129	0.167	0.128
Internal Mechanisms:				
Managerial Ownership	-0.085	0.042	-0.105	0.041
External Mechanisms:				
Leverage			0029	0.044
Audit Quality			-0.087***	0.027
•				
\mathbf{R}^2	0.058		0.100	
Adjusted R ²	0.046		0.081	
Change R ²	0.058		0.042	
F-Statistics	4.951**		5.327**	
Df	242, 3		240, 2	

The table shows that for Model (1) the impact of the internal control mechanism, which is managerial ownership, on firm financial performance. The regression coefficient for firm size is statistically significant at the 1% level and is negative. In Model (2), the regression coefficient for audit quality is statistically significant at the 1% level and is negative. This means that there is a negative relationship between audit quality and firm financial performance for firms listed on the ACE market. Note: The asterisks ***, **, and * denotes significant at 1 per cent (p<0.01), 5 per cent (p<0.05), and 10 per cent (p<0.1) confidence levels, respectively.

As shown in Model (2), the regression coefficient for audit quality is statistically significant at the 1% level and is negative. This means that there is a negative relationship between audit quality and firm financial performance for firms listed on the ACE market. This is probably due to higher audit fees received by auditors which may create a bonding between clients and auditors. This empirical result is consistent with the empirical results of Hoitash, *et al.* (2007) who finds that economic bonding is a determinant of auditor behavior rather than auditor reputational concerns. However, the regression coefficients for managerial ownership and financial leverage are not statistically significant.

CONCLUDING COMMENTS

In this study we examined the relationship between corporate governance mechanisms such as managerial ownership, leverage, and audit quality and firm financial performance using a sample of 82 companies listed on the ACE Market in Malaysia for the period of 2006, 2007, and 2008. The statistically significant and positive correlation between the three independent variables, managerial ownership, leverage, and audit quality, indicates the importance and impact of these corporate governance mechanisms on firm financial performance. The study provides empirical results that are useful to regulators such as financial institutions, the Securities Commission, and the Bursa Malaysia. Regulators and professional bodies may highlight some areas of improvements and appropriate actions that should be taken in order to enhance the quality of corporate governance mechanisms among ACE market companies. In addition, the Securities Commission can use the empirical results of the current study to develop mechanisms to

facilitate the regulation of corporate managers as a part of the Securities Commission's regulatory responsibilities. For example, the Securities Commission may tighten the regulation of applications for financial sources from the Ministry of Finance, so that if financial assistance is given to a company the money will not be used for the self-interest of management. Furthermore, the current study highlights some of the recommendations to financial institutions for new regulations of the ACE Market.

REFERENCES

Abdussalam, M.A. (2006). Good Corporate Governance Mechanism and Firms' Operating and Financial Performance: Insight from the perspective of Jordanian industrial companies. *J. King Saud Univ.* (2), p. 101-121.

Ahmed, A.M. & Khababa, N. (1999). Performance of the Banking Sector in Saudi Arabia. *Journal of Financial Management and Analysis* 12, p. 30-36.

Al-Malkawi, H-A.N.Y. (2005). Dividend Policy of Publicly Quoted Companies in Emerging Markets: The Case of Jordan. Unpublished Ph.D. Thesis. School of Economics and Finance, University of Western Sydney, Australia.

Ashbaugh, H., LaFond, R., & Mayhew, B.W. (2003). Do Nonaudit Services Compromise Auditor Independence? Further Evidence. *The Accounting Review* 78 (3), p. 611-639.

Boylan, S.J. (2004). A Classroom Experiment on the Benefit of Auditing in Financial Markets. *Issues in Accounting Education* 19 (2), p. 189-209.

Chen, C.R., Guob, W. & Mande, V. (2003). Managerial Ownership and Firm Valuation: Evidence from Japanese Firms. *Pacific-Basin Finance Journal* 11, p. 267-283.

Claessens, S., Djankov & Lang, L. (2000). The Separation of Ownership and Control in East Asian Corporations. *Journal of Financial Economics* 58 (1-2), p. 81-112.

Coakes, S.J., Steed, L. & Ong, C. (2009). SPSS Analysis Without Anguish. John Wiley & Sons: Australia.

Coles, J.W., McWilliams, V.B. & Sen, N. (2001). An Examination of the Relationship of Governance Mechanisms Performance. *Journal of Management*, 27, p. 23-50.

Cui, H. & Mak, Y. T. (2002). The Relationship Between Managerial Ownership and Firm Performance in High R & D Firms. *Journal of Corporate Finance*, Vol. 8, Issue 4, p. 313 – 336.

De Fond, M.L. (1992). The Association Between Changes in Client Firm Agency Costs and Auditor Switching. *Auditing: A Journal of Practice & Theory* 11 (1), p. 16-31.

Demsetz, H. & Lehn, K. 1985. The Structure of Corporate Ownership: Causes and Consequences. *Journal of Political Economy* 93 (6), p. 1155-1177.

Eilifsen, A. & Messier, W.F. Jr. (2000). Auditor Detection of Misstatements: A Review and Integration of Empirical Research. *Journal of Accounting Literature* 19, p. 1-43.

Florackis, C., Kostakis, A. & Ozkan, A. (2007). Managerial Ownership and Performance. *Journal of Business Research* 62 (12), 1350-1357.

Frankel, R.M., Johnson, M.F., & Nelson, K.K. (2002). The Relation Between Auditors' Fees for Non-Audit Services and Earnings Management. *The Accounting Review* 77 (1), p. 71-151.

Griffin, A.P, David, H.L. & Sun, Y. (2008). Corporate Governance and Audit Fees: Evidence of Countervailing Relations. Working Paper on the Web site: http://ssrn.com/abstract=1069480

Hoitash, R., Markelevich, A. & Barragato, C.A. (2007). Auditor Fees and Audit Quality. *Managerial Auditing Journal* 22 (8), p. 761-786.

Jensen, M. 1986. Agency Costs of Free Cash Flow, Corporate Finance and Takeovers. *American Economic Review* 76, p. 323-329.

Jensen, M.C. & Meckling, W.H. (1976). Theory of the Firm: Managerial Behavior, Agency Costs, and Ownership Structure. *Journal of Financial Economics* 3: p. 305-360.

Johnson, E., Khurana, I. & Reynolds, J. (2002). Audit-Firm Tenure and the Quality of Financial Reports. *Contempory Accounting Research*, Vol. 19, Issue 4, p. 637-660.

Kaufmann, P.J., Gordon, R.M. & Owers, J.E. (2000). Alternative Profitability Measures and Marketing Channel Structure: The Franchise Decision. *Journal of Business Research* 50, p. 217-224.

Kinney, W.R. & Libby, R. (2002). Discussion of the Relation Between Auditors' Fees for Nonaudit Services and Earnings Management. *The Accounting Review*, Vol. 77, No. s-1, p. 107-114.

Kumar, R. & Sopariwala, P.R. (1992). The Effect of Adoption of Long-Term Performance Plans on Stock Price and Accounting Numbers. *Journal of Financial & Quantitative Analysis* 27, p. 561-573.

Lang, L. & Stulz, R.M. (1994). Tobin's q, Corporate Diversification, And Firm Performance. *Journal of Political Economy* 102 (6), p. 1248-1280.

Lindenberg, E.B. & Ross, S.A. (1981). Tobin's q Ratio And Industrial Organization. *Journal of Business* 54, p. 1-32.

Loderer, C.F. & Martin, K. (1997). Executive Stock Ownership and Performance: Tracking Faint Traces. *Journal of Financial Economics* 45 (2), p. 223-255.

Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance (MCCG). (2001). Malaysian Institute of Corporate Governance (MICG). Malayan Law Journal Sdn. Bhd: Kuala Lumpur.

McConnell, J.J. & Servaes, H. (1990). Additional Evidence on Equity Ownership and Corporate Value. *Journal of Financial Economics* 27 (2), p. 595–612.

Mitton, T. (2002). A Cross-Firm Analysis of the Impact of Corporate Governance on the East Asian Financial Crisis. *Journal of Financial Economics* 64, p. 215-241.

Nazli, A.M.G & Weetman, P. (2006). Perpetuating Traditional Influences: Voluntary Disclosure in Malaysia Following the Economic Crisis. *Journal of International Accounting, Auditing and Taxation* 15, p. 226–248.

O'Sullivan, N. & Diacon, S. (2003). Board Composition and Performance in Life Insurance Companies. *British Journal of Management*, Vol. 14, Issue 2, p. 115-129.

Pallant, J.F. (2007). SPSS Survival Manual: A Step by Step Guide to Data Analysis Using SPSS. 3rd Ed. Allen & Unwin: Australia.

Piot, C. (2001). Agency Costs and Audit Quality: Evidence from France. *European Accounting* Review 10 (3), p. 461-499.

Sanda, A., Aminu, S.M. & Garba, T. (2005). Corporate Governance Mechanisms and Firm Financial Performance in Nigeria. African Economic Research Consortium from the Web site: http://www.aercafrica.org/documents/RP149.pdf

Short, H., Zhang, H., & Keasey, K. (1999). Managerial Ownership and the Performance of Firms: Evidence from the U.K. *The Journal of Corporate Finance* 5, p. 79-101.

Steven, F.R. (2007). Determinants of Perceived Audit Quality: The Role of Audit Fees and Audit Committee Composition. *Journal of Academy of Business and Economics*, p. 1-10.

Yeboah-Duah, K. (1993). Stock Ownership and the Performance of the Firm in Malaysia. Capital Markets Review 1 (2), p. 83–108.

Zunaidah, S. & Fauzias, M.N. (2008). Dividends, Ownership Structure and Board Governance on Firm Value: Empirical Evidence from Malaysian Listed Firms. *Malaysian Accounting Review* 7 (2), p. 55-95.

BIOGRAPHY

Zunaidah Sulong is currently a senior lecturer at the Faculty of Business Management and Accountancy, Universiti Sultan Zainal Abidin (UniSZA), Terengganu, Malaysia. Her current research interests focus on issues related to corporate finance, governance, Islamic finance and banking. Her articles have been published in such as International Journal of Business Governance & Ethics, International Business Research, International Business Management, Capital Markets Review, Malaysian Accounting Review, International Journal of Business & Management Science, Journal of International Education Research, Journal of International Economic Review, Journal of International Business Management & Research, Journal of Modern Accounting and Auditing, International Business & Economics Research Journal, Southwest Review of International Business Research, Sinergi – Kajian Bisnis & Manajemen and Jurnal Siasat Bisnis. She has also actively participates in various local and international conferences.

John C. Gardner is the KPMG Professor of Accounting in the Department of Accounting at the University of New Orleans. Dr. Gardner has published in leading accounting, finance and management science journals including The Accounting Review, Journal of Accounting Research, Contemporary Accounting Research, Accounting, Organizations and Society, Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis and Decision Sciences. His research interests include multi-national corporation financial management, capital structure, and financial and forensic accounting.

Amariah Hanum Hussin is a lecturer at the Universiti Teknologi MARA (UiTM), Negeri Sembilan Campus, Malaysia. She received her Master Degree (Accounting) from UiTM, Shah Alam, Selangor, Malaysia. Her teaching experience and research interest are in the areas of accounting, auditing and corporate governance.

Zuraidah Mohd Sanusi is an Associate Professor and the Deputy Director (Postgraduate & Innovation) at the Accounting Research Institute, Universiti Teknologi MARA (UiTM), Shah Alam, Selangor, Malaysia. Her main research interest is auditing, corporate reporting, corporate governance, management accounting and management. She also has presented series of talks and workshops on data analysis, data interpretation and research methodology. She has published in a number of national and international journals.

Carl B. McGowan, Jr. is the Faculty Distinguished Professor and Professor of Finance at Norfolk State University has a BA and held the RHB Bank Distinguished Chair in Finance at the Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia. Professor McGowan has published in numerous journals including American Journal of Business Education, Applied Financial Economics, Decision Science, Financial Practice and Education, The Financial Review, International Business and Economics Research Journal, The International Review of Financial Analysis, The Journal of Applied Business Research, The Journal of Business Case Studies, The Journal of Diversity Management, The Journal of Real Estate Research, Managerial Finance, Managing Global Transitions, The Southwestern Economic Review, and Urban Studies.
GENERATIONAL DIFFERENCES IN ATTITUDES TOWARD DEFICIT REDUCTION POLICY

Monique O. Durant, Central Connecticut State University Mary McCarthy, Central Connecticut State University

ABSTRACT

In an effort to understand the "generation gap" as it is manifested in attitudes toward current tax policy, this study compares survey responses from experienced tax professionals and inexperienced undergraduate tax students applied to the most effective tax and budgetary changes to reduce the federal deficit. The authors created the survey from tax students' suggestions after a semester (Spring 2011) of reading tax-related articles in an international business journal. At the end of that semester, the authors requested suggestions from students for changes to the federal tax code (revenue) and budget (spending) and incorporated them into a survey to which students during that semester and the next two semesters responded. In July 2012, the authors asked a group of experienced tax professionals to respond to the survey. The authors found significant variation in a few predictable areas. Results include findings that the Millennial generation is less conservative on social issues, and favors Social Security reform and reduced defense spending.

JEL: H60; H62

KEYWORDS: Federal Tax Policy, Age Gap, Generation Gap, Millennials, Tax Code, Federal Budget

INTRODUCTION

For many years, the term "generation gap" has referred to the difference in values and attitudes of younger individuals and those of their elders. First used in popular culture during the 1960s, the term came to recognize the differences between Baby Boomers who came of age in the 1960s and 1970s, and their parents, who were either members of the "Silent" generation (those currently 65 – 83 years of age) or members of "The Greatest Generation" (those currently over 83 years of age) who came of age during the Depression and the Second World War. The generation gap is attributable to rapid cultural change in the postmodern world, and continues to be responsible for generational differences in matters of musical tastes, fashion, culture and politics in profound ways (Fullerton & Dixon, 2010).

According to a recent Pew Research study (2011), the "generation gap," or "age gap," revealed little difference in terms of voting preferences of younger and older Americans for most of the past four decades. As recently as the 2000 election, presidential voting preferences were indistinguishable. As recently as the 1992 election, younger voters were less likely to vote Democratic than their seniors. The 1972 matchup between George McGovern and Richard Nixon was the last time that age correlated as strongly with Democratic voting by younger voters as it has recently. In the 1972 election, 18-to-29 year old voters were 16 points more likely to back the Democratic candidate than older voters (Pew, 2011). This "age gap," represented by differences in political attitudes and driven by broad social and political trends, began to open in the 2004 election and became a major factor in the 2008 election with Barack Obama's victory over John McCain; and although Obama's support has slipped across all generations since that election, the age gap has not narrowed. Obama continues to hold a substantial edge among 18-to-29 year olds, while voters over 65 years of age favor Romney by a slightly larger margin than they supported McCain (Pew, 2011).

To understand the "age gap" as manifested in attitudes toward federal tax policy and perceptions regarding reduction of the federal deficit, this study compares survey responses from experienced tax professionals and inexperienced undergraduate tax students at a northeastern U.S. state university. The authors created the survey from tax students' suggestions after a semester (Spring 2011) of reading tax-related articles in an international business journal and blogging their critical opinions. Suggestions from the students for changes to the federal tax code (revenue) and budget (spending) at the end of that semester were incorporated into a survey to which students responded during the three semesters from Spring 2011 through Spring 2012. Then, in July 2012, the authors asked a group of experienced tax professionals made up of primarily CPAs and enrolled agents to respond to the survey. The results of the study indicate that the students, primarily the Millennial generation, and tax practitioners, who are mostly Boomers, have differing attitudes regarding the best measures to reduce the federal deficit particularly in the areas of social issues, Social Security reform, tax increases, and defense spending. The study's findings contribute to the literature on generational political attitudes and provide further support to Fisher's (2008[1]) findings.

The remainder of the paper is as follows: The Literature Review provides background on the generation gaps' attitudes, the changing political environment, and motivation for the study. Data and Methodology presents the Research Method and Participants, followed by Results and Discussion, and Concluding Comments.

LITERATURE REVIEW

Cohorts and Attitudes

The values and priorities of individuals are shaped by the socio-economic conditions in place during our formative years of adolescence and early adulthood known as the "critical period" (Fisher, 2008[1]; Schuman & Corning, 2006). Mannheim (1952 [1923], p. 290) addressed the importance of generations, referred to as cohorts today, as positions in the social structure: "Individuals who belong to the same generation who share the same year of birth are endowed, to that extent, with a common location in the historical dimension of the social process." These cohort members frequently share policy attitudes attributable to shared social bonds, historical experiences or values (Fullerton & Dixon, 2010). Mannheim concluded, as have later writers, "late adolescence and early adulthood are the formative years during which a distinctive personal outlook on politics emerges" (Rintala, 1968, p. 93).

Further, discrete generations not only have distinct political leanings; they tend to maintain those leanings for the remainder of their lives (Fisher, 2008[1]). Since socio-economic conditions change over time, discrete generations are shaped by dissimilar societal experiences, thus they develop dissimilar political values. Whereas some generations will tend to lean Republican, others will lean Democratic based upon the political climate in place during the formative years of that generation (Fisher, 2008[1]), resulting in what is referred to as a 'generation gap'.

Although those who focus on generational change generally portray the youngest cohorts as the most liberal, this is not necessarily the case. At times younger voters tend to be even more likely to support conservative candidates than older voters. If we look at voters in cohorts by age group, younger voters in some elections voted differently from the rest of the population. Of the elections from 1976 - 2004, the under-30 cohort voted the most democratic in four elections (Carter – 1976, Reagan – 1980, Clinton – 1996 and Bush "43" - 2004), but in the other four elections (Reagan – 1984, Bush "41" – 1988, Clinton – 1992, and Bush "43"- 2000), 18 – 29 year olds voted very similarly to other age cohorts (Fisher, 2010). The result is that despite the stereotype that younger voters tend to be more liberal than older voters, in some years younger voters have been more conservative than older voters (Fisher, 2008[1]).

Data shows that the age gap in 2008 grew considerably larger than in previous elections. Obama won the under-30 vote by a surprising 66 - 32% margin, whereas the over-30 vote was basically even (50 - 49% for Obama). The age gap in 2008 was evident prior to the election. During the 2008 presidential nomination process, the age gap between Barack Obama and Hillary Clinton was one of the largest age gaps in U.S. electoral history, suggesting that Obama's success in the general election was due in part to his appeal with younger voters. However, part of the age gap was also due to the unpopularity of the G. W. Bush ("Bush 43") administration, whose second term in office was the most unpopular presidential term since Richard Nixon. Bush's unpopularity, with approval ratings in the low 20s as he left office, undoubtedly influenced younger Americans who were just becoming politically aware and entering the electorate (Fisher, 2010).

According to Pew (2011, p. 1), "[o]ne of the largest factors driving the current generation gap is the arrival of diverse and Democratic-oriented "Millennials," individuals born from 1981 to 1993 who are now under 30. Shaped by the politics and conditions of the Bill Clinton and George W. Bush presidencies, this group holds liberal attitudes on most social and governmental issues." Millennial attitudes and voting choices are driven by "three broad social and political trends" according to Pew (2011, p. 13). First is the racial and ethnic diversity of the country, which reflects a rising percentage of non-whites among younger cohorts. Second is the political environment experienced by successive generations as they come of age politically. The relative popularity of the president, as well as each of the two major political parties at the time an individual reaches voting age, has an impact on future voting preferences. Third, the broader societal changes occurring within a generation's life cycle will have a larger impact on the political views of younger people who are still forming opinions (Pew, 2011).

The Changing Political Environment

After enactment of the Budget and Accounting Act of 1921, Congress delegated much of its budgetary powers to the president. Since then the president, elected from a national constituency, has been the dominant force in determining federal tax policy. The result has been that national public opinion has a significant role in determining budget priorities, including federal income tax rates (Wlezien, 2004; Gilens, 2001; Fisher, 2008[1]) and there is a significant connection between taxpayer sentiment and the nature of periodic adjustments to the tax code. In this way, government revenues and expenditures are responsive to the wishes of taxpayers (Fisher, 2008[1]).

Historically, the public has held each president responsible for the economic performance of the nation and for the size of the deficit while absolving Congress, regardless of economic conditions. As a result, the size of the deficit will have an important impact on which measures the president proposes, especially regarding tax policy. In other words, "not only does presidential tax policy affect the size of the deficit, but the size of the deficit also affects presidential tax policy" (Fisher, 2008[1], p. 215). Prior to Reagan's election, Republicans historically pushed for tax cuts, but not in the face of large budget deficits. Balanced budgets generally had primacy over tax cuts. From 1977 – 1981 the Republican Party advocated large across-the-board tax cuts. Analysis seems to indicate that this was at the behest of party elites, but nonetheless "the Reagan tax cuts were in tune with public opinion of the time" (Fisher, 2008[1], p. 216). The resulting budget deficits, which were the highest in American history as of that time, were politically problematic. However, since polling data during this time indicated strong support for tax cuts, regardless of deficit levels, it seems that the Reagan policy was reasonably in agreement with the preferences of the public (White & Wildavsky, 1989; Fisher, 2008[1]).

President Reagan's popularity seems not to have suffered for large federal deficits, and Reagan continues to enjoy public popularity. According to a Pew Research Poll, more respondents in the Silent (born 1928 – 1945) and Boomer (born 1946 – 1964) generation named Ronald Reagan as the best president of their lifetime, and he loses by only a small margin to Bill Clinton (34% to 38%) among the Gen X (born 1965 -

1980) group. Although deficits multiplied during his presidency, Reagan was able to win reelection in a landslide. "While a large majority of citizens may have favored a balanced budget in the abstract, they did not want higher taxes and they did not want to cut spending for most programs" (Fisher, 2008[1], p. 217; Wildavsky & Caiden, 2001).

The early 1980s taught Republicans "opposing taxes was good politics, but assailing popular domestic programs was not" (Jacobson, 1993; Fisher, 2008[1], p. 217). Deficit levels became too large for many Republicans, however, and George H.W. Bush ("Bush 41") had to deal with the issue. Although he had campaigned on a pledge of "no new taxes", he reluctantly agreed to the Budget Enforcement Act of 1990, a deficit reduction package that would raise taxes and impose user fees in return for entitlement cuts. After compromising on policy he lost ground in public opinion polls and ultimately lost re-election (Pious, 1999; Fisher, 2008[1]). "The budgetary lesson of 1990, therefore, was that raising taxes, even with record deficit levels, was a hard sell politically" (Fisher, 2008[1], p. 218).

Shortly after his inauguration in 1992, Bill Clinton proposed a deficit-reduction package, half of which came from spending reductions with the other half from tax increases. Most new revenues would be raised with higher taxes on upper-income individuals and corporations, with more than half of new taxes falling on families with annual income above \$200,000 per year. The plan, titled The Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act, passed with no votes to spare. (Vice-President Al Gore cast the tie-breaking vote.) After the Act became law, the deficit went down every year until 1998 and in 2000; the federal government experienced a surplus of \$236 billion. The economy flourished each year and the federal budget picture improved; however, Clinton received no credit for this even though the tax measures he proposed went a long way to help reduce the deficit (Fisher, 2008[1]).

It is important to note that, for the most part, increases in revenues were due to increases in 1993 of the top income tax rates and the fact that the public sentiment did not support reduction of taxes for those in the top income brackets. As a result, public opinion with regard to taxing the wealthy during the later years of the Clinton presidency may have helped to facilitate the production of balanced budgets (Fisher, 2008[1]).

Due to the budgetary surpluses that existed when Bush came into office, he was able to reduce income taxes significantly and he consistently made tax cuts a major priority of his presidency. The largest portion of the tax cuts came from changes in the federal income tax rates. The rates in place since 1993, which topped out at 39.6 percent, were replaced by rates that topped out at 35 percent. Although Republicans advocated tax cuts since the election of Bush "43", it did not seem that grass roots support existed for the concept at the time. For instance, only 36 percent of Americans polled said they preferred cutting taxes rather than funding new retirement savings accounts and increased spending on education, defense, Medicare and other programs (Fisher, 2008[1]). Once large deficits returned during the second Bush "43" term, Americans were asked which should have priority – tax cuts or reducing the deficit. Respondents, by a 67 to 28 percent margin, stated that reducing the deficit should be the priority, which indicates that the Bush tax initiatives were not responsive to public demand (Fisher, 2008[1]).

A number of perceived policy failures marked the Bush "43" administration. In his Presidential memoir "Decision Points," George W. Bush talks about what he considers the two largest failures of his presidency and two issues that continue in our public discourse: Social Security reform and immigration reform. "The collapse of Social Security reform is one of the greatest disappointments of my presidency. Despite our efforts, the government ended up doing exactly what I had warned against: we kicked the problem down the road to the next generation" (Bush, 2010, p. 300). The impact of this political failure was significant: "When Social Security failed, it widened the partisan divide and made immigration reform tougher" (Bush, 2010, p. 306).

In addition to the political failings of the Bush presidency, annual Gross Domestic Production (GDP) during that time was one of the slowest since the Hoover administration and new college graduates saw real wages (adjusted for inflation) drop. The unilateral nature of the Iraq War and foreign policy during the Bush administration was generally unpopular among younger Americans (Fisher, 2010). Adding to this, the Republican Party was increasingly identified with conservative Christian ideals during this period, while younger Americans were becoming more secular and socially liberal. Younger Americans are more culturally tolerant and put less emphasis on "traditional values" and as a result, they have moved toward the Democrats as part of a larger cultural divide. In fact, a "2007 *New York Times* poll found that by a 52 - 36% margin young Americans say that Democrats rather than Republicans come closer to sharing their moral values" (Fisher, 2010, p. 299). Resulting from the unpopularity of the Bush "43" administration and Obama's appeal with younger voters, there seems to be an overwhelmingly Democratic age cohort that is as strong as any since the Johnson administration. As this under-30 cohort matures, it has the potential of dominating the next era of U.S. politics (Fisher, 2010).

Based on analysis by Schuman and Corning, the national and world events with greatest impact to university students today, most of whom are 25 or younger (born in 1987 or later), are (i) the September 11, 2001 terrorist attacks, (ii) the Iraq War which started in 2003, (iii) the Financial Crisis of 2007, and (iv) the election of President Obama (Schuman & Corning, 2006).

Generational Differences on Certain Policy Issues

The relationship between attitudes and common, age-based, interests is an important consideration, since people over the age of 65 are a growing number (Fullerton & Dixon, 2010). Those over the age of 65 comprised 13 percent of the American population in 2007 but are estimated to comprise over 20 percent of the population by 2030 (U.S. Census Bureau, 2008, Fullerton & Dixon 2010). Furthermore, people over the age of 65 are more likely to vote (Fullerton & Dixon, 2010). For that reason, scholars have renewed attention in this subject by conducting empirical analyses on the effect of age especially on age-related issues, such as education, health care, and Social Security (Day, 1990; MacManus 1995, 1996; Hamil-Luker 2001; Plutzer & Berkman, 2005; Rhodebeck, 1993; Street & Cossman, 2006; Fullerton & Dixon, 2010).

The three most often studied generational differences focusing on the impact of age and cohort on policy attitudes are education, health, and Social Security funding. Concerning the issue of education spending, the difference in policy views has been labeled the "gray peril hypothesis," which suggests that elderly individuals are less likely to support education spending because they and their children are already educated (Rosenbaum & Button, 1989). Further, this theory supposes that the elderly are more likely to support spending on health care and Social Security, which benefits their current and future circumstances (Campbell, 1971; Campbell & Strate, 1981).

Voters over 65 and childless voters have been found to be less likely to support public school spending. This is buttressed by data showing that education spending on a per-child basis is significantly lower in states with a greater proportion of over-65 voters. This is especially true in states with a significant population of older individuals who are a different ethnic or racial group than the school-aged population, whereas younger voters tend to be more supportive of spending for public schools (Poterba, 1997; Fisher, 2008[2]). Importantly, the elderly are as equally likely to support education as younger generations when the elderly feel attached to their community, particularly through homeownership (Berkman & Plutzer, 2004; Plutzer & Berkman, 2005; Fullerton & Dixon, 2010).

It is commonly believed that support for Social Security and Medicare lead the elderly to support Democratic candidates, but this is not necessarily the case. As the Greatest generation (which was overwhelmingly Democratic) dies off, the over-65 cohort has become more Republican. The declining

loyalty of older voters to Democrats may be attributed, ironically, to the success of New Deal safety-net programs. Whereas in the 1930s seniors were the most likely group to live in poverty, today they are the age group *least* likely to live in poverty and overall are the wealthiest age group. With their relative affluence, their concerns have more to do with taxes and inheritance rules; issues that may encourage the over-65 cohort to support Republicans (Binstock, 2006; Fisher, 2008[2]).

Data supports that younger Americans have historically expressed support for Social Security spending and that their support has been as strong as that by elderly citizens (Street & Cossman 2006; Fisher, 2008[2]). The American National Elections Studies (ANES) found in 2004 that 64% of those younger than 65 years favored increasing spending for Social Security compared to only 47% of those over 65 years. However, while younger Americans support increased spending for Social Security, they also tend to be more supportive of Social Security reform. Americans under 30 were substantially more likely than other age groups to favor President Bush's proposal to create private accounts in the Social Security system. Seniors, on the other hand, tend to be much more skeptical than younger generations of attempts to reform Social Security and the elderly are overwhelmingly hostile to plans to privatize Social Security (Fisher, 2008[2]).

"Contrary to conventional wisdom, younger Americans have historically been more likely to be supportive of what the president is doing in a time of war, as they were in Korea and Vietnam" (Fisher, 2008[2], p. 507). This has proven to be the case with Iraq as well: a *New York Times* poll conducted in 2007 found that young Americans (by a 51% to 45% margin) were more likely to believe the war in Iraq was heading to a successful conclusion than other age cohorts. Similarly, a Gallup 2007 poll found that older Americans were more likely than younger Americans to believe that the war in Iraq was a mistake. As a result, on the Iraq war, young Americans tended to be ideologically to the right of the country as a whole (Fisher, 2008[2]). Young Americans tend to be more supportive of reducing defense spending and of increasing foreign aid. Whereas 22% of those aged 18 - 34 favored decreasing defense spending, the figure was 16% for those aged 35 - 64 and 11% for those 65 and older. In regards to foreign aid, younger Americans were at least twice as likely to favor increasing foreign aid compared to other age cohorts (Fisher, 2008[2]). Fisher (2008[2], p. 508) concludes that "[t]his indicates that Americans under 35 are possibly more sensitive to criticism of US foreign policy that has often been levied against it by the rest of the world."

On the basis of cited research, it seems appropriate to believe that university students today, as part of the Millennial (under-30) generation, and tax professionals, who are Boomers for the most part, will have differing attitudes regarding the best measures to reduce the federal deficit. These differences may be significant, due to a "generation gap," driven by rapid cultural change, and are expected to impact the upcoming 2012 elections. However, there is a lack of empirical evidence comparing the tax attitudes of accounting students and tax professionals. In this study, we test for differences among accounting students' and tax professionals' perceptions of the best tax and budgetary initiatives to reduce the federal deficit and offer some insight into the possible causes of these differences.

DATA AND METHODOLOGY

Research Method

The survey instrument was developed from a student blogging assignment. The survey was originally created from tax students' suggestions after a semester (Spring 2011) of reading tax-related articles in an international business journal and blogging their critical opinions. Suggestions from the students for changes to the federal tax code (revenue) and budget (spending) at the end of that semester were incorporated into a survey to which students responded during the three semesters from Spring 2011 through Spring 2012. Additionally, students read an official summary of the President's proposed budget

and make recommendations for two changes to the tax code (revenue) and two changes to budget (spending), that in their opinion would help to reduce the Federal deficit.

The authors created a survey based upon the students' fifteen most frequently suggested revenue and expenditure changes (see Figure 1). For each revenue or spending suggestion in the survey, the authors asked participants to assess the degree to which each suggestion would help to decrease the federal deficit. Responses were on a five-point Likert scale, ranging from one to five, with one labeled "Very Harmful" and five labeled "Very Helpful." The "Very Harmful" scale refers to a materially counter-productive measure, in the participant's opinion. The "Very Helpful" scale indicates a measure that, in the participant's opinion, would materially contribute to reduction of the federal deficit.

Figure 1: Students' 15 Most Frequently Suggested Revenue and Expense Changes

Panel A	x: Tax Code (Revenue) Recommendations
Q1A	Lower corporate income tax rates from the present 35% to a lower level comparable to the rates in other countries (e.g.,
045	25 - 30%) and eliminate special tax benefits (loopholes) and credits to corporations.
QIB	Reduce corporate tax rates to no more than 25% for small businesses with 500 employees or less.
QIC	Legalize and tax the cultivation and sale of marijuana.
Q1D	Broaden the tax base by changing the tax rate tables to include more people in lower income levels.
Q1E	Raise tax rates on capital gains and dividends.
Q1F	Raise all tax rates, especially to the wealthiest 2% of Americans.
Q1G	Reduce subsidies and tax breaks to oil companies
Q1H	Raise the celling on social security wages to \$250,000 or remove the celling entirely; raise the retirement age for social
Q1I	Require all employers to use E-Verify, whereby employee's identity is verified to work legally in the U.S., thereby eliminating illegal aliens from being paid under the table (and therefore not paying U.S. taxes).
Q1J	Raise tariffs on imports
Q1K	Reduce the cap on home mortgage interest deduction) home mortgage interest is presently deductible on the first \$1.1M).
Q1L	Enact a Federal sales tax.
Q1M	Enact a federal sales tax on all internet sales of about 3% on all sales of \$100 or more; allow an itemized deduction for online sales tax paid.
Q1N	Allow employees who do not have medical coverage through their employers to use their medical expenses as a deduction for AGI as opposed to a deduction from AGI, much in the way that self-employed taxpayers are allowed to do.
Q10	Privatize social security (allow a fixed percentage of about 3%) to be set up on private investment accounts in lieu of collecting social security tax.
Panel E	: Budgetary (Expense) Recommendations
Q2A	Reduce our defense budget, as it currently occupies approximately 19% of the budget and represents approximately 50% of our discretionary spending.
Q2B	Increase focus on developing clean sustainable sources of energy.
Q2C	Allocate a larger share of the budget to innovation (e.g., research and experimentation).
Q2D	Cut back on funding overseas (foreign) aid, especially to countries with corrupt governments.
Q2E	Allocate a larger share of the budget to education and job training.
Q2F	Reduce waste and abuse on Medicare expenditures.
Q2G	Have employers shoulder a larger share of unemployment costs.
Q2H	Invest more in public transportation and infrastructure.
Q2I	Invest more to reduce illegal immigration.
Q2J	Revamp rules for unemployment compensation, welfare and food stamps to reduce the amount collected and length of time that individuals are on these programs.
Q2K	Allow younger people to opt out of social security.
Q2L	Phase out social security benefits above a certain income level, since social security is meant to ensure against poverty in old age
Q2M	Reduce subsidies to special groups and industries.
Q2N	Reduce or eliminate Economic Recovery Payments and Making Work Pay Tax Credit.
Q20	Eliminate the exemption of home mortgage debt forgiveness.

Figure 1 Panel A shows the students' fifteen most frequently suggested tax code (revenue) recommendations. Panel B show the students' fifteen most frequently suggested budgetary (expense) recommendations.

Participants

The survey was exempted from review by the university's Human Studies Council and was administered online through SelectSurvey.net over a period of three semesters to students enrolled in an introductory tax course and a partnership tax course. All of the students were from a northeast state university. In total, 144 participants participated in the survey. Table 1 presents the demographic data for the students. Ninety-nine percent of the students had junior class standing or above. Eighty percent of the students were under 35 years old while fourteen percent were over 35 years. Six percent of the students did not disclose their age group.

Table 1: Demographics for Students

Gender	Males	73
	Females	66
	Not disclosed	5
Class	Junior	35%
	Senior	60%
	Graduate	4%
	Not disclosed	1%
Age Group	18 - 25 years	61%
	26 - 30 years	13%
	31 - 35 years	6%
	Over 35	14%
	Not disclosed	6%

Table 1 shows the demographics for the 144 students in the survey sample. Ninety-nine percent of the students had junior class standing or above. Eighty-percent of the students were under 35 years old while fourteen percent were over 35 years. Six percent of the students did not disclose their age group.

The authors administered the same survey in paper form to tax professionals during a tax seminar sponsored by the Connecticut Society of Certified Public Accountants (CTCPA), Connecticut Society of Enrolled Agents, and Connecticut Department of Revenue Services. A total of eighty-four professionals participated in the survey. Seventeen of the 84 professionals did not completely respond to the tax code and budgetary suggestions and therefore were excluded from the sample. The final tax professional sample was 66. Table 2 presents the demographic data related to the tax professional. The average years of experience were just over 27 years. Seventy-six percent of the sample were CPAs, with a wide range of job responsibilities (based on titles). Due to the disparity in the initial sample sizes (students, n=144 and tax professionals, n=66), a random sample of 66 was selected from the initial sample of 144 (using SPSS). T-tests were performed on the 30 recommendations comparing the tax professionals' means to the students' means.

 Table 2: Demographics of Tax Professionals

Gender	Males	33
	Females	29
	Not disclosed	4
CPA		76%
Highest degree level		
	Bachelors	65%
	Masters	33%
	Business School	2%
Job Title	Tax Accountant	32%
	Accountant	29%
	Manager/Director/Controller	10%
	Vice President/Corporate Officer/ Executive	17%
	Officer/ Partner	
	Owner/Self-employed/Consultant	7%
	Credit Underwriter/Enrolled Agent	5%

Table 2 presents the demographic data related to the tax professionals. The average years of experience were just over 27 years. Seventy six percent of the sample were CPAs, with a wide range of job responsibilities.

ACCOUNTING & TAXATION + Volume 5+ Number 1 + 2013

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Table 3 presents the descriptive statistics and t-test results for comparison of the means between students and tax professionals' opinions on the tax code (revenue) recommendations to reduce the budget deficit.

(n = 66)		Mean	Std. Dev.	Sig.	
Q1A	Tax Professional	4.14	0.762	0.3654	
	Student	4.26	0.771		
Q1B	Tax Professional	4.03	0.911	0.4789	
	Student	4.14	0.802		
Q1C	Tax Professional	2.95	1.270	0.0003 **	*
	Student	3.79	1.283		
Q1D	Tax Professional	3.24	1.096	0.1861	
	Student	3.52	1.256		
Q1E	Tax Professional	3.24	1.348	0.0867	
	Student	3.64	1.273		
Q1F	Tax Professional	3.29	1.310	0.0435 **	*
	Student	3.76	1.337		
Q1G	Tax Professional	4.24	1.009	0.0720	
	Student	3.89	1.191		
Q1H	Tax Professional	3.52	1.361	0.0624	
	Student	3.92	1.127		
Q1I	Tax Professional	4.20	0.769	0.1663	
	Student	3.97	1.081		
Q1J	Tax Professional	3.44	1.040	0.7555	
	Student	3.38	1.187		
Q1K	Tax Professional	3.15	1.099	0.0029 **	*
	Student	3.70	0.960		
Q1L	Tax Professional	2.59	1.312	0.0120 **	*
	Student	3.17	1.284		
Q1M	Tax Professional	3.12	1.387	0.0715	
	Student	3.53	1.193		
Q1N	Tax Professional	3.94	0.926	0.3209	
	Student	4.09	0.818		
Q10	Tax Professional	2.79	1.342	0.0000 **	*
	Student	3.80	1.126		
** Significa	nt at .05				

Table 3: Descriptive Statistics and T-tests for Tax Code Recommendations

Table 3 presents the descriptive statistics and t-test results for comparison of the means between students and tax professionals' opinions on the tax code (revenue) recommendations to reduce the budget deficit. Five of 15 recommendations were statistically significant at a 95% confidence interval level. The recommendations that were significant include: Legalize and taxation of the cultivation and sale of marijuana, raise all tax rates, reduce the cap on home mortgage interest deduction, enact a federal sales tax, and privatize social security.

Five of the 15 recommendations were statistically significant at a 95% confidence interval level. The five recommendations that were significant and reflected a difference in the attitudes of the two groups were:

- 1. Q1C Legalize and tax the cultivation and sale of marijuana.
- 2. Q1F Raise all tax rates, especially to the wealthiest 2% of Americans.
- 3. Q1K Reduce the cap on home mortgage interest deduction (home mortgage interest is presently deductible on the first \$1.1M).
- 4. Q1L Enact a Federal sales tax.
- 5. Q10 Privatize social security (allow a fixed percentage of about 3%) to be set up on private investment accounts in lieu of collecting social security tax.

Students tended to support the legalization and taxation of the cultivation and sale of marijuana (3.79 Student mean compared to 2.95 Tax Professional). Younger Americans are more tolerant and less conservative on social issues (Fisher, 2008[1]). Given that 80% of the Student sample was under the age of 35 and the Tax Professional sample had on average 27 years of experience, the results tend to support Fisher's (2008[1]) findings that young Americans split clearly against social conservatism relative to other generations.

Q1F, Q1K, and Q1L relate to raising tax rates or reducing tax deductions. The Student sample supported increasing tax rates to the wealthy, reducing home mortgage interest deduction, and enacting a federal sales tax. The Student sample means compared to the Tax Professional sample means were 3.76 vs. 3.29, 3.79 vs. 3.15, and 3.17 vs. 2.59, respectively. Based on the 27 average years of experience for the Tax Professionals, it is likely they have mortgages and pay taxes in a higher tax bracket. They may also have clients who are benefitting from the current tax policy. Based on the 27 years of average experience for the Tax Professional sample most of the sample were influenced and developed their political leanings during the Reagan and Bush 41 years. Public opinion during these presidencies favored tax cuts. Students supported privatizing Social Security, 3.80 Student sample mean compared to 2.79 for the Tax Professional sample. This result is consistent with young Americans preference for President Bush's proposal to create private accounts in the Social Security program (Fisher, 2008 [1]). Tables 4 presents the descriptive statistics and t-test results for comparison of the means between students and tax professionals' opinions on the budget (expense) recommendations to reduce the budget deficit.

The Student sample strongly favored reducing the defense budget compared to the Tax Professional sample, 4.26 Student sample mean vs. 3.20 Tax Professional sample mean. This supports Fisher's (2008 [1]) finding that young Americans are more inclined to support the reduction of defense spending. Students also favored allocating a larger share of the budget to education and job training, 4.27 Student sample mean compared to 3.94 Tax Professional sample mean. This result is not surprising given most students in the sample come from middle class families; and, the students are likely bearing the brunt of their own educational expenses. Fisher's findings (2008[1]) also show that overall younger Americans tend to be more supportive of education spending.

Students preferred strongly to have employers shoulder a larger share of unemployment costs, 3.52 Student sample mean compared to 2.80 Tax Professional sample mean. Given that this measure would place a larger burden on businesses, particularly small businesses, it is understandable that Tax Professionals would not be as supportive of this recommendation.

Investing more to reduce illegal immigration was one of two recommendations that the Tax Professionals (4.08 mean) supported more than the Students (3.62). This is not surprising. As noted above, younger Americans are more tolerant and less conservative on social issues including immigration (Fisher, 2008[1]).

Q2K and Q2L both address Social Security and both were more favored by the Students than the Tax Professionals. Students strongly supported allowing younger people to opt out of Social Security with a 3.47 Student sample mean compared to 2.53 Tax Professional sample mean. The Students also supported phasing out Social Security benefits above a certain income level. As mentioned above, younger Americans favor Social Security reform (Fisher, 2008[1]).

(n = 66)		Mean	Std. Dev.	Sig.	
Q2A	Tax Professional	3.20	1.205	0.0000	**
	Student	4.26	0.982		
Q2B	Tax Professional	4.11	0.879	0.4913	
	Student	4.21	0.886		
Q2C	Tax Professional	3.77	0.740	0.5252	
	Student	3.86	0.892		
Q2D	Tax Professional	4.42	0.878	0.4716	
	Student	4.53	0.808		
Q2E	Tax Professional	3.94	0.721	0.0153	**
	Student	4.27	0.833		
Q2F	Tax Professional	4.53	0.533	0.1248	
	Student	4.35	0.794		
Q2G	Tax Professional	2.80	1.084	0.0005	**
	Student	3.52	1.206		
Q2H	Tax Professional	4.03	0.656	0.3204	
	Student	3.88	1.045		
Q2I	Tax Professional	4.08	0.730	0.0046	**
	Student	3.62	1.049		
Q2J	Tax Professional	4.15	0.932	0.5220	
	Student	4.26	0.966		
Q2K	Tax Professional	2.53	1.459	0.0001	**
	Student	3.47	1.280		
Q2L	Tax Professional	3.65	1.283	0.0246	**
	Student	4.11	0.994		
Q2M	Tax Professional	4.26	0.917	0.0081	**
	Student	3.82	0.959		
Q2N	Tax Professional	3.88	0.937	0.2398	
	Student	3.68	0.979		
Q2O	Tax Professional	2.94	1.226	0.0104	**
	Student	3.47	1.112		
** Signific	ant at 05				

Table 4. Descripti	ve Statistics and	T-tests for	Tax Code	Recommendations
rubie i. Desempti	ve blatiblieb and	1 1 10010 101	Tun Couc	recommendations

Table 4 presents the descriptive statistics and t-test results for comparison of the means between students and tax professionals' opinions on the budget (expense) recommendations to reduce the budget deficit. Eight of the 15 recommendations were statistically significant at a 95% confidence interval. Eight of the 15 recommendations that were significant and indicate a difference in attitudes between the two groups were: Reduce the defense budget, allocate a larger share of the budget to education and job training, employers shoulder a larger share of unemployment costs, invest more to reduce illegal immigration, allow younger people to opt out of social security, phase out social security benefits above a certain income level, reduce subsidies to special groups and industries, eliminate the exemption of home mortgage debt forgiveness.

Eight of the 15 recommendations were statistically significant at a 95% confidence interval. The eight recommendations that were significant and indicate a difference in attitudes between the two groups were:

- 1. Q2A Reduce our defense budget, as it currently occupies approximately 19% of the budget and represents approximately 50% of our discretionary spending.
- 2. Q2E Allocate a larger share of the budget to education and job training
- 3. Q2G Have employers shoulder a larger share of unemployment costs.
- 4. Q2I Invest more to reduce illegal immigration.
- 5. Q2K Allow younger people to opt out of social security.
- 6. Q2L Phase out social security benefits above a certain income level, since social security is meant to ensure against poverty in old age.
- 7. Q2M Reduce subsidies to special groups and industries
- 8. Q2O Eliminate the exemption of home mortgage debt forgiveness.

Tax Professionals strongly preferred reducing subsidies to special groups and industries Tax Professionals' mean compared to Students' mean were 4.26 and 3.82, respectively. The Tax Professionals, given their years of experience most likely are more conservative while the Students tend not to be socially conservative.

Students approved eliminating the tax exemption of home mortgage debt forgiveness compared to the Tax Professionals, means were 3.47 and 2.94, respectively. Tax Professionals are more likely to have experience with individuals who are in need of mortgage debt forgiveness and see it as a greater social cause.

CONCLUDING COMMENTS

The purpose of this study was to compare opinions on student recommended deficit reduction changes to the federal tax code (revenue) and budget (spending) from experienced tax professionals to inexperienced undergraduate tax students. Of the 15 student recommended changes to the federal tax code (revenue) differences in five recommendations were statistically significant. Of the 15 student recommended changes to the budget (expense), differences in eight of the recommendations were statistically significant. These findings indicate that the students, primarily the Millennial generation, and tax practitioners, who are Boomers for the most part, will have differing attitudes regarding the best measures to reduce the federal deficit. These differences may be significant, due to a "generation gap" or "age gap," driven by rapid cultural change, and are expected to impact the upcoming 2012 and subsequent elections.

The study's findings contribute to the literature on generational political attitudes and provide further support to Fisher's (2008[1]) findings. Overall, the results support that the Millennial generation is more tolerant and less conservative on social issues, support raising taxes, are in favor of Social Security reform, and reducing defense spending. It will be interesting to watch if this generation impacts the upcoming presidential election and if public opinion, driven by the Millennial generation continues play a significantly role in setting tax policies and Social Security reforms. Political attitudes may also influence healthcare reform.

One of the important limitations was that the survey questions were developed by the students and attitudes on healthcare spending were not included. Another limitation was that the student sample was generated from students attending a state university. Future research could extend the study to private universities and compare gender and ethnic differences.

REFERENCES

Berkman, M. B., & Plutzer, E. (2004). Gray peril or loyal support? The effects of the elderly on educational expenditures. *Social Science Quarterly*, *85*, 1178-1192.

Binstock, R. H., (2006). Older voters and the 2004 election. Gerontologist, 46, 382-384.

Bush, G. W. (2010). Decision Points. New York, NY: Crown Publishing Group.

Campbell, A. (1971). Politics through the life cycle. Gerontologist, 11, 112-117.

Campbell, J. C. & Strate, J. (1981). Are old people conservative? *Gerontologist, 21,* 580-591. Day, C. L. (1990). *What older Americans think: Interest groups and aging policy*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.

ACCOUNTING & TAXATION + Volume 5+ Number 1 + 2013

Fisher, P. (2008) [1]. Presidential tax initiatives and public opinion: The relationship since the Reagan administration. *White House Studies Compendium, 6,* 213-228.

Fisher, P. (2008) [2]. The emerging age gap in U.S. politics. Society, 45, 504-511.

Fisher, P. (2010). The age gap in the 2008 presidential election. Society, 47. 295-300.

Fullerton, A. S. & Dixon, J. C. (2010). Generational conflict or methodological artifact? Reconsidering the relationship between age and policy attitudes in the U.S., 1984-2008. *Public Opinion Quarterly*, *74*, 643-673.

Gilens, M. (2001). Political ignorance and collective policy preferences. *American Political Science Review*, *95*, 379-396.

Hamil-Luker, J. (2001). The prospects of age war: Inequality between (and within) age groups. *Social Science Research, 30.* 386-400.

Jacobson, G. (1993). Deficit-cutting politics and congressional elections. *Political Science Quarterly*, *108*, 375-402.

MacManus, S. A. (1995). Taxing and spending politics: A generational perspective. *Journal of Politics*, *57*, 607-629.

MacManus, S. A. (1996). Young vs. old: Generational combat in the twenty-first century in politics and policy. Boulder, C: Westview.

Mannheim, K. [1923] (1952). The problem of generations. *Essays on the Sociology of Knowledge*. (pp.276-322). London: Routledge and Kegan Paul.

Pew Research Center. (2011). The generation gap and the 2012 election: Angry silents, disengaged millennials. Retrieved from: <u>www.people-press.org/2011/11/03/about-the-surveys-13/</u> accessed 8 August 2012.

Pious, R. (1999). The limits of rational choice: Bush and Clinton budget Summitry. *Presidential Studies Quarterly, 29*, 617-637.

Plutzer, E. & Berkman, M. (2005). The graying of America and support for funding the nation's schools. *Public Opinion Quarterly, 69,* 66-86.

Poterba, J. (1997). Demographic structure and the political economy of public education. *Journal of Policy Analysis and Management.* 16, 48-66.

Rhodeback, L. A. (1993). The politics of greed? Political preferences among the elderly. *Journal of Politics*, *55*, 342-364.

Rintala, M. (1968). Political generations. *International Encyclopedia of the Social Sciences*. (Vol. 6). (pp. 92-96). New York: Macmillan and the Free Press.

Rosenbaum, W. A. & Button, J. W. (1989). Is there a grey peril? Retirement politics in Florida. *Gerontoligist, 29,* 300-306.

Schuman, H. & Corning, A. D. (2006). Comparing Iraq to Vietnam: Recognition, recall, and the nature of cohort effects. *Public Opinion Quarterly*, *70*, 78-87.

Street, D., & Cossman, J.S. (2006). Greatest generation or greedy geezers? Social spending preferences and the elderly. *Social Problem, 53,* 75-96.

U.S. Census Bureau, Population Division. (2008). Annual estimates of the population by sex and selected age groups for the United States. Available at http://www.census.gov/population/www/projections/2008projections.html (accessed 8 August 2012).

White, J. & Wildavsky, A. (1989). *The deficit and the public interest*. Berkley: University of California Press.

Wildavsky, A. & Caiden, N. (2001). *The new politics of the budgetary process, 4th ed.* New York: Longman.

Wlezien, C. (2004). Patterns of representation: Dynamics of public preferences and policy. *The Journal of Politics, 66*, 1-24.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We wish to thank Ms. Julie Carroza, Membership Director and Mr. Art Renner, CPA, Executive Director at the Connecticut Society of Certified Public Accountants, for accommodating the authors by supporting the administration of the practitioner survey at a recent tax practitioner conference. Their assistance is gratefully acknowledged and appreciated.

BIOGRAPHY

Monique Durant, JD, CPA, LLM is an Associate Professor at the School of Business at Central Connecticut State University where she teaches courses in taxation. She has extensive Big Four public accounting experience where she practiced tax compliance and planning for corporations and flow-through entities (LLCs, partnerships, and S corporations) as well as individuals. Monique is a member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) and the Connecticut Society of Certified Public Accountants (CTCPA) and is licensed to practice in the State of Connecticut. She can be reached at Central Connecticut State University, 1615 Stanley Street, New Britain, CT 06050, durantmon@ccsu.edu.

Mary McCarthy, CPA, CFA, has over 18 years' experience in the financial services industry serving in various leadership positions. She is currently Associate Professor of Accounting at Central Connecticut State University teaching financial accounting courses. She received her doctoral degree at Nova Southeastern University and her MBA in finance from the University of Connecticut. She is a certified public accountant (State of Connecticut) and a CFA charter holder. She can be reached at Central Connecticut State University, 1615 Stanley Street, New Britain, CT 06050, Mary.McCarthy@ccsu.edu.

INDIRECT LABOR COSTS AND IMPLICATIONS FOR OVERHEAD ALLOCATION

Bea Chiang, The College of New Jersey

ABSTRACT

Cost accounting typically allocates indirect labor cost to cost object based on direct labor hours. The allocation process implicitly assumes that indirect labor costs vary proportionally with direct labor hours. The assumption of a linear relationship between indirect and direct labor is particularly suspicious at low production volume levels because there tends to be a fixed component in indirect labor. The linearity assumption is also challenged by recent increasing complexity of indirect labor tasks. As automation technology replaces some work of the of traditional labor, the cost of non-production workers becomes an important element of manufacturing overhead and it may not be related to labor hours in a simple linear manner. A model is derived to show the relationship between indirect labor overhead and direct labor overhead is also discussed.

JEL: J3, M2

KEYWORDS: Indirect Labor Cost, Labor Cost, Overhead Allocation, Cost Accounting, Indirect Labor Cost Allocation

INTRODUCTION

ne of the critical roles of cost accounting is to estimate the cost of product or services. All costing models are trying to find the "true" cost of a particular cost object such as product, service, segment, and department. Traditional costing approach allocates overhead by using volume-driven measure such as unit produced to first estimate a predetermined overhead rate then allocate overhead by applying this average overhead rate to the cost object. Application of such models is valid for facilities producing products with less diversity. However, as product diversity increases, the broad averaging process leads to serious cost distortion (Johnson and Kaplan, 1987, Cooper and Kaplan, 1988).

A more sophisticated overhead allocation method such as Activity Based Costing (ABC) intends to reduce these cost measurement distortions by creating multiple cost pools and allocation bases to allocate overhead to product or service in two stages allocation process (Cooper, 1987a, 1987b, 1988). One issue that relates to the ABC system is that the allocation process assumes a strict proportional relationship between activity and cost. Noreen and Soderstrom (1994) challenge this linear proportional assumption by examining the hospital's time-series behavior of overhead costs and activities. The results show that the proportionality hypothesis can be rejected for most of the overhead accounts. On average across the accounts, the average cost per unit of activity overstates marginal cost by about 40% and in some departments by over 100%. Another study conducted by Noreen and Soderstrom (1997) suggests that costing systems, which assume costs are strictly proportional to activity, grossly overstate the impact of changes in activity on cost. Kim and Hon (2008) comments that when cost behavior shows a nonlinear pattern, conventional ABC may distort product costs. Noreen (1991) develops a mathematical model to demonstrate the conditions under which ABC systems provide relevant costs. One of the conditions that ABC would provide relevant information is that the cost in each cost pool is strictly proportional to its activity.

The assumption of a linear relationship between activity and costs creates a challenge to accurately estimate the product cost. The purpose of this paper is to present a model that shows the relationship between indirect labor overhead and cost drivers such as direct labor hours under different conditions followed by a discussion of the implication for the allocation of indirect labor overhead.

LITERATURE REVIEW

Decisions are often taken assuming linear models for the purpose of simplicity. Cost accounting typically allocates indirect labor costs to products or services (cost object) based on direct labor hours. Traditional cost allocation methods presume a linear relationship between the costs and cost allocation base. This linearity assumption is problematic for allocating overhead when there are various product lines and each of which demands diverse amount of resources (Garrison et al., 2012). The average allocation rate assumes that each unit of product/service consumes the resources at a constant rate. This allocation process will not be able to capture the resource consumption when product/service diversity exists. Balakrishnan et al. (2012) comment that traditional costing, ABC or other costing systems currently do not seem to offer an effective way to estimate product/service cost and suggest a blended model that accommodates nonlinearity. Ramani et al. (2010) presents a case study to emphasize the importance of the use of more accurate models to account for nonlinearity. McNair (2007) suggests that it is necessary to apply a non-linear modeling approach to capture cost dynamics and relationships.

Take the labor and indirect labor costs as an example. Labor is direct when their work and wages can be identified with specific costing units such as departments, products or sales contracts (Horngren et al., 2012). All other employees that cannot be directly traced to the costing units are indirect. From the perspective of manufacturing, wages that directly relate to production are considered as direct labor costs; other work that is performed on the production floor but not on producing the products is considered as indirect labor costs. In accounting, trace direct labor costs is straight forward because there are payroll records to directly connect the direct labor costs to the products. On the other hand, the indirect labor costs requires allocation process, because it cannot be directly traced in an economically way (Horngren et al., 2012). The allocation process will have to first estimate an allocation rate by taking a total indirect labor costs divided by selected allocation basis. This allocation process perceives that labor-related overhead behaves proportionally to direct labor hours. That is, the average indirect labor overhead per direct labor hour is the same as marginal indirect labor overhead per direct labor hour given all other conditions remain the same. This allocation process implicitly assumes that indirect labor hours should vary proportionally with direct man hours. These average allocation rates are useful guides with the relevant range of fluctuation in direct labor, but they cease to be satisfactory when large changes in the direct labor base occur.

The assumption of a linear relationship between indirect and direct labor is particularly suspicious at low production volume levels because there tends to be a fixed component in indirect labor. When a decline in direct labor activity is expected to be short in duration, this fixed component of the indirect work force usually remains intact, because management retains experienced supervisors and others not readily replaceable when needed again. When activity is expected to remain low for an extended period or costs must be reduced to protect the company's financial resources, cuts are made in some organizations at the management's discretion. The number of indirect labor required for the coming budget year also can be determined by analysis of the work to be done. This procedure usually is followed in companies that have little or no direct labor variable with short term production volume. Under this condition, a functional linear relationship between direct and indirect labor is questionable.

The linearity assumption is also criticized by recent increasing complexity of indirect labor tasks. As automation technology replaces some work of traditional labor, the cost of non-production workers becomes an important element of manufacturing overhead and it may not be related to labor hours in a

simple linear manner. Many studies discuss the value of non-production workers such as production supervisors, quality control staff, production managers and on-site tooling engineers to a manufacturing plant's productivity (Gunasekaran et al, 1994; Kang & Hong, 2002; Krajewski and Ritzman, 2004). Studies also find a significant effect of non-production labor on a manufacturing plant's productivity (Gray and Jurison, 1995; Wacker et al., 2006). As the indirect labor takes a more essential role in manufacturing plants than it has previously and indirect labor cost may not be linearly related to direct labor hours, the averaging process of allocating overhead would produce misleading cost estimates. As a result, it is essential to conduct a preliminary examination on the nature of indirect costs before allocating them as overhead.

DATA AND METHODOLOGY

Define the Nature of Types of Indirect Labor Overhead

Overhead is ongoing costs of a business which cannot be attributed to any specific cost object. To narrow the analysis focus, this study attempts to build a model that represents one of the overhead items - indirect labor costs that are commonly seen on the production floor or service setting. In general, according to the complexity of the work nature, indirect labor can be broadly categorized into three types of indirect labor according to task complexity and job nature. The first type of indirect labor is the labor force who performs routine tasks such as maintaining, and cleaning the working facility. The second type of indirect labor directly oversees the production lines or service processes and performs higher level of work than the first type of indirect labor. First line supervisors or on-site tooling and equipment engineers are examples of the second type of indirect labor. The third type of indirect labor, for example, a production manager, conducts overall supervision, coordinates all production lines, schedules production runs and communicates with the upper management. In general, considering the overtime paid, fringe benefits, incentive plans and bonus provided to manager or supervisors, these three types of labor costs are not fixed costs even some of them may be on salary basis. The research question that this paper attempts to explore is whether these three types of indirect labor costs change proportionally (linear) or nonproportionally (non-linear) to the total production which is assumed to be directly related to direct labor hours. The following discussion uses production line as an example to develop a model that demonstrates three scenarios of the behavior of indirect labor costs.

Model the Indirect Labor Costs

Based on the nature of indirect labor's tasks, the general three types of indirect labor are defined as follows:

- *x* front line direct production labor hours
- y = f(x) labor related overhead (indirect labor costs) generated from the production floor. y is expressed as a function of x because the indirect labor costs are generated and built upon the direct labor. The more direct labor force, the more indirect labor efforts are involved in the function of supervision, coordination and scheduling.
- $\frac{dy}{dx}$ represents front line supervisor overhead at a certain number of direct labors supervised. The cost of supervisors is based on the numbers of direct labor (represents by x) they supervise. The first order derivative captures the dynamics of impact on overall production cost due to more or less supervision. For instance, at a certain point, the more supervision involved in the production

process, the labor obtains more on-site assistance resulting in less errors, material waste and scrap which may decrease overall manufacturing cost.

- $x \frac{dy}{dx}$ stands for total costs of front line supervisors. $x \frac{dy}{dx}$ represents the "true" total cost of front line supervisors that incorporates the increasing or decreasing rate of efficiency (rate of returns) of hiring a supervisor for a certain number of direct labor force. The x is actual numbers of front line production labor supervised.
- $\frac{d}{dx}\left(\frac{dy}{dx}\right) = \frac{d^2y}{dx^2}$ is the next level of supervision which can be represented by production manager. The production manager's cost is the second order differential relationship to the *x*. The second order of derivatives intends to capture the overall impact on the total manufacturing costs by adding this level of supervision and management.
- $x * x \frac{d^2 y}{dx^2}$ represents the total "true" cost of production manager who coordinates all production lines, maintains scheduling, manages material movements, monitors the flow of manufacturing process, and communicates with upper management. Therefore, x * x is the weight for the more complex level of supervision.

If there are n layers of supervision (supervisors or managers) in the production plant factory, the total indirect labor overhead costs can be captured in the following equation:

$$a_n x^n \frac{d^n y}{dx^n} + a_{n-1} x_{n-1} \frac{d^{n-1} y}{dx^{n-1}} + \dots + a_1 x \frac{dy}{dx} + a_0 y = g(x)$$

This paper will narrow the analysis focus specifically on three types of indirect labor as explained in the previous section. The total indirect labor costs from production floor can be represented by a Cauchy-Euler Equation (Rabenstein, 1975):

 $a_2x^2\frac{d^2y}{dx^2} + a_1x\frac{dy}{dx} + a_0y = g(x)$, the total indirect labor cost is expressed in a brief form of the Cauchy-Euler Equation

$$(let a = a_2, b = a_1 and c = a_0)$$

For the purpose of discussion, we confine our analysis to solving the homogeneous second-order equation

$$ax^{2}\frac{d^{2}y}{dx^{2}} + bx\frac{dy}{dx} + cy = 0$$
(1)

For y = f(x), indirect labor cost is the function of direct labor hours, we can assume that $y = x^m$ is a general solution of (1), where m is to be determined. The first and second derivatives are, respectively,

$$\frac{dy}{dx} = mx^{m-1}$$
 and $\frac{d^2y}{dx^2} = m(m-1)x^{m-2}$

Consequently the differential equation (1) becomes

$$ax^{2}\frac{d^{2}y}{dx^{2}} + bx\frac{dy}{dx} + cy = ax^{2} * m(m-1)x^{m-2} + bx * mx^{m-1} + cx^{m}$$
$$= am(m-1)x^{m} + bmx^{m} + cx^{m}$$
$$= x^{m}(am(m-1) + bm + c)$$

Thus $y = x^m$ is a solution of the differential equation whenever m is a solution of the trivial equation (2).

$$am(m-1) + bm + c = 0$$
 or $am^2 + (b-a)m + c = 0$ (2)

There are three different cases to be considered, depending on the whether the roots of this quadratic equation are real and distinct, real and equal, or complex conjugate. [Basic solutions of quadratic equation]:

 $Am^2 + Bm + C = 0$

$$m = \frac{-B \pm \sqrt{B^2 - 4AC}}{2A} \tag{3}$$

Scenario 1:

 $B^2 - 4AC > 0$: Two distinct real roots

Let m_1 and m_2 denote the real roots of (2) and $m_1 \neq m_2$. Then

$$y_1 = x^{m_1}$$
 and $y_2 = x^{m_2}$

Hence the general solution is

$$y = c_1 x^{m_1} + c_2 x^{m_2} \tag{4}$$

Scenario 2:

 $B^2 - 4AC = 0$: Repeated real roots

If the roots of (2) are repeated, that is, $m_1 = m_2$ then we obtain only one solution, namely, $y = x^{m_1}$. From the quadratic formula, the root must be $m_1 = -(b - a)/2a$.

To solve for a second solution y_2 , divide the brief form of the Cauchy-Euler equation (1) by ax^2 to obtain the following form

$$\frac{d^2y}{dx^2} + \frac{b}{ax}\frac{dy}{dx} + \frac{c}{ax^2}y = 0$$
 Thus (see appendix for supplemental derivation),
$$y_2 = x^{m_1} \int \frac{e^{-\int (b/ax)dx}}{(x^{m_1})^2} dx$$

$$= \chi^{m_1} \int \frac{e^{-\int (b/a) lnx}}{\chi^{2m_1}} \mathrm{dx}$$

$$= x^{m_1} \int x^{-b/a} * x^{(b-a)/a} dx$$
$$= x^{m_1} \int \frac{dx}{x} = x^{m_1} lnx$$

The general solution is then

$$y = c_1 x^{m_1} + c_2 x^{m_1} lnx$$

Scenario 3:

 $B^2 - 4AC < 0$: Conjugate complex roots

If the roots of (2) are the conjugate pair $m_1 = \propto +i\beta$, $m_2 = \propto -i\beta$ (*i*: imaginary number) where \propto and β are real numbers, then a solution is

 $y = c_1 x^{\alpha + i\beta} + c_2 x^{\alpha - i\beta}$

As in the case of the equation with constant coefficients, when the roots of equation (2) are complex, the solution will be expressed in terms of real numbers only. Note the identity $[e^{i\theta} = \cos \theta + i \sin \theta]$

(5)

$$x^{i\beta} = (e^{\ln x})^{i\beta} = e^{i\beta \ln x}$$
$$x^{i\beta} = \cos(\beta \ln x) + i\sin(\beta \ln x)$$

Similarly,

$$x^{-i\beta} = \cos(\beta \ln x) - i\sin(\beta \ln x)$$

Adding and subtracting the last two results yield, respectively,

$$x^{i\beta} + x^{-i\beta} = 2\cos(\beta \ln x)$$
 and

$$x^{i\beta} - x^{-i\beta} = 2i\sin(\beta \ln x)$$

From the fact that $y = c_1 x^{\alpha + i\beta} + c_2 x^{\alpha - i\beta}$ is a solution of $ax^2y'' + bxy' + cy = 0$

for any values of the constants c_1 and c_2 we see that

$$y_1 = x^{\alpha} (x^{i\beta} + x^{-i\beta}), (c_1 = c_2 = 1)$$

$$y_2 = x^{\alpha} (x^{i\beta} - x^{-i\beta}), (c_1 = 1, c_2 = -1) \text{ or }$$

$$y_1 = 2x^{\alpha} \left(\cos(\beta \ln x) \right)$$

 $y_2 = 2i x^{\alpha} (\sin(\beta \ln x))$

Hence, the general solution is

90

$$y = x^{\alpha} [c_1 \cos(\beta \ln x) + c_2 \sin(\beta \ln x)]$$
(6)
where $\alpha = \frac{m_1 + m_2}{2}$, $\beta = \frac{m_1 - m_2}{2i}$

Example:

The model can also be applied to a service context. Following is an example of airline carriers. This example uses American Airlines and United Airlines because of their similar operating scale evidenced by the closeness of the costs of Aircraft and Traffic Servicing Labor ($$106,418 \approx $104,150$). Cost of labor inputs of these two airline carriers are used to illustrate the second scenario repeated real roots where $B^2 - 4AC = 0$.

Table 1: Inputs Labor Costs by Category (Means in Thousands)

Carrier	Aircraft & Traffic	Promotions &	Flying Operations	Passenger Service	General Overhead
	Servicing Labor	Sales Labor	Labor	Labor	
American Airlines	106,418	112,297	98,098	52,685	135,352
United Airlines	104,150	122,467	141,899	80,965	143,744

Data source: The labor inputs costs are partially adopted from the data used in Banker and Johnson (1993).

Using this model, we can insert the relative value of labor costs of two airline carriers into equation 1, Cauchy-Euler homogeneous second-order equation:

$$ax^{2}\frac{d^{2}y}{dx^{2}} + bx\frac{dy}{dx} + cy = 0$$
(1)

The Promotion & Sales labor category gives us the 1.09 relative value of United Airlines and American Airlines (the division of 122,467 by 112,297). Applying this relative value to equation (1) yields equation (1.1):

$$a * 1.09^2 y'' + b * 1.09 y' + cy = 0 \tag{1.1}$$

To simplify equation (1.1) for trivial solutions, let $a = \frac{1}{1.09^2} = 0.842$ and $b = \frac{1}{1.09} = 0.917$

As previously defined, A = a = 0.842 and B = (b-a) = (0.917 - 0.842) = 0.075

Solve the roots by following $m = \frac{-B \pm \sqrt{B^2 - 4AC}}{2A}$

Under Scenario 2, m = -B/2A = -0.045

According to the general solution for the repeated real roots, $y = c_1 x^{m_1} + c_2 x^{m_1} lnx$ (equation 5), the equation becomes

$$y = c_1 x^{-0.045} + c_2 x^{-0.045} lnx$$

The general relative solutions for Flying Operation Labor and Passenger Service Labor can be solved in the same calculation process:

$$y = c_1 x^{-0.215} + c_2 x^{-0.215} lnx$$

 $y = c_1 x^{-0.27} + c_2 x^{-0.27} lnx$

The Passenger Service Labor is considered as direct labor. The general solution for the Passenger Service Labor is $y = c_1 x^{-0.27} + c_2 x^{-0.27} lnx$ which indicates that the relationship between indirect labor costs and direct labor activity is not linear. For example,

when x = 1,000

$$y = c_1 x^{-0.27} + c_2 x^{-0.27} lnx = c_1 1,000^{-0.27} + c_2 1,000^{-0.27} ln(1,000)$$

= 0.155c_1 + 1.074c_2

If x increases 10 times to 10,000, y increases in different magnitude as follows:

$$y = c_1 x^{-0.27} + c_2 x^{-0.27} lnx = c_1 10,000^{-0.27} + c_2 10,000^{-0.27} ln(10,000)$$

= 0.083c_1 + 0.764c_2

It is noted that when the relative direct labor value of the two airlines increases 10 times, the relative indirect labor costs do not increase proportionally. In fact, in this specific example, when the direct labor activities increase 10 times, the resulting relative indirect labor weights decrease from 0.155 to 0.083 and from 1.074 to 0.764.

RESULTS

As shown in the cost model, the diversity of indirect labor overhead was captured by incorporating weights to each type of labor in the model. When we limit the types of indirect labor to three general types, the equation that captures total "true cost" of indirect labor is simplified to the second order of equation: $ax^2 \frac{d^2y}{dx^2} + bx \frac{dy}{dx} + cy = 0$. When the indirect labor costs were incurred in a small, simple business environment, the coefficients of a and b become zero and the second order equation becomes a linear function (cy = 0). Note that y is a function of x and can be represented by $y = c_1x + c_0$. The relationship between y (indirect labor cost) and x (direct labor hours) is linear and is identified by the coefficients c_1 and c_0 . This happens when there is only one line of variable indirect labor whose working hours are driven by direct labor hours (i.e., quality control operator) or when there is no indirect labor at all, the labor overhead is simply the wages paid to the direct labor for working overtime.

In another case that cost of a first line supervisor or manager does not add additional value or contribution such as improving productivity or saving production costs (when the production floor is indifferent to the additional supervision), the term $\frac{dy}{dx}$ also becomes 0. When $\frac{dy}{dx}$ is equal to zero, the equation is a linear function (cy = 0). Therefore, in a simple context with less diversity of indirect labor or where the function of supervision does not add value to the production, the cost function approaches linear where indirect labor cost is proportionally related to direct labor hours. This represents a perfect context to allocate overhead by calculating the average predetermined overhead rate based on direct labor hour.

Depending on the supervision layers, management style and diversity of supervising tasks, there are three possible solutions to the equations where total indirect labor overhead can be $y = c_1 x^{m_1} + c_2 x^{m_2}$ (see equation 4), or $y = c_1 x^{m_1} + c_2 x^{m_1} lnx$ (equation 5), or $y = x^{\alpha} [c_1 \cos(\beta lnx) + c_2 \sin(\beta lnx)]$ (equation 6). These solutions demonstrate that the effect of indirect labor on overhead is so dynamic that the indirect labor costs and direct labor hours are not linearly related and can be specified by three

different non-linear forms as demonstrated above. The effect of change in direct labor hours on indirect labor costs cannot be captured by a simple linear coefficient but rather can be expressed by several nonlinear forms. There tends to be a fixed portion of indirect labor when increase in direct labor activity is expected to be short in duration; this fixed portion of the indirect work force usually remains the same without hiring additional staff. This is accomplished by upgrading certain positions. A higher graded indirect labor (for example, supervisors or production managers) should be able to handle an additional workload, thereby absorbing any additional work to accommodate the extra demand. The total production increases even though the total indirect labor cost remains the same. The change in the mix of the authorized positions can be one of the reasons that the cost function is not purely linear to direct labor hours. Another reason that contributes to the non-linear relationship is the variability of indirect labor which reflects management policy to control or not to control the amount of indirect labor. For example, a maintenance crew of a given size may be kept in readiness at all times, or the number of maintenance employees may be varied with current work load by various means such as hiring outside contractors. Given those facts, direct labor hours do not proportionally drive the labor-related overhead. The model can also apply to the service context. Airline carriers are used as an example to demonstrate the second scenario of repeated real roots where $B^2-4AC = 0$.). This example also shows that the changes in indirect labor costs are not proportional to the changes in the direct labor costs.

CONCLUDING COMMENTS

The purpose of this paper is to present a model that shows the relationship between indirect labor overhead and cost drivers such as direct labor hours under different conditions. This paper explores the nature of overhead, specifically examining the linearity of indirect labor costs.

According to the model, indirect labor costs relate to direct labor hours in different ways which may not be fully captured by using predetermined average rates to allocate the overhead. It is in a special condition that indirect labor overhead will demonstrate linear relationship to the labor hours. Under that condition, the traditional process or the ABC approach will provide appropriate overhead estimates. However, indirect labor variety and variability lead to indirect labor costs not purely proportional to direct labor hours. If indirect labor cost functions appear to be non-linear after preliminary analysis, caution should be exercised when determining how to allocate the overhead.

It is suggested that costs be further classified into variable and fixed costs. The variable portion can be allocated based on direct labor hours or other appropriate measures to the product. However, the fixed portion should not be allocated down to the product level. Instead, fixed portion can be included in the overall profitability analysis and considered as a share of total cost that should be covered by the revenue. The example shows two airlines' relative costs for demonstration and if labor costs for four or more consecutive years are available, an exact solution of second order differential equation (1) can be solved by using Cauchy-Euler and Runge-Kutta methods. Therefore, future costs and profits can be predicted more accurately.

This study is subject to a few limitations. First, three types of indirect labor costs were used to derive the model and second, the Cauchy-Euler homogeneous second-order equation may not fully capture the magnitude of nonlinear relationship if there were more indirect costs elements incorporated into the model.

Two possible lines of research could be conducted to further explore the nature of overhead. First, models can be established to closely investigate other types of overhead; second, the model in this paper attempts to generally describe the behavior of overhead for a short-run time frame. The model could be

further refined by incorporating other conditions or macro factors such as labor contracts and size of segment to extend the model that might assist in a company's long term planning and controlling.

APPENDIX

To derive from
$$\frac{d^2 y}{dx^2} + \frac{b}{ax} \frac{dy}{dx} + \frac{c}{ax^2} = 0$$
 to $y^2 = x^{m_1} \int \frac{e^{-\int (b/ax)dx}}{(x^{m_1})^2} dx$
 $y'' + P(x)y' + Q(x)y = 0$ (a)
where $P(x) = \frac{b}{and} Q(x) = \frac{c}{ax^2}$

where $P(x) = \frac{b}{ax}$ and $Q(x) = \frac{c}{ax^2}$

Assume that $y_1(x)$ is a solution of (a) and that $y_1(x) \neq 0$. If we define $y = u(x) y_1(x)$, it follows that

$$y' = uy'_{1} + y_{1}u'$$

$$y'' = uy'_{1} + 2y'_{1}u' + y_{1}u''$$

$$y'' + Py' + Qy = y_{1}u'' + (2y'_{1} + Py_{1})u' + [y''_{1} + Py'_{1} + Qy_{1}]u = 0$$
From equation (a), $[y''_{1} + Py'_{1} + Qy_{1}]u = 0$, we have

$$y_1 u'' + (2y'_1 + Py_1)u' = 0$$
 or
 $y_1 w' + (2y'_1 + Py_1)w = 0$

Where we have let w = u', we obtain

$$\frac{dw}{w} + 2\frac{y'_1}{y_1}dx + Pdx = 0$$
$$\ln|w| = 2\ln|y_1| = -\int Pdx + c$$
$$\ln|wy_1^2| = -\int Pdx + c$$
$$wy_1^2 = c_1 e^{-\int Pdx}$$
$$w = u' = c_1 \frac{e^{-\int Pdx}}{y_1^2}$$

Integrating again gives $u = c_1 \int \frac{e^{-\int p(x)dx}}{y_1^2(x)} dx + c_2$ and therefore

$$y = u(x)y_1(x) = c_1y_1(x) \int \frac{e^{-\int p(x)dx}}{y_1^2(x)} dx + c_2y_1(x)$$

By choosing $c_2 = 0$ and $c_1 = 1$, we find that a second solution of equation (1) is

$$y_2 = y_1(x) \int \frac{e^{-\int p \, dx}}{y_1^2(x)} \, dx$$
 (b)

Substitute P by b/ax, and knowing that $y_1 = x^{m_1}$, (b) becomes

$$y_2 = x^{m_1} \int \frac{e^{-\int (b/ax)dx}}{(x^{m_1})^2} dx$$

REFERENCES

Balakrishnan, R., Labro, E. & Sivaramakrishnan, K (2012). "Product Costs as Decision Aids: An Analysis of Alternative Approaches (Part 2)," *Accounting Horizon*, vol. 26(1), p.21-41

Banker, R. & Johnston, H (1993). "An Empirical Study of Cost Drivers in the U.S. Airline Industry," *The Accounting Review*, vol. 68(3), p.576-601.

Cooper, Robin (1987a) "The Two-Stage Procedure in Cost Accounting-Part one," Journal of Cost Management, Summer, vol. 1(2), p. 43-51

Cooper, Robin (1987b) "The Two-Stage Procedure in Cost Accounting-Part Two," Journal of Cost Management, vol. 1(3), p.39-45

Cooper, Robin (1988) "The Rise of Activity-Based Costing-Part One, What is an Activity-Based Cost System?" *Journal of Cost Management*, vol. 2(2), p.45-54

Cooper, R. & Kaplan, R (1988). "Measure Costs Right: Make the Right Decisions," *Harvard Business Review*, Sept-Oct, p.96-103

Garrison, R., Noreen, E. & Brewer, P (2012). *Managerial Accounting*, 14th edition, McGraw-Hill Irwin. New York, NY

Gray, P. & Jurison, J (1995). *Productivity in the Office and the Factory*, International Thomson Publishing, Denver, CO.

Gunasekaran, A., Korukonda, A., Virtanen, A., & Yli-Olli, P (1994). "Improving Productivity and Quality in Manufacturing Organizations," *International Journal of Production Economics*, vol. 36(2), p.73-82

Horngren, C., Datar, S. & Foster, G (2012). Cost Accounting- A Managerial Emphasis, Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, NJ.

Johnson, H. & Kaplan, R (1987). *Relevance Lost: the Rise and Fall of Management Accounting*, Harvard Business School Press, Boston, MA.

Kang, S. & Hong, P (2002). "Technological Changes and Demand for Skills in Developing Countries," *The Developing Economics*, vol. 40(2), p.188-207

Kim, K. & Hon, I (2008). "Application of a hybrid genetic algorithm and neural network approach in activity-based costing," *Expert Systems with Applications*, vol. 24(1), January, p.73-77

Krajewski, J., & Ritzman, L (2004). *Operation Management Strategy and Analysis*, Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, IL

McNair, C. J. (2007) Beyond the boundaries: Future trends in cost management. *Cost Management*, 21 (1), p.10–21.

Noreen, Eric (1991) "Condition under Which Activity-Based Costing Systems Provide Relevant Costs," *Journal of Management Accounting Research*, Fall, p.159-168

Noreen, E. & Soderstrom, N. (1994) "Are Overhead costs Strictly Proportional to Activity?" Journal of Accounting and Economics, vol.17 (1), p.255-278

Noreen, E. & Soderstrom, N (1997). "The Accuracy of Proportional Cost Models: Evidence from Hospital Service Departments," *Review of Accounting Studies*, vol. 2(1), p.89-114

Rabenstein, Albert (1975) Elementary Differential Equations with Linear Algebra, Academic Press.

Ramani, T., Quadrifoglio, L. & Zietsman, J (2010). "Accounting for Nonlinearity in the MCDM Approach for a Transportation Planning Application," *IEEE Transactions on Engineering Management*, vol. 57(4), p.701-710.

Wacker, G., Yang, C. & Chwen, S (2006). "Productivity of Production Labor, Non Production Labor, and Capital: An International Study," *International Journal of Production Economics*, vol. 103 (2), p.863-872

BIOGRAPHY

Dr. Chiang, is currently an Associate Professor of Accountancy at The College of New Jersey. She received her MBA and PhD from Drexel University. Dr. Chiang's primary area of research interest is cost management, performance measurement and control systems. Dr. Chiang can be reached at (609)771-3056 or bchiang@tcnj.edu.

FLEXIBLE WORKING ARRANGEMENT AND STRESS MANAGEMENT TRAINING IN MITIGATING AUDITOR'S BURNOUT: AN EXPERIMENTAL STUDY

Intiyas Utami, SatyaWacana Christian University Supriyadi, Gadjah Mada University

ABSTRACT

This study examines the effectiveness of two burnout mitigation strategies (flexible work arrangement and stress management training) on auditors' job outcomes. Burnout is characterized by emotional exhaustion, reduced personal accomplishment, and depersonalization. It has negative impacts on individual auditor's job outcomes. The study employs a 2x2-between-subject experimental design with the participants of 48 accounting students as novice auditors. The experimental treatments were flexible vs. standard work arrangement and training vs. no training of management stress. The results showed that flexible work arrangements and training of management stress effectively reduces negative effects of burnout on auditor outcomes. Auditors in the group with flexible work arrangements and training of management stress have the highest job satisfaction and performance, and the lowest turnover intention.

JEL: M42

KEYWORDS: Burnout, Flexible Work Arrangement, Training of Management Stress

INTRODUCTION

uditors face job pressures brought on by the demands for precision and professional skepticism of their responsibility to produce a high quality audit report. Jones, Norman, and Wier (2010) argue several attributes related to auditors' career may lead to a difficult situation creating a stressful working environment. For example when auditors are in the busy season working for more than ten hours per day, in a limited time period for several months causes stress. During their busy time, auditors often work on simultaneous assignments with short deadlines. This condition gives rise to a responsibility conflict of job, family, and other personal activities (Fogarty, Singh, Rhoads and Moore, 2000; Sanders, Fulks and Knoblett, 1995). Burnout is a form of stress experienced by the auditors that has got attention from previous studies with analyses of some factors of its antecedents or consequences (Fogarty et al., 2000; Goolsby, 1992; Schiltz dan Syverud, 1999). Burnout is a psychological phenomenon characterized by three related symptoms, such as emotional exhaustion, reduced personal accomplishment, and depersonalization (Fogarty et al., 2000). Furthermore, several studies related to burnout in accounting field have been done, including, burnout symptoms occurred in auditors' profession (Rose, 1983) and Sanders, 1998), internal audit (Kusel and Deyoub, 1983), and management accounting (Figler, 1980).

The empirical evidence from previous research shows that burnout has effects on dysfunctional behavior of auditors that result in substantial inefficiency on either organization or individual, such as turnover intention, absenteeism, and lower productivity (Jackson and Maslach, 1982; Leiter and Maslach, 1988; and Shirom, 1989). Fogarty et al. (2000), Murtiasri and Ghozali (2006), and Jones at el. (2010) documented that burnout mediates a relationship between job stressor consisting of role conflict, role ambiguity, and role overload, and job outcomes consisting of job performance, job satisfaction, and turnover intention. The increase of pressure on antecedent factor (job stressor) will increase the burnout intensity and then will result in diminished job outcomes of auditors. Nevertheless, those studies have not considered the factors which may mitigate burnout for increasing auditors' outcomes.

Goolsby (1992) uses role stress theory to identify ways to mitigate burnout conditions in marketing organizations. Mitigating burnout through a burnout-coping strategy could be done by intrinsic support (controlling character or condition of an individual) and extrinsic support (creating organizational and social environment). Jones et al. (2010) argue that a healthy individual life is an intrinsic support that could be used as a mechanism to prevent burnout. However, that mechanism tends to originate from the individual side of an auditor and is out of the public accounting firm's control. Thus, not all auditors have this kind of intrinsic support. Greenhaus and Parasuraman (via Goolsby, 1992) and several experts in organizational change environment suggest that an organization might improve stress reaction by modifying its working environment and carrying out stress management training programs. Modifying the work environment is done by creating flexibility in the work environment by allowing individuals to adjust their skills within the organization's requirements (Goolsby, 1992).

For example, in 1993, Deloitte and Touche adopted a flexible program for its female employees to fulfill the ethical obligations to create an appropriate professional environment (Cohen and Single, 2001). Almer and Kaplan (2002) compare the response between two groups of auditors in which each are in a standard or flexible working environment. Those who are in a flexible working environment experience lower burnout, higher job satisfaction, and lower turnover intention than those in a standard working environment. Nevertheless, the strategy used by Deloitte and Touche (1993) as well as Almer and Kaplan (2002) have not used the strategy of stress management training as suggested by Greenhaus and Parasuraman in Goolsby (1992). This study develops Almer's and Kaplan's (2002) approach by adding stress management training program as a burnout mitigating variable. The objective of this research is to experimentally test the effectiveness of two burnout mitigating strategies, a flexible work arrangement and stress management training, to improve novice auditors' performance. Following Courdes dan Dougherty (1993) suggestion, this research uses an experimental method to provide insight to causes, consequences, and ways of mitigating burnout. Most previous were based on limited survey data. Auditors' outcomes are represented by three variables which are job satisfaction, turnover intention, and auditors' substantive test performance. We expect that flexible work arrangements and stress management training separately will mitigate negative burnout impacts on auditors' outcomes and both will result in the best auditors' outcomes. The study employs a 2x2 between-subject experimental design with 48 participants who are randomly assigned to four groups. Each group consists of 12 participants.

The experiment is conducted first by distributing substantive test assignments to all participants in order to create a burnout condition. Then, they are randomly assigned to four groups, each with the treatments of flexible work arrangement, stress management training, a combination of both, or a control group getting none of the treatments. The results of the experiment shows that flexible work arrangement and stress management training separately mitigate negative burnout impacts on auditors' outcomes and simultaneously results in the best auditors' outcomes. This result is expected to enrich behavioral accounting literature, especially in the burnout management field. The results of this study may provide avenues for accounting firms to manage their auditors so that they achieve a high quality audit performance. The remainder of this paper is organized as follows. In the next section hypotheses development is presented. The third section provides the experimental research method used in this study, and the fourth explains the results and implications of the study. The conclusion and limitations of the study are presented in the last section.

LITERATURE REVIEW

Burnout

Burnout has attracted the attention of researchers, practitioners and the general public during the past 35 years (Schaufeli, Leiter dan Maslach, 2008). Burnout, first introduced by Freudenberger (1974), is a

representation of psychological stress syndrome as a negative response resulting from work pressure (Cordes dan Dougherty, 1993). Burnout is a syndrome of emotional exhaustion, reduced personal accomplishment, and depersonalization that can occur among individuals who work with people in some capacity (Maslach and Jackson, 1981). Emotional exhaustion is revealed by the deepest energy and feeling resulting from excessive psycho-emotional demands, which are characterized by the absenteeism of feeling and care, confidence, interest, and courage (Ray and Miller, 1994). Reduced personal accomplishment is an attribute of self-actualization, absenteeism, low work motivation, and lower self-confidence related to each individual's achievement (outcomes) (Cordes dan Dougherty, 1993). Schaufeli et al. (2008) stated that late 1980s, researchers and practitioners began to recognize that burnout occurred outside the human services, for instance among managers, entrepreneurs, and white-and blue collar workers. Burnout is caused by conditions referred to as role stressors, despite its connection to stress, burnout is not a stressor *per se* (Fogarty et al.2000).

Coping Strategies

Coping is defined as the process of managing external and/or internal demands that tax or exceed the resources of the person (Lazarus, 1981). There are two key features to this definition: it emphasizes process, and it describes coping in terms of relationship between the person and the environment (Folkman, 1982). Coping that is directed at managing or altering the problem is called *problem-focused coping* and coping that is directed at managing or reducing emotional distress is called emotion-focused coping (Folkman and Lazarus, 1984.). Folkman (1982) stated that problem and emotion-focused coping includes both cognitive and behavioral strategies. Problem-focused coping, includes strategies directed at analyzing the situation and strategies involving action. Emotion-focused coping includes cognitive strategies such as looking on the bright side of things as behavioral strategies.

Flexible work arrangements have been well-known as an employee benefit since the early 1970s (Sladek, 1995; Sullivan and Lussier, 1995). Flexible work arrangements, for example, is working with less working hours or working with the same working hours but with greater flexibility (Almer and Kaplan, 2002). By ignoring specific a format, a flexible work arrangement changes the professional working environment. Flexibility gives a chance to professionals since it "…is no longer working during the same hours and/or as many hours as in the norm in their office" (Hooks and Higgs, 2000). From an accounting firm's point of view, a flexible work arrangement is said to be successful if participating employees feel more comfortable and are willing to work at that accounting firm (Almer and Kaplan, 2002).

Stress management training is a part of mentoring from mentor to mentee of an organization. The mentoring relationship is present to model positive coping strategies and through social support stress may decrease (Kram, 1983; Kram & Hall, 1989). Psychological empowerment and job satisfaction will increased if positive coping strategies give the mentee a feeling of increased competence (Luna & Cullen, 1995) in Chung (2011). Job satisfaction is an individual's affective response in the work place (Brief and Wiess, 2002; Bamber and Iyer, 2002). Locke defines job satisfaction as a pleasant or emotionally positive condition, resulting from someone's judgment towards his/her own job or working experience (Saari and Judge, 2004, Vandenberg and Lance, 1992). Job satisfaction refers to common characteristic of an individual towards his/her job. Locke (1976) via Judge and Locke (1993) distinguishes job satisfaction as a positive emotion felt by an employee. Someone with high job satisfaction shows a positive attitude towards his/her job (Robbins, 2001). However, Mobley *et al.*, (1979) argue that an individual having high job satisfaction tends to survive in his/her working environment, reversely, an individual having low job satisfaction tends to change his/her working position.

Turnover intention is a direct cause of employees' turnover (Lee dan Mowday, 1987). Turnover intention refers to employees' willingness to look for an alternative job which has not been realized in action (Pasewark and Strawser, 1996). Turnover is defined as a voluntarily self withdrawal or involuntarily self withdrawal from an organization (Robbins, 2001). Voluntary turnover is a decision to leave an organization because of two factors, which are how interesting a current work is, as well as the availability of other job alternatives. On the contrary, involuntarily turnover or firing reflects an employer's decision to end up working relationship and it tends to be uncontrollable for employees experiencing it. Voluntarily turnover is a center of attention for researchers (Lee *et.al*, 1994).

According to Campion (1991), voluntarily turnover can be functional as well as disfunctional. It is functional if an employee leaving the organization is less or not competent at all (deserves to leave), so that it gives a chance for everyone to have motivation and better ability. Disfunctional turnover is when a leaving employee is an unexpected leaving employee since the withdrawal itself might bother and reduce the effectiveness of an organization (Campion, 1991), diminish performance and even decrease the ability to maintain organizational survival (Cattani, *et.al.*, 2002).

In the role stress model, performance is a consequence resulting from role pressure and job satisfaction and turnover intention. Performance, based on Kalbers and Fogarty (1996), is a measurement of efficiency and effectiveness of job achievement defined as evaluation towards a job done through direct supervisors, colleagues, one's own, and direct subordinates. Low performance related to role pressure is also discussed by Greene and Organ (1973) in Rebele and Michaels (1990). Job performance depends on personal's interaction and nurture of mutual relationships towards each other, and possibly influenced by role conflict and ambiguity of some jobs which have to be done (Jackson and Schuler, 1985).

Flexible Work Arrangement as Burnout Mitigating Strategy

Perceived usability construct is an indicator of the availability of flexible working policy from an organization. A flexible work practice from perceived usability refers to the freedom of doing flexible work which is available through a formal policy of an organization (Eaton, 2003). When the job stressor is increasing, either as role ambiguity, role conflict, or role overload, it will affect job outcomes. However, the availability of a flexible work arrangement decreases negative impacts of burnout to job outcomes. Lambert, Marler and Gueutal (2008) define a flexible work arrangement as a benefactor from employer to employees based on their levels of control towards time and place outside their standard working days. Lambert et al. (2008) state that work arrangements consist of time flexibility and emphasis on weekly working schedules. As for an example, an employee may choose to work overtime during the day, yet, be compensated with less working days each week.

Through the flexibility of work arrangements, auditors would be more flexible on finishing their jobs. In a burnout condition, the psychological welfare they perceive will increase and it will have positive impacts on job satisfaction and performance. Based on Goolsby (1992), boundary role stimuli (BRS) or limited role stimuli, represents a tension through two cognitive processes. These processes are recognition and reaction in a role tension model. That model shows that a relationship between recognition and reaction will be influenced by intrinsic and extrinsic supports. The extrinsic support can be an organization strategy, whereas the intrinsic support originated from individual's own. The organization strategy suggested by Goolsby is work flexibility and an intervention program. Mattis (1990) and Scandura and Lankau (1997) argue that employees using a flexible work arrangement are able to increase their job satisfaction and commitment to their organizations. In the accounting field, Hooks et al. (1997) state that turnover intention among professionals should be lower when they are under flexible working arrangement. Through the availability of flexible work arrangements, when an individual experiencing burnout because of role pressure and employee experiences higher job satisfaction, lower turnover intention, and higher job performance. Researchers expect that accounting firms can increase auditors'

performance by using an extrinsic support policy to mitigate burnout conditions experienced by auditors. Specifically, the hypotheses relate to impacts of flexible work arrangements as an extrinsic support on job satisfaction, turnover intention, and auditors' outcomes as follows:

- H1: Flexible work arrangements mitigate the negative impacts of burnout condition on auditors' job satisfaction.
- H2: Flexible work arrangements mitigate the negative impacts of burnout condition on auditors' turnover intention.
- H3: Flexible work arrangements mitigate the negative impacts of burnout condition on auditors' performance.

Stress Management Training as Burnout Mitigating Strategy

According to Goolsby (1992), an organization can reduce stress reaction by increasing the individual's ability to overcome and prevent stress through an intervention program, such as stress management training program. Empirically, this program has mitigated participants' stress (Murphy, 1987). This stress management training is a coping technique defined as a cognitive and behavioral effort to manage external demands and/or internal demands which valued as exceeding someone's resources (Lazarus and Folkman, 1984). Two strategies, emotion focused and problem focused strategies, used for explaining how coping may mitigate role pressure reaction, are expressed as moderating variables (Goolsby, 1992).

Emotion focused response is mitigates or manages emotional distress which is caused by a full pressure situation. A problem focused strategy is used as a control, changing and managing a situation that causes stress (Goolsby, 1992). The problem focused strategy involves preventing responses when an individual accepts that the effort used for modifying the environment will be constructive (Lazarus dan Folkman, 1994). Moreover, Goolsby (1992) identifies that an organization can mitigate stress reaction by improving individual problem solving. The ability to overcome stress is developed through intervention programs. The organization may provide assistance to staff, finance, and training for social support groups, chancellors, and managers (Greenhaus and Parasuraman, 1987 in Goolsby, 1992). Murphy (1987) suggests that stress management training mitigates psychological stress measurement in most participants.

The application of stress management training can mitigate burnout felt by auditors, especially when they are doing audit assignments. The reduced burnout causes increased job satisfaction and increased auditors' outcomes (Fogarty et al.2000, Jones et al.2000, Almer and Kaplan, 2002), as well as diminished turnover intention (Fogarty et al.2000, Jones et al.2000, Almer and Kaplan, 2002, Cohen and Single, 2001, Firth and Britton 1989). Therefore, researchers expect that accounting firms can improve their auditors' performance by employing an intervention program as an extrinsic support policy in order to reduce burnout conditions encompassing the auditors. Specifically, the hypotheses relates to the impacts of stress management training as an extrinsic support on job satisfaction, turnover intention, and auditors' performance as follows.

- *H4: Stress management training mitigates the negative impacts of burnout condition on auditors' job satisfaction.*
- H5: Stress management training mitigates the negative impacts of burnout condition on auditors' turnover intention.
- *H6: Stress management training mitigates the negative impacts of burnout condition on auditors' performance.*

In general, researchers expect the combination of accounting firms' two extrinsic policies, flexible work arrangement and stress management burnout altogether will effectively mitigate the negative impacts of burnout conditions on auditors' job satisfaction, turnover intention, and performance. Lazarus and Folkman (1984) explained that the combination of problem focused coping effort and emotion-focused coping effort is highly dependent on appraisals performed by individuals on the situation at hand. In reality people use both problem-focused coping and emotion-focused coping in stressful situations (Folkman and Lazarus, 1980; Gaudreau and Blondin, 2004). A combination of distraction-oriented coping with task-oriented coping (i.e problem focused coping) leads to more positive outcomes (Gaudreau and Blondin, 2004). Hence, we formulate the following hypotheses to be examined in this study.

- H7: In a burnout condition, auditors who receive flexible work arrangements and stress management training will achieve the highest job satisfaction.
- H8: In a burnout condition, auditors who receive flexible work arrangements and stress management training will achieve the lowest turnover intention.
- H9: In a burnout condition, auditors who receive flexible work arrangements and stress management training will achieve the best performance.

Figure 1 below shows research model which describes the relationship among variables to be investigated.



Figure 1: Research Methodology

This figure shows the research methodology used in the study.

DATA AND METHODOLOGY

This study employs a 2x2 between-subject experimental design. The experiment is conducted in a class with accounting students who have taken Auditing and Auditing Practice courses, and been treated as novice auditors being the research subjects. Experiments were administrated in the second academic semester 2012. In the audit assignment, novice auditors will get tasks which are full of complex technical jobs so they experience a burnout condition. Besides, the result of novice auditors' jobs will also give a significant contribution to senior auditors' or partners' judgment in giving audit opinion. In the beginning of the experiment, all participants are put under burnout conditions first then randomly assigned to four groups. Each group gets a treatment of either flexible work arrangement, stress management training, a combination of flexible work arrangement and stress management training, or control group which gets neither treatment. The experimental design matrix is depicted in Table 1 shows a four group

experiment, consist of Group 1: flexible work arrangement-stress management training; Group 2: non flexible work arrangement- stress management training; Group 3: flexible work arrangement without stress management training and, Group 4 non flexible work arrangement-without stress management training.

Table 1: Experimental Design Matrix

	Flexible Work Arrangement	Non Flexible Work Arrangement		
Stress Management Training	Group 1	Group 2		
Without Stress Management Training	Group 3	Group 4		

This table shows the experimental design matrix.

Research Variables and Operational Definitions of Variables

Independent variables or treatments are burnout and burnout mitigating strategies. These strategies are flexible work arrangements and stress management training. The burnout variable employs one dimension that is emotional exhaustion represented by questions from the 1981 Maslach Burnout Inventory (MBI) instrument. To create a burnout condition, participants are asked to do audit practice tasks from a practical case in a laboratorium which has been modified by researchers, such as the completion of audit tasks, from completing an audit working sheet to making adjusting entries in 120 minutes. Flexible work arrangement treatment is self developed by researchers, referring to Cohen's article (2001) and workplace flexibility 2010, as well as McNall, Masuda, and Nicklin (2010). Stress management training is facilitated by a professional motivator who gives a strategy to overcome stress in order to be able to keep motivated while finishing the tasks. Auditors' job outcomes' variable is the dependent variable. It is measured by three dimensions: job satisfaction, turnover intention, and job performance. The job satisfaction instrument in this study is adopted from Andre's, Bissel's and Perrar's work (1999) consisting of ten questions with answers in a seven score Likert scale. The performance variable is measured by auditors' ability to answer correctly which audit tasks were completed and several basic questions about accounting treatment towards problems that arise in the audit assignments. Last, turnover intention is measured by using three questions from Jones et al. (2010).

Experimental Procedure

The experimental procedure and assignment were developed based on substantive test materials in an audit practice course. This audit practice task is developed from a cases in an audit practice course, found in PT. We use Harapan Utama's financial statements with adjusted numbers to make it as realistic as possible. After all materials and procedures have been distributed, researchers carry out focus group discussions (FGD) to discuss the materials and procedures with public accountant practitioners from a middle scale accounting firm as well as accounting and auditing lecturers. Then, a pilot test is conducted to test the validity of tasks and experimental protocols by involving participants, who are accounting tutors, in one of private universities in Indonesia, where the experiment is conducted.

The first task for participants, as auditors in an accounting firm, is to identify audit evidence in substantive test in order to make adjusting entries suggested by auditors. The aim is to create auditors' burnout conditions just before they get an experimental treatment and further audit tasks. In this substantive test, participants are required to complete an audit working sheet and to cross index on the working sheet by using colorful tints according to the types of notes (black for adjusting entries, blue for explanation on each entry, and red for worksheet index). At the end of the first task, all of the participants have to complete and submit the summary of adjusting entries on the working sheet provided. The allocated time to finish this experiment task is two hours. After the task is completed, participants are asked to complete a manipulation check questionnaire to measure burnout. Manipulation check uses the

I. Utami & Suprayadi | AT + Vol. 5 + No. 1 + 2013

emotional exhaustion dimension of burnout instrument from Maslach and Folkman (1981), that consists of four questions with measurement scale of 1 (fully disagree) up to measurement scale of 7 (fully agree).

Furthermore, participants are randomly assigned to four groups as follows, group 1 with "stress management training" and "flexible work arrangement" experimental treatments; group 2 with "stress management training" and "non-flexible work arrangement" experimental treatments; group 3 with "without stress management training" and "flexible work arrangement" experimental treatments; and group 4 does not get any experimental treatment. The stress management training" experimental treatment is conducted in a class for 1.5 hours by a professional motivator. "Flexible work arrangement" experimental treatment is manipulated by letting participants choose their own places and facilities (can be in a class or in a park around the class) to do their tasks and announce that the result of their tasks are to be submitted after the experiment ends. Whilst, the "non-flexible work arrangement" experimental treatment after the experiment ends. Whilst, the "non-flexible work arrangement" experimental treatment and they have to get those tasks done in two hours.

Each participant's task in each group is completing a working trial balance working sheet as a base for making audited financial statements (income statement, equity statement, and audited balance sheet). After finishing the last task of this audit assignment, each participant in each group is required to fill out a questionnaire of job satisfaction, turnover intention, outcomes measurement, demography data, and manipulation check according to the experimental treatment they are assigned. In the last part, participants from all groups are gathered together in a room for debriefing and door prize drawing of four 4GB-USB of which each is for one winner from each treatment groupThe participants of this experiment are 48 undergraduate accounting students (12 students in each group) from one of the largest private universities in Indonesia who have taken auditing and audit practice courses. This university is chosen since not only it has a big accounting major, but also is a private university which cooperates with three, big four accounting firms (PriceWaterhouse Coopers, KPMG, and Delloitte). This condition is expected to be able to delineate the readiness of accounting students to enter professional careers as novice professional auditors. Participants' involvement is voluntary by signing up to the administration office at university's accounting department after researchers announcing this experimental study plan, a month before it is finally carried out. In order to attract participants, researchers give information in the announcement that this experiment task is an interesting audit assignment for auditor wannabes and each participant is promised a monetary incentive of which the amount depends on their own work achievements. Furthermore, all participants are promised to be given participatory certificates from the university. Participants' incentive is computed based on two components, the first is a fixed incentive of IDR10,000 of which participants will get eventually by participating in this experiment.

The second is a variable incentive, amounted IDR1,500 for every correct answer they get. Thus, the scheme of total insentive per participant = IDR10,000+ IDR1,500(X), given X is a total of correct answers. In this experiment, the lowest total incentive received by a participant is IDR25,000.00 and the highest total incentive is IDR35,000.00. Generally, this total insentive has been very sufficient and slightly above the average minimum wage allowed per day. Aside from it, all participants also get a lunch, snack, and beverage to participate in this experiment which requires approximately six hours for following all of the processes. Table 2 provides a description of demographical data of fourty eight participants in this experiment. Table 2 presents the demographics of participants (52.1%) are third year students and 22 participants (45.8%) are fourth year students. According to their academic achievements, 20 participants (41.7%) have GPAs of 2.5-3.0 and 23 participants (47.9%) have GPAs of more than 3.5, and the rest have GPAs of 3.1-3.5.

Explanation	Total (People)	Percentage (%)
Gender		
Female	33	68.8
Male	15	31.2
Age		
20 years old	14	29.2
21 years old	21	43.8
22 years old	12	25.0
23 years old	1	2.1
Year		
Third	25	52.1
Fourth	22	45.8
Fifth	1	2.1
GPA		
2.5-3.00	20	41.7
3.1 -3.25	3	6.2
3.26-3.50	2	4.2
>3.51	23	47.9

Table 2: Participants' Demography

Source: Processed Primary Data (2011)

RESULTS

Participants in this study take a role as novice auditors who have been working for several months in an accounting firm. In the first phase, forty eight (48) participants are given a task to identify audit evidence and make audit working sheets in order to make auditors' suggested adjusting entries. After working on the task for two hours, participants are asked to fill out a questionnaire of manipulation to check for burnout conditions they may feel. The burnout manipulation check has a theoretical average of 16, implying that, if participants experience burnout conditions, the scores will be more than 16. Table 3 shows that all participants experience burnout conditions with the scores ranged from 17-28, with an average of 22.5. Thus all participants fulfill the requirement of getting further treatments in one of four treatment groups allocated randomly. The same happened to the results of the manipulation check of treatment scores of stress management training, flexible work arrangement, and non-flexible work arrangement are the same, at 11 and ranging from 8 to 14, with the theoretical average of 8.

Variable	Theore	Theoretical		Facts			
	Range	Mean	Range	Mean	Explanation		
Burnout Condition	4-28	16	17-28	22.5	100% participants are in a		
					burnout condition		
Stress Management Training	2-14	8	8-14	11	100% participants feel that sress		
					management training has been of		
					a help to finish audit assignments		
Flexible Work Arrangement	2-14	8	8-14	11	100% partcipants experiencing		
					flexible work arrangement		
Non Flexible Work Arrangement	2-14	8	8-14	11	100% participants experiencing		
					non flexible work arrangemet		

Source: Processed Primary Data (2011)

To test the effectiveness of the randomization procedure in eliminating individual's characteristic differences among groups, a differential test is conducted among four treatment groups. The result of a One-Way Anova from demographical characteristics of gender, age, semester, and GPA is presented in Table 4. Table 4 shows there is no significant difference among groups in the characteristics of gender (flexible vs. non-flexible work arrangement = 0.762; stress management training vs. non training = 0.361); age (flexible vs. non flexible work arrangement=0.722; stress management training vs. non training = 0.722). There are no significant difference in the characteristics of semester (flexible vs. non-flexible work arrangement training vs. non training = 0.722). There are no significant difference in the characteristics of semester (flexible vs. non-flexible work arrangement training vs. non training = 0.722). There are no significant difference in the characteristics of semester (flexible vs. non-flexible work arrangement training vs. non training = 0.722). There are no significant difference in the characteristics of semester (flexible vs. non-flexible work arrangement = 0.696; stress management training vs. non training group = 0.148). The result

of difference of GPA between subject show that there are no difference between flexible work arrangement vs. non flexible work arrangement (0.554) and between stress management training vs. non training (0.361)

	Characteristic	Flexible and Non Flexible Work Arrangement Groups			Stress Management Training and Non Training Groups		
		Quadratic Mean	F	Sig.	Quadratic Mean	F	Sig.
Gender	Inter Group	0.021	0.093	0.762	0.188	0.852	0.361
	Intra Group	0.224			0.220		
Age	Inter Group	0.083	0.128	0.722	0.083	0.128	0.722
•	Intra Group	0.650			0.650		
Semester	Inter Group	0.188	0.155	0.696	2.521	2.169	0.148
	Intra Group	1.213			1.162		
GPA	Inter Group	0.750	0.356	0.554	2.083	1.003	0.361
	Intra Group	2.107			2.078		

|--|

Source: Processed Primary Data (2011)

The data quality test result covers reliability and validity tests are provided in Table 5. A construct is reliable if it gives a cronbach alpha value of >0.60 and valid when it has a significant correlation coefficient between questions and total score. Table 5 shows that all variables are reliable and valid with cronbach alpha of 0.956 for job satisfaction and 0.932 for turnover intention. The correlation ranges from 0.419**- 0.906**, for job satisfaction and 0.776* - 0.957** for turnover intention.

Table 5: Reliability and Validity Tests

No	Variable	Reliability Test		Validity Test		
		Cronbach Alpha	Explanation	Correlation Range	Sign	Explanation
		Value				
1.	Job Satisfaction	0.956	Reliable	0.419**- 0.906**	0.01**	Valid
2.	Turnover Intention	0.932	Reliable	0.776**- 0.957**	0.001***	Valid

** significance at 5%, *** significant at 1%, source: Output SPSS, 2011

Hypotheses Testing

The effectiveness test of burnout mitigating strategies on job outcomes (job satisfaction, turnover intention, and performance) is detected by comparing the response between flexible work arrangement and non-flexible work arrangement groups. If these mitigating strategies are effective, job satisfaction and job outcomes' levels in flexible work arrangement group will be higher than those in non-flexible work arrangements. Meanwhile, turnover intention level in a flexible work arrangement group will be lower than in a non-flexible work arrangement. Table 6 shows the results of hypotheses test indicating significant support the first, second, and third hypotheses.

The average values of job satisfaction and job outcomes in flexible work arrangement group (41.33 and 8.08) is higher than the average values of job satisfaction and job outcomes in non flexible work arrangement group (30.96 and 7.00) each with significance levels of 1% (p-value: 0.005) and 5% (pvalue: 0.042), respectively. The response average value of turnover intention in flexible work arrangement (11.17) is significantly lower than the average value of turnover intention in non-flexible work arrangement (13.79) at a significance level of 5% (p-value: 0.04)
Ну	pothesis	Mean	Std Dev	Levine's Test for Equality Variance F(sign)	t-test (Sign)
1	Job satisfaction of flexible work arrangement group	41.33	10.78	2.831	2.932
1	Job satisfaction of non flexible work arrangement group	30.96	13.58	(0.099)	(0.005)***
2	Turnover intention of flexible work arrangement group	11.17	4.02	0.359	-2.109
	Turnover intention of non flexible work arrangement group	13.79	4.59	(0.552)	(0.040)**
3	Job performance of flexible work arrangement group	8.08	1.42	1.886	2.093
	Job performance of non flexible work arrangement group	7.00	2.16	(0.176)	(0.042)**

Table 6: The Hypotheses Testing Result of Flexible Work Arrangement Strategy (H_{1,2,3})

***: significance at 1%, **: significance at 5%, Source: Output SPSS, 2011

Similar to the first three hypotheses, Table 7 shows results that significantly supports the fourth, fifth, and sixth hypotheses. The average values of job satisfaction and job outcomes in stress management training group (40.75 and 8.08) are higher than the average values of job satisfaction and job outcomes in non-stress management training group (31.54 and 7.00), each with a significance level of 5% (p-value: 0,014 dan 0,042) respectively. Besides, the average response value of turnover intention in stress management training group (10.17) is significantly lower than the average response value of turnover intention in non-stress management training group (14.79) at a significance level of 1% (p-value: 0.00).

Table 7: The Hypotheses Testing of Stress Management Training (H_{4,5,6})

Нур	othesis	Mean	Std dev	Levine's Test for Equality Variance F(sign)	t-test (Sign)
4	Job satisfaction of stress management training group	40.75	13.18	0.027	2.552
4	Job satisfaction of non stress management training group	31.54	11.79	(0.870)	(0.014)**
	Turnover intention of stress management training group	10.17	4.15	0.140	4.1(2
5	Turnover intention of non stress management training group	14.79	3.53	0.148 (0.702)	-4.163 (0.000)***
6	Job performance of stress management training group	8.08	1.44	1.419	2.093
	Job performance of non stress management training group	7.00	2.09	(0.240)	(0.042)**

: significance at 5%, *: significance at 1%, Source: Output SPSS, 2011

To examine the effectiveness of both burnout mitigating strategies–flexible work arrangement and stress management training–on improving auditors' outcomes, the experimental outcomes in Group 1 get the highest job satisfaction and performance, also the lowest auditors' turnover intention compared to other three groups. Tables 8, 9 and10 below provide the result of hypotheses testing in comparing outcomes among group 1 and other three groups. Table 8 shows that burnout can be mitigated effectively by employing two burnout mitigating strategies with the highest job satisfaction (mean = 44.25; F = 6.23; and p-value = 0.001).

Table 8: The Hypotheses Testing of Two Combined Strategies for Job Satisfaction

Job Satisfaction	Mean	Std dev	F(Sign)
Group 1: Flexible Work Arrangement and Stress Management Training	44.25	10.48	
Group 2: Non Flexible Work Arrangement and Stress Management Training	37.25	15.05	())
Group 3: Flexible Work Arrangement and Non Stress Management Training	38.41	10.71	$(0.001)^{***}$
Group 4: Non Flexible Work Arrangement and Non Stress Management Training	24.67	8.52	

***: significance at 1%

I. Utami & Suprayadi | AT + Vol. 5 + No. 1 + 2013

Table 9 shows the mean of turnover intention in Group 1 (8.83), Group 2 (11.5), Group 3 (13.5) and Group 4 (16.08). Burnout can be mitigated effectively by employing two burnout mitigating strategies (Group 1: flexible work arrangement and stress management training) with the lowest turnover intention (mean = 8.83; F = 8.32; and p-value = 0.00) that were compared with three other groups.

Table 9: The Hypotheses Testing of Two Combined Strategies for Turnover Intention

Turnover Intention (H8)	Mean	Std. Dev.	F(Sign)
Group 1: Flexible Work Arrangement and Stress Management Training	8.83	2.79	
Group 2: Non Flexible Work Arrangement and Stress Management Training	11.5	4.92	8.316
Group 3: Flexible Work Arrangement and Non Stress Management Training	13.5	3.75	(0.000)***
Group 4: Non Flexible Work Arrangement and Non Stress Management Training	16.08	2.87	

***: significance at 1%

Table 10 shows the mean of job performance in Group 1(8.33), Group 2 (7.33), Group 3 (7.33) and Group 4 (6.67). Burnout can be mitigated effectively by employing two burnout mitigating strategies and the highest performance (mean = 8.83; F = 3.37; and p-value = 0.027) to Group 1 which has a flexible work arrangement and stress management training treatments.

Table 10: The Hypotheses Testing of Two Combined Strategies for Job Performance

Job Performance (H9)	Mean	Std. Dev.	F(Sign)
Group 1: Flexible Work Arrangement and Stress Management Training	8.33	0.71	
Group 2: Non Flexible Work Arrangement and Stress Management Training	7.33	1.61	3.370
Group 3: Flexible Work Arrangement and Non Stress Management Training	7.33	1.56	(0.027)**
Group 4: Non Flexible Work Arrangement and Non Stress Management Training	6.67	2.53	

**: significance at 5%

The result of this study generally supports the argument that work arrangement and stress management training can be used to mitigate burnout, thus, improving auditors' job satisfaction and performance as well as reducing auditors' turnover intention. In this study, burnout that takes form of emotional exhaustion occurs when novice auditors experience assignments which require precision and obedience to procedures done in a certain period of time. The first assignment is used as a base for the next one, so that the mistakes in the first phase will result in a failure of an assignment.

The responsibility for finishing the job according to procedures in a form of working sheet completion and intolerance of mistakes places novice auditors in an uncomfortable situation. Then, a burnout condition taking form of emotional exhaustion is able to be created. In a burnout condition, novice auditors having stress management training feel motivated to be able to finish the next assignments although they feel burnout and failed in the first task. This condition fits Goolsby's model (1989), stating that stress management training can mitigate burnout in professional employees. Another burnout mitigating strategy used in this research is flexible work arrangement. The result is consistent with several previous studies [Almer and Kaplan (2002), Mattis (1990), Scandura and Lankau (1997), Hooks et al. (1997)] which also argue that flexible work arrangement can improve job satisfaction and job performance as well as reducing auditors' turnover intention. A novice auditors' performance raises when burnout is mitigated by flexible work arrangements. Therefore, in order to improve auditors' outcomes, an accounting firm must pay attention to the mechanism of professional auditors' management through regular management training and using of flexible work arrangement.

CONCLUDING COMMENTS

This study develops Almer's and Kaplan's research (2002) by adding a stress management training variable as a burnout mitigating variable. The objective of this research is to experimentally examine the effectiveness of two burnout mitigating strategies, consisting of flexible work arrangement and stress management training on improving novice auditors' performance. In addition, this study is carried out to fill in the gap from previous studies' results (Fogarty et al., 2000; Murtiasri and Ghozali, 2006; and Jones et al., 2010) which succeed in proving that burnout has impacts on job outcomes. The impacts are lower job satisfaction, higher turnover intention, and diminished performance. However these studies did not considered the factors that are able to mitigate burnout and are based on surveys with low response levels.

The research employs an experimental method, as suggested by Courdes' and Dougherty's (1993), in order to give an insight into causes, consequences, and ways of mitigating burnout to increase research validity. Auditors' outcomes are represented by three variables: job satisfaction, turnover intention, and auditors' substantive test performance. This study supports the expectation that flexible working environment and stress management training, separately, may mitigate the negative burnout impacts on auditors' outcomes and altogether may result in the best auditors' outcomes.

Two limitations exist in the study. First, not all of the experimental case materials cover audit working sheets. Further research is expected to improve the experiment materials by giving assignments that are more consistent with the practice, including presentation of audit evidence samples, use of audit procedures, as well as making more real-world adjusting entries in audit assignments. Finally, participants in the experiment work individually since so that it ignores the audit assignments which usually done as a team. Further research may develop burnout mitigation by giving audit assignments to a team, but the measurement of burnout response may be done individually. This will be interesting to examine because it is more consistent with general audit practice.

REFERENCES

Andre, Bussing, Thomas Bissel, Vera Fuchs, and Kalus M. Ferrar (1999) "A Dynamic Model of Work Satisfaction: Qualitative Research," *Human Relations*, Vo. 52 No.8, 999-1028

Almer, E. D., and S. E. Kaplan (2002) "The Effects of Flexible Work Arrangements on Stressors, Burnout, and Behavioral Job Outcomes in Public Accounting," *Behavioral Research in Accounting* 14:1-34

Brief, A.P., and Weiss, H. M (2002) "Organizational Behavior: Affect in the Workplace," *Annual Review of Psychology*, 53:279-307

Bamber, M., and V. Iyer (2002) "Big 5 Auditors' Professional and Organizational Identification: Consistency or Conflict?" *Auditing: A Journal of Practice & Theory*, 21 (2):23-38

Campion, A. M (1991) "Meaning and Measurement of Turnover: Comparison of Alternative Measures and Recommendations for Research," *Journal of Applied Psychology*. Vol. 76 (2):199-212

Carpenter, C., and C. Hock (2008) "The 150-hour requirement's effect on the CPA exam," *The CPA Journal* 78 (6):62-64

I. Utami & Suprayadi | AT + Vol. 5 + No. 1 + 2013

Cattani, G., & J.M. Pennings (2002) "Organizational Turnover and The Evolution of Localized Populations," *Administrative Science Quarterly*. Vol. 36 (3):459-484

Chung, Chaterine E.E (2012). "Job Stress, Mentoring, Psychological Empowerment and Job Satisfaction among Nursing Faculty," *Dissertation*. Nevada University.

Cohen, J.R., and L.E. Single (2001) "An examination of the Perceived Impact of Flexible Work Arrangements on Professional Opportunities in Public Accounting," *Journal of Business Ethics* 32 (4):317-318

Cordes, Cynthia L and Dougherty, Thomas (1993) "A Review and an Integration of Research on Job Burnout," *The Academy of Management Review*, 18:621-656

Eaton, S.C (2003) "If You can Use Them: Flexible Policies, Organizational Commitment, and Perceived Performance." *Industrial Relations, 42* (2):145-166

Folkman, S., & Lazarus, R.S (1980). "An Analysis of Coping in Middle-Aged Community Sample." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 21: 219-239

Folkman.S.,(1982) "An Approach to the Measurement of Coping," *Journal of Occupational Behavior*. Vol.3: 95-107

Figler, H.R. (1980). "Managing Stress" Managing Accounting (August):22-28

Firth, H, and Britton, P (1989) "Burnout, Absence and Turnover amongst British Nursing staff," *Journal of Occupational Psychology*, 62:55-59

Fogarty, T. J., J. Singh, G. K. Rhoads, and R.K. Moore (2000) "Antecedents and Consequences of Burnout." *Behavioral Research in Accounting*, Vol. 12:31-68

Goolsby, J.R. (1992). "A Theory of Role Stress in Boundary Spanning Positions of Marketing Organizations," *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science* 20 (2):155-164

Gaudreau, P., and Bouldin, J. (2004) "Differential Association of Dispositional Optimism and Pesimism with Coping, Goal Attaintment, and Emotional Adjustment during Sport Competition," *International Journal of Stress Management* 11: 245-269

Hooks, K.L., P. Thomas and W. Stout (1997) "Retention of Women Public Accounting: Directions for Future Research," *Advances in Accounting*, 17-18

Hooks & J.L. Higgs (2000) "Changing Environment and Productivity Relationships in Professional Services Firms," *Working Paper*, Florida Atlantic University

Jackson, S., and R. Schuler (1985) "A Meta-Analysis and Conceptual Critique of Research on Role Ambiguity and Role Conflict in Work Settings," *Organizational Behavior and Human Performance* 36 (1): 16-78

Jackson, S.E. and Maslach, C (1982). "Alter-Effects of Job-Related Stress: Families as Victims." *Journal of Occupational Behaviour*, Vol 3: 63-77

Jones, Ambrose III., C. S. Norman, B. Wier (2010). "Healthy Lifestyle as a Coping Mechanism for Role Stress in Public Accounting," *Behavioral Research in Accounting*, Vol. 22: 21-41

Judge, T.A and Locke, E (1993) "Effect of Dysfunctional Thought Process on Subjective Well-Being and Job Satisfaction," *Journal of Applied Psychology*. Vol. 78. No.3: 475-490

Kalbers, L and T. Fogarty (1996) "Internal Auditor Professionalism: An Empirical Analysis of Its Nature and Its Consequences," *Auditing: A Journal of Practice & Theory 14 (1): 64-86*

Kusel, J., and N. Deyoub (1983) "Internal Auditor Burnout," Internal Auditor 40 (5): 22-25

Kram, K.E. (1983). "Phases of The Mentor Relationship," Academy of Management Journal, 26 (4), 608-625

Kram, K.E., & Hall, D.T. (1989) "Mentoring as an Antidote to Stress During Corporate Trauma," *Human Resource Management.* 28 (4): 493-510.

Lambert, A. D., Marler, J. H., & Gueutal, H. G (2008),"Individual Differences: Factors Affecting Employee Utilization of Flexible Work Arrangement," *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 73: 107-117

Lazarus, R.S., and S. Folkman (1984),"*Stress, Appraisal and Coping,*" New York, NY: Springer Publications

Lee, T. W. and T. R. Mitchell (1994), "An Alternative Approach: the Unfolding Model of Voluntary Employee Turnover," *Academy of Management Review*, Vol 19 (1): 51-89

Lee, T. W and R.T. Mowday (1987), "Voluntary Leaving an Organization: An Empirical Investigation of Steers and Mowday's Model of Turnover," *Academy of Management Journal*. Vol. 30 (4): 721-743

Leiter, M and Maslach (1988), "The Impact of Family Resources, Control and Coping, and Skill Utilization on the Development of Burnout: A longitudinal Study," *Human Relations 43:* 1067-1083

Leiter, M.P and Maslach, C. (1988), "The Impact of Interpersonal Environment on *Burnout* and Organizational Commitment," *Journal of Occupational Behaviour*, 9: 297-308

Maslach. And Jackson, S.E (1981), "The Measurement of Experienced Burnout," *Journal of Occupational Behavior*.2: 99-113

Mattis, M.C (1990), "New Forms of Flexible Work Arrangement for Management and Professionals: Myths and Realities," *Human Resources Planning* 13: 133-146

Mobley, W. H., R. W. Griffeth, H. H, Hand and B. M. Meglino (1979), "Review and Conceptual Analysis of the Employee Turnover Process," *Psychological Bulletin (May): 493-522*

McNall, L. A., A. D, Masuda & J.M. Nicklin (2010), "Flexible Work Arrangements, Job Satisfaction and Turnover Intentions: The Mediating Role of Work-to-Family Enrichment," *The Journal of Psychology*, 144 (1): 61-81

Murphy, Lawrence R (1987) "A Review of Organizational Stress Management Research: Methodological Considerations. In *Job Stress: From Theory to Suggestion*," Eds. John M. Ivanevich and Daniel C. Ganster. New York: Hawthorne Press, 215-227

Murtiasri, Eka and Ghozali Imam (2006) "Simposium Nasional Akuntansi IX," Padang, 23-26 Agustus 2006

Pasewark, W. R., and Strawser, J.R (1996), "The Determinants and Outcomes Associated With Job Insecurity in a Professional Accounting Environment." *Behavioral Research in Accounting*, 8: 91-113

Rebele, J.E., and R.E. Michaels (1990), "Independent Auditors' Role Stress: Antecedent, Outcome and Moderating Variables." Behavioral Research in Accounting 2: 124-153

Ray, E and Miller, K (1994), "Social Support, Home/Work Stress, and Burnout: Who can Help?" *Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*, 30: 357-373

Rose, R (1983) "Burnout," Journal of Accountancy 156 (4): 22-25

Robbins, Stephan (2001) "Organizational Behavior," Prentice Hall

Saari, Lise M., Judge, T (2004) "Employee Attitudes and Job Satisfaction," *Human Resource Management*, Winter 2004, Vol 43, No.4: 395-407

Sanders, J.C., D.L. Fulks, and J.K. Knoblett (1995) "Stress and Stress Management in Public Accounting," *The CPA Journal 65*, Vol 8: 46-49

Sanders, S. (1998), "How to Keep Burnout from Becoming One More Side Effect of Busy Season," *Accounting Office Management and Administration Report 98* (1): 2-3

Scandura, T.A and M. J. Lankau (1997), "Relationship of Gender, Family Responsibility and Flexible Work Hours to Organizational Commitment and Job Satisfaction," *Journal of Organizational Behavior* 18. 377-391.

Schaufeli, W.B; Leiter, M.P and Maslach, C (2008), "Burnout: 35 Years of Research and Practice," *Career Development International*. Vol.14. No.3: 204-220.

Schiltz, P.J., and K. D. Syverud (1999) "On being a Happy, Healthy, and Ethical Member of an Unhappy, Unhealthy, and Unethical Profession," *Vanderbilt Law Review* 52 (4): 869-951

Shirom, A. (1989),"Burnout in Work Organizations," In C. L. Cooper & I. Robertson (Eds.), *International Review of Industrial and Organizational Psychology*: 25-48. New York: Wiley

Sladek, C (1995), "A Guide to Offering Work/Life Benefits," *Compensation and Benefits Review 27(1):* 41-46

Sullivan, S., and R. Lussier (1995), "Flexible Work Arrangements as a Management Tool: Part I," Supervision 56 (8): 14-17

Vandenberg, R. J., and Lance, C.E. (1992) "Examining the Causal Order of Job Satisfaction and Organizational Commitment," *Journal of Management*, 18. 153-167

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

We appreciate feedback provided by David Hay at Accounting and Finance Association of Australia and New Zealand (AFAANZ) Annual Conference at Crown Limited, Melbourne, Australia, 2 July 2012. We also gratefully acknowledge the feedback from Ertambang Nahartyo, Ph.D and Mahfud Solihin, Ph.D reviewers in Gadjah Mada University. We thank to accounting department that contributed to this study by providing participant and lecture in focus group discussant to testing of the case materials.

BIOGRAPHY

Intiyas Utami received Master of Science on Accounting Departement from Diponegoro University– Indonesia. She is a Senior Lecturer in the Department of Accounting, Satya Wacana Christian University, Indonesia and PhD Student on Accounting Department at Gadjah Mada University, Yogyakarta, Indonesia. Her research interest is in the area of behavioral accounting in the fields of auditing and managerial accounting. She have presented her paper in international conference at Accounting and Finance Association of Australia and New Zealand (2 July 2012) and International of Business and Management in Phuket Thailand (6-7 September 2012).

Dr. Supriyadi is a Senior Lecturer in the Department of Accounting, at the Faculty of Economics and Business, Gadjah Mada University, Yogyakarta, Indonesia. He received his Ph.D in Accounting from the University of Kentucky, U.S.A. His research interest is in the area of behavioral accounting in the fields of managerial accounting, taxation, information system, auditing, and financial accounting. Now, he chairs the Master of Science and Ph.D. Program at the Faculty of Economics and Business, Gadjah Mada University, Yogyakarta, Indonesia.

REVIEWERS

The IBFR would like to thank the following members of the academic community and industry for their much appreciated contribution as reviewers.

Hisham Abdelbaki, University of Mansoura - Egypt Isaac Oluwajoba Abereijo, Obafemi Awolowo University Naser Abughazaleh, Gulf University For Science And Technology Nsiah Acheampong, University of Phoenix Vera Adamchik, University of Houston-Victoria Iyabo Adeoye, National Horticultural Research Instittute, Ibadan, Nigeria. Michael Adusei, Kwame Nkrumah University of Science And Technology Mohd Ajlouni, Yarmouk University Sylvester Akinbuli, University of Lagos Anthony Akinlo, Obafemi Awolowo University Yousuf Al-Busaidi, Sultan Qaboos University Khaled Aljaaidi, Universiti Utara Malaysia Hussein Al-tamimi, University of Sharjah Paulo Alves, CMVM, ISCAL and Lusofona University Ghazi Al-weshah, Albalqa Applied University Glyn Atwal, Groupe Ecole Supérieure de Commerce de Rennes Samar Bager, Kuwait University College of Business Administration Susan C. Baxter, Bethune-Cookman College Nagib Bayoud, Tripoli University Ahmet Bayraktar, Rutgers University Kyle Brink, Western Michigan University Giovanni Bronzetti, University of Calabria Karel Bruna, University of Economics-Prague Priyashni Chand, University of the South Pacific Wan-Ju Chen, Diwan College of Management Yahn-shir Chen, National Yunlin University of Science and Techology, Taiwan Bea Chiang, The College of New Jersey Te-kuang Chou, Southern Taiwan University Shih Yung Chou, University of the Incarnate Word Caryn Coatney, University of Southern Queensland Iyanna College of Business Administration, Michael Conyette, Okanagan College Huang Department of Accounting, Economics & Finance, Rajni Devi, The University of the South Pacific Leonel Di Camillo, Universidad Austral Steven Dunn, University of Wisconsin Oshkosh Mahmoud Elgamal, College of Business Administration -Kuwait University Ernesto Escobedo, Business Offices of Dr. Escobedo Zaifeng Fan, University of Wisconsin whitewater Perrine Ferauge University of Mons Olga Ferraro, University of Calabria

William Francisco, Austin Peay State University Peter Geczy, AIST Lucia Gibilaro, University of Bergamo Hongtao Guo, Salem State University Danyelle Guyatt, University of Bath Zulkifli Hasan, Islamic University College of Malaysia Shahriar Hasan, Thompson Rivers University Peng He, Investment Technology Group Niall Hegarty, St. Johns University Paulin Houanye, University of International Business and Education, School of Law Daniel Hsiao, University of Minnesota Duluth Xiaochu Hu, School of Public Policy, George Mason University Jui-ying Hung, Chatoyang University of Technology Fazeena Hussain, University of the South Pacific Shilpa Iyanna, Abu Dhabi University Sakshi Jain, University of Delhi Raja Saquib Yusaf Janjua, CIIT Yu Junye, Louisiana State University Tejendra N. Kalia, Worcester State College Gary Keller, Eastern Oregon University Ann Galligan Kelley, Providence College Ann Kelley, Providence college Ifraz Khan, University of the South Pacific Halil Kiymaz, Rollins College Susan Kowalewski, DYouville College Bamini Kpd Balakrishnan, Universiti Malaysia Sabah Bohumil Král, University of Economics-Prague Jan Kruger, Unisa School for Business Leadership Christopher B. Kummer, Webster University-Vienna Mei-mei Kuo, JinWen University of Science & Technology Mary Layfield Ledbetter, Nova Southeastern University John Ledgerwood, Embry-Riddle Aeronautical University Yen-hsien Lee, Department of Finance, Chung Yuan Christian University Shulin Lin, Hsiuping University of Science and Technology Yingchou Lin, Missouri University of Science and Technology Melissa Lotter, Tshwane University of Technology Xin (Robert) Luo, Virginia State University Andy Lynch, Southern New Hampshire University Abeer Mahrous, Cairo university Gladys Marquez-Navarro, Saint Louis University Cheryl G. Max, IBM Romilda Mazzotta, University of Calabria Mary Beth Mccabe, National University

Avi Messica, Holon Institute of Technology Scott Miller, Pepperdine University Cameron Montgomery, Delta State University Sandip Mukherji, Howard University Tony Mutsue, Iowa Wesleyan College Cheedradevi Narayanasamy, Graduate School of Business, National University of Malaysia Dennis Olson, Thompson Rivers University Godwin Onyeaso, Shorter University Bilge Kagan Ozdemir, Anadolu University Dawn H. Pearcy, Eastern Michigan University Pina Puntillo, University of Calabria (Italy) Rahim Quazi, Prairie View A&M University Anitha Ramachander, New Horizon College of Engineering Charles Rambo, University Of Nairobi, Kenya Prena Rani, University of the South Pacific Kathleen Reddick, College of St. Elizabeth Maurizio Rija, University of Calabria. Matthew T. Royle, Valdosta State University Tatsiana N. Rybak, Belarusian State Economic University Rafiu Oyesola Salawu, Obafemi Awolowo University Paul Allen Salisbury, York College, City University of New York Leire San Jose, University of Basque Country I Putu Sugiartha Sanjaya, Atma Jaya Yogyakarta University, Indonesia Sunando Sengupta, Bowie State University Brian W. Sloboda, University of Phoenix Smita Mayuresh Sovani, Pune University Alexandru Stancu, University of Geneva and IATA (International Air Transport Association) Jiří Strouhal, University of Economics-Prague Vichet Sum, University of Maryland -- Eastern Shore Qian Sun, Kutztown University Diah Suryaningrum, Universitas Pembangunan Nasional Veteran Jatim Andree Swanson, Ashford University James Tanoos, Saint Mary-of-the-Woods College Jeannemarie Thorpe, Southern NH University Ramona Toma, Lucian Blaga University of Sibiu-Romania Jorge Torres-Zorrilla, Pontificia Universidad Católica del Perú William Trainor, East Tennessee State University Md Hamid Uddin. University Of Shariah

Ozge Uygur, Rowan University K.W. VanVuren, The University of Tennessee - Martin Vijay Vishwakarma, St. Francis Xavier University Ya-fang Wang, Providence University Richard Zhe Wang, Eastern Illinois University Jon Webber, University of Phoenix Jason West, Griffith University Wannapa Wichitchanya, Burapha University Veronda Willis, The University of Texas at San Antonio Bingqing Yin, University of Kansas Fabiola Baltar, Universidad Nacional de Mar del Plata Myrna Berrios, Modern Hairstyling Institute Monica Clavel San Emeterio, University of La Rioja Esther Enriquez, Instituto Tecnologico de Ciudad Juarez Carmen Galve-górriz, Universidad de Zaragoza Blanca Rosa Garcia Rivera, Universidad Autónoma De Baja California Carlos Alberto González Camargo, Universidad Jorge Tadeo Lozano Hector Alfonso Gonzalez Guerra, Universidad Autonoma De Coahuila Claudia Soledad Herrera Oliva, Universidad Autónoma De Baja California Eduardo Macias-Negrete, Instituto Tecnologico De Ciudad Juarez Jesús Apolinar Martínez Puebla, Universidad Autónoma De Tamaulipas Francisco Jose May Hernandez, Universidad Del Caribe Aurora Irma Maynez Guaderrama, Universidad Autonoma De Ciudad Juarez Linda Margarita Medina Herrera, Tecnológico De Monterrey. Campus Ciudad De México Erwin Eduardo Navarrete Andrade, Universidad Central De Chile Gloria Alicia Nieves Bernal, Universidad Autónoma Del Estado De Baja California Julian Pando, University Of The Basque Country Eloisa Perez, Macewan University Iñaki Periáñez, Universidad Del Pais Vasco (Spain) Alma Ruth Rebolledo Mendoza, Universidad De Colima Carmen Rios. Universidad del Este Celsa G. Sánchez, CETYS Universidad Adriana Patricia Soto Aguilar, Benemerita Universidad Autonoma De Puebla

REVIEWERS

The IBFR would like to thank the following members of the academic community and industry for their much appreciated contribution as reviewers.

Haydeé Aguilar, Universidad Autónoma de Aguascalientes

María Antonieta Andrade Vallejo, Instituto Politécnico Nacional

Olga Lucía Anzola Morales, Universidad Externado de Colombia

Hector Luis Avila Baray, Instituto Tecnologico De Cd. Cuauhtemoc

Graciela Ayala Jiménez, Universidad Autónoma de Querétaro

Ana Cecilia Bustamante Valenzuela, Universidad Autonoma De Baja California

Carlos Alberto Cano Plata, Universidad De Bogotá Jorge Tadeo Lozano

Alberto Cardenas, Instituto Tecnologico De Cd. Juarez

Edyamira Cardozo, Universidad Nacional Experimental De Guayana

Sheila Nora Katia Carrillo Incháustegui, Universidad Peruana Cayetano Heredia

emma casas medina, Centro de Estudios Superiores del Estado de Sonora

Benjamín Castillo Osorio, Universidad Cooperativa De Colombia y Universidad De Córdoba

Benjamin Castillo Osorio, Universidad del Sinú-Sede Monteria

María Antonia Cervilla de Olivieri, Universidad Simón Bolívar

Cipriano Domigo Coronado García, Universidad Autónoma de Baja California

Semei Leopoldo Coronado Ramírez, Universidad de Guadalajara

Esther Eduviges Corral Quintero, Universidad Autónoma de Baja California

Dorie Cruz Ramirez, Universidad Autonoma Del Estado De Hidalgo /Esc. Superior De Cd. Sahagún

Edna Isabel De La Garza Martinez, Universidad Autónoma De Coahuila

Javier de León Ledesma, Universidad de Las Palmas de Gran Canaria - Campus Universitario de Tafira

Hilario Díaz Guzmán, Universidad Popular Autónoma del Estado de Puebla

Cesar Amador Díaz Pelayo, Universidad de Guadalajara, Centro Universitario Costa Sur

Avilés Elizabeth, CICESE

Avilés Elizabeth, CICESE

Ernesto Geovani Figueroa González, Universidad Juárez del Estado de Durango

Ana Karen Fraire, Universidad De Gualdalajara

Carmen Galve-Górriz, Universidad de Zaragoza

Teresa García López, Universidad Veracruzana

Helbert Eli Gazca Santos, Instituto Tecnológico De Mérida

Denisse Gómez Bañuelos, CESUES

Ana Ma. Guillén Jiménez, Universidad Autónoma de Baja California

Ana Ma. Guillén Jiménez, Universidad Autónoma de Baja California

Araceli Gutierrez, Universidad Autonoma De Aguascalientes

Andreina Hernandez, Universidad Central de Venezuela

Arturo Hernández, Universidad Tecnológica Centroamericana

Alejandro Hernández Trasobares, Universidad de Zaragoza

Alma Delia Inda, Universidad Autonoma Del Estado De Baja California

Terrance Jalbert, The IBFR

Gaspar Alonso Jiménez Rentería, Instituto Tecnológico de Chihuahua

Lourdes Jordán Sales, Universidad de Las Palmas de Gran Canaria

Santiago León Ch., Universidad Marítima del Caribe

Graciela López Méndez, Universidad de Guadalajara-Jalisco

Virginia Guadalupe López Torres, Universidad Autónoma de Baja California

Angel Machorro Rodríguez, Instituto Tecnológico de Orizaba

Cruz Elda Macias Teran, Universidad Autonoma de Baja California

Aracely Madrid, ITESM, Campus Chihuahua

Deneb Magaña Medina, Universidad Juárez Autónoma de Tabasco

Carlos Manosalvas, Universidad Estatal Amazónica

Gladys Yaneth Mariño Becerra, Universidad Pedagogica y Tecnológica de Colombia

Omaira Cecilia Martínez Moreno, Universidad Autónoma de Baja California-México

Jesus Carlos Martinez Ruiz, Universidad Autonoma De Chihuahua

Alaitz Mendizabal, Universidad Del País Vasco

Alaitz Mendizabal Zubeldia, Universidad del País Vasco/ Euskal Herriko Unibertsitatea Fidel Antonio Mendoza Shaw, Universidad Estatal De Sonora

Juan Nicolás Montoya Monsalve, Universidad Nacional de Colombia-Manizales

Jennifer Mul Encalada, Universidad Autónoma De Yucatán

Alberto Elías Muñoz Santiago, Fundación Universidad del Norte

Bertha Guadalupe Ojeda García, Universidad Estatal de Sonora

Erika Olivas, Universidad Estatal de Sonora

Erick Orozco, Universidad Simon Bolivar

José Manuel Osorio Atondo, Centro de Estudios Superiores del Estado de Sonora

Luz Stella Pemberthy Gallo, Universidad del Cauca

Andres Pereyra Chan, Instituto Tecnologico De Merida

Iñaki Periáñez, Universidad del Pais Vasco (spain)

Adolfo León Plazas Tenorio, Universidad del Cauca

Hector Priego Huertas, Universidad De Colima

Juan Carlos Robledo Fernández, Universidad EAFIT-Medellin/Universidad Tecnologica de Bolivar-Cartagena

Humberto Rosso, Universidad Mayor de San Andres

José Gabriel Ruiz Andrade, Universidad Autónoma de Baja California-México

Antonio Salas, Universidad Autonoma De Chihuahua

Claudia Nora Salcido, Facultad de Economía Contaduría y Administración Universidad Juarez del Estado de Durango

Juan Manuel San Martín Reyna, Universidad Autónoma de Tamaulipas-México

Francisco Sanches Tomé, Instituto Politécnico da Guarda

Edelmira Sánchez, Universidad Autónoma de Ciudad Juárez

Deycy Janeth Sánchez Preciado, Universidad del Cauca

María Cristina Sánchez Romero, Instituto Tecnológico de Orizaba

María Dolores Sánchez-Fernández, Universidade da Coruña

Luis Eduardo Sandoval Garrido, Universidad Militar de Nueva Granada

Pol Santandreu i Gràcia, Universitat de Barcelona, Santandreu Consultors

Victor Gustavo Sarasqueta, Universidad Argentina de la Empresa UADE

Jaime Andrés Sarmiento Espinel, Universidad Militar de Nueva Granada

Jesus Otoniel Sosa Rodriguez, Universidad De Colima

Edith Georgina Surdez Pérez, Universidad Juárez Autónoma de Tabasco

Jesús María Martín Terán Gastélum, Centro de Estudios Superiores del Estado de Sonora

Jesús María Martín Terán Gastélum, Centro de Estudios Superiores del Estado de Sonora

Jesus María Martín Terán Terán Gastélum, Centro de Estudios Superiores del Estado de Sonora

Maria De La Paz Toldos Romero, Tecnologico De Monterrey, Campus Guadalajara

Abraham Vásquez Cruz, Universidad Veracruzana

Angel Wilhelm Vazquez, Universidad Autonoma Del Estado De Morelos

Lorena Vélez García, Universidad Autónoma de Baja California

Alejandro Villafañez Zamudio, Instituto Tecnologico de Matamoros

Hector Rosendo Villanueva Zamora, Universidad Mesoamericana

Oskar Villarreal Larrinaga, Universidad del País Vasco/Euskal Herriko Universitatea

Delimiro Alberto Visbal Cadavid, Universidad del Magdalena

HOW TO PUBLISH

Submission Instructions

The Journal welcomes submissions for publication consideration. Complete directions for manuscript submission are available at the Journal website www.theIBFR.com/journal.htm. Papers may be submitted for initial review in any format. However, authors should take special care to address spelling and grammar issues prior to submission. Authors of accepted papers are required to precisely format their document according to the journal guidelines.

There is no charge for standard paper reviews. The normal review time for submissions is 90-120 days. However, authors desiring a quicker review may elect to pay an expedited review fee, which guarantees an inditial review within two weeks. Authors of accepted papers are required to pay a publication fee based on the manuscript length and number of authors. Please see our website for current publication and expedited review rates.

Authors submitting a manuscript for publication consideration must guarantee that the document contains the original work of the authors, has not been published elsewhere, and is not under publication consideration elsewhere. In addition, submission of a manuscript implies that the author is prepared to pay the publication fee should the manuscript be accepted.

Subscriptions

Individual and library subscriptions to the Journal are available. Please contact us by mail or by email to: admin@theibfr.com for updated information.

Contact Information

Mercedes Jalbert, Executive Editor The IBFR P.O. Box 4908 Hilo, HI 96720 editor@theIBFR.com

Website

www.theIBFR.org or www.theIBFR.com

PUBLICATION OPPORTUNITIES



Review of Business & Finance Studies

Review of Business & Finance Studies (ISSN: 2150-3338 print and 2156-8081 online) publishes high-quality studies in all areas of business, finance and related fields. Empirical, and theoretical papers as well as case studies are welcome. Cases can be based on real-world or hypothetical situations.

All papers submitted to the Journal are double-blind reviewed. The Journal is listed in Cabell's, Ulrich's Periodicals Directory The Journal is distributed in print, through EBSCO*Host*, ProQuest ABI/Inform and SSRN.

The journal accept rate is between 15 and 25 percent



Business Education and Acreditation (BEA)

Business Education & Accreditation publishes high-quality articles in all areas of business education, curriculum, educational methods, educational administration, advances in educational technology and accreditation. Theoretical, empirical and applied manuscripts are welcome for publication consideration.

All papers submitted to the Journal are double-blind reviewed. BEA is is listed in Cabell's and Ulrich's Periodicals Directory. The Journal is distributed in print, through EBSCO*Host*, ProQuest ABI/Inform and SSRN.

The journal acceptance rate is between 15 and 25 percent.

Accounting & Taxation

Accounting and Taxation (AT)

Accounting and Taxation (AT) publishes high-quality articles in all areas of accounting, auditing, taxation and related areas. Theoretical, empirical and applied manuscripts are welcome for publication consideration.

All papers submitted to the Journal are double-blind reviewed. AT is listed in Cabell's and Ulrich's Periodicals Directory. The Journal is distributed in print, through EBSCO*Host*, ProQuest ABI/Inform and SSRN.

The journal acceptance rate is between 5 and 15 percent.